HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
BOARD MEETING
AGENDA
Hamilton High School Library
Wednesday, May 22, 2019

5:30 p.m. Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only.
5:30 p.m. Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below.
6:15 p.m. Reconvene to open session no earlier than 6:15 p.m.

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

OPENING BUSINESS:
Call to order and roll call

Gabriel Leal, President Hubert “Wendall” Lower, Clerk Rod Boone
Genaro Reyes Ray Odom

IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS:

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board may
limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item.

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters.

1. Education Code Section 48918 (c) (1) Confidential Student Matter, Student #200122

2. Government Code Section 54957 (b), Personnel Issue. To consider the employment, evaluation, reassignment,
resignation, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and certificated employees. Conference with Legal Counsel Matt Juhl
Darlington.

3. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, Superintendent
Charles Tracy regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations.

4. Government Code Section 54956.9, Subdivision (a), Existing litigation. Name of case: Crews v. Hamilton Unified School
District, Glenn County Superior Court, Case No. 15CV01394.

5. Conference with Real Property Negotiators. Property: Westermann property north of Hamilton High School,
approximately located at 500 Sixth Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 {APN: 032-230-015-000). Agency Negotiator:
Charles Tracy, Superintendent; Matt Juhl-Darlington, Attorney for District. Negotiating Parties: Westermann Family and
Hamilton Unified School District. Under negotiation: Price and terms of payment.

Report out action taken in closed session.
PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:
ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M)

COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS:
1. Board Member Comments/Reports.
2. ASB President and Student Council President Reports.
a. Hamilton High School, Ofelia Flores
b. Hamilton Elementary School, Ximena Hernandez
3. District Reports (written)
a. Food Service Report by LeAnn Radtke (written)
b. Operations Report by Marc Eddy (written)
¢. Technology Report by Derek Hawley {written)
4. Principal and Dean of Student Reports
a. Kathy Thomas, Hamilton Elementary School Principal
b. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students
c. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal
Chief Business Official Report by Diane Holliman
6. Superintendent Report by Charles Tracy
a. Upcoming School Board Meetings:
i. Wednesday, June 12, 2019 (LCAP/Budget Public Hearing)

b



ii. Wednesday, June 26, 2019 (LCAP/Budget Approval)

a. Holidays:
a. Monday, May 27, 2019 — Memorial Day

8.0 PRESENTATIONS:
1. Art Club- Memory Project and Art
2. Japan Travel Group Presentation
3. Adrian Boone-Community Library Project

9.0 CORRESPONDENCE:
1. Youth Tobacco Grant funded LE Positions (Lt. Brandy McDonald) P-1
2. Golden State Merrit P-2

10.0 INFORMATIONAL ITEMS:
1.

11.0 DISCUSSION ITEMS:
1. Information on Board Briefing on Status of High School Expansion Studies (Mike Cannon) (P-3)
2. Property DTSC (NV5), California Enviormental Quality Act, Title 5 Report, Educational Specifications (Mike Cannon)
3. Resolution #18-19-111, Resolution of the Board of Trustees of Hamilton Unified School District, Authorizing the
Issuance and Sale of its General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series “A” in an Aggregate Principal Amount not
to Exceed Two Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars. (Matt Juhl-Darlington) (P-5-142)

12.0 PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be heard
{agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15
minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon.

13.0 ACTION ITEMS:

1. Approval of Employment contract for District Superintedent 2019-2022 (P-1143-148)

2. Contract Educational Specification for High School (P-149-161)

3. Request from Confidential Classified for summer/non student attendance times for work schedule change.
(Recommend approval to change at the discretion of the Superitendent based on district needs) (P-162)

4. MOU Glenn County Office of Education and Hamilton Unified School District regarding ASES Supplemental Program
(Annual MOU) (P-163)

5. Annual Contract for School Services of California (P-164-167)

6. Rescind bid approval for Hometown Sports and Music approved on April 17, 2019, revised bid attached.
(Recommendation not to accept bid) (P-168)

7. Proposal for musical instruments from Taylor Music as recommended by Mrs. Knutson HUSD Music Teacher.
(Recommend acceptance not to exceed grant limit of $31,000) (P-169-170)

8. Resolution #18-19-111, Resolution of the Board of Trustees of Hamilton Unified School District, Authorizing the

Issuance and Sale of its General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series “A” in an Aggregate Principal Amount not
to Exceed Two Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars. (See PP-5-142)

14.0 CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one
motion. There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or public
request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent agenda approved
by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended.
Warrants and Expenditures. (P-171-196)
Williams Quarterly April 2019. (P-197)
Hamilton High School Site Council SPSA (P-198-220)
Minutes for the Regular Board Meeting on April 17, 2019. (P-221-225)
Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually).

a. Out

e wn e

i. Hamilton Elementary School
1.

ii. Hamilton High School
1. 9" Grader 2019-20



15.0

2. 10" Grader 2019-20

i. Hamilton Elementary School
1.
ii. Hamilton High School
1.
6. Personnel Actions as Presented:
a. New hires:
i. Shelia Skemp Long Term Substitute Preschool Teacher
ii. Marcelina Rivera Child Nutrition Lead
iii. Michelle Ropczycki  Classified Substitute
iv. Javier Hernandez Classified Substitute
b. Resignations/Retirement:
i. Rod Boone JV Boys Basketball Coach
ADJOURNMENT:

Presch
HES/HHS
District
District

HHS



GLENN COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE

Sheriff, Coroner, Civil Process, Office of Emergency Services, Animal Control
“Commitment to Service, Dedication to Community”

RICHARD L. WARREN, JR. JASON A. DAHL
Sheriff/Coroner Undersheriff
Director O.E.S. Deputy Director O.E.S.

04/09/2019

Superintendent Tracy,

On behalf of the Glenn County Sheriff’s Office | am happy to inform you that we have received a
Youth Tobacco Education and Enforcement Grant. The grant is effective now through June 30, 2021 and
covers all of the school districts within Glenn County.

Through this grant we have received funding for two full time School Resource Deputies (SRD’S). The
primary responsibility of the SRD’S will be tobacco education for Jr. and Sr. High School students and staff
county wide, tobacco enforcement in schools within Glenn County and participation in maximum
enforcement operations to curb retail sales of tobacco to minors. The SRD’s will also have other duties as
assigned pertaining to school related matters. We are currently in the process of determining those duties as
they will service all of the school districts within the county.

The grant also includes purchase and installation costs for Vape Detectors to be installed in
bathrooms at the following schools:

Capay School District: Capay Elementary School;

Lake School District: Lake Elementary School;

Plaza Elementary School District: Plaza Elementary;

Hamilton Unified School District. HC Elementary, HC High School, Ella Barkley;

Orland Unified School District: Orland High, CK Price, North Valley Continuation;

Willows Unified School District: Willows High, Willows Intermediate, Willows Community;
Stony Creek Joint Unified School District: Elk Creek Jr. and Sr. High;

Glenn County Office of Education: William Finch, Walden Academy, Success One

| will be scheduling meetings with all of the School Principals to discuss purchase and cost for
installation of Vape Detectors. | will also be speaking with them regarding the services our SRD’s will provide,
as well as any requests for services and or the independent needs of each school.

We look forward to working with the schools in your school district. If you have any questions you
can reach me via phone or email; (530) 934-6441 or bmcdonald@countyofglenn.net

Sincerely,

mmy McDonald

543 W. Oak Street « Willows, CA 95988
Administration (530) 934-6441 . Fax (530) 934-6473
24 Hour (530) 934-6431 . (530) 865-1122 . Fax (530) 934-6429
Jail (530) 934-6428 . Fax (530) 934-6427



Hamilton High School
Class of 2019
California Golden State Seal Merit Diploma Recipients

Hamilton Unified School District is pleased to announce the graduating recipients of the Golden State Seal Merit Diploma. The

Golden State Seal Merit Diploma (GSSMD) insignia is awarded jointly by the State Board of Education and the State Superintendent
of Public Instruction to recognize students who have demonstrated mastery of the high school curriculum in at least six subject

dareas.

Each local educational agency that confers high school diplomas is required, by state law, to identify students who qualify and to
affix the GSSMD insignia to the diploma and transcript of each qualifying graduate.

Approximately 60,000 graduates receive a GSSMD insignia affixed to their high school diploma each year.

Students must meet the eligibility requirements in the following subjects:
e English-language Arts

e Mathematics
e Science
e U.S. History

Two other subject matter areas

Hamilton High School and HUSD are proud to recognize the following Hamilton High School students (33 total) who have earned the
honor of a Golden State Seal on their diploma and transcript:

Student Name
Sofia Alvarado-Ocampo
Adrienne Boone
Valeria Campos Badilla
Andrea Delatorre-Velasquez
Ofelia Flores-Rodriguez
Aylin Gallegos-Sanchez
Alejandra Garcia Castellanos
Ashley George
Hannah Gonzalez
Analicia Hernandez
Leslie Hernandez-Camarena
Michael Knecht
Priscilla Marichalar-Frias
Daniela Martinez-Hernandez
Wendy Martinez Ortiz
Alicia Murillo
Yessenia Ordaz-Hurtado
Evelin Palacios Figueroa
Dylan Passanisi
Yaquelin Perez Olvera
Jared Poldervaart
Christian Polino
Vivianne Ramirez-Mota
Rosalinda Ramos-Hernandez
Natalie Rivera
Ana Robles
Veronica Lucy Ruiz
Alejandro Santos-Alanis
Jacob Strong
Maricruz Trenado-Frias
Christian Valdez
lohnny Vogt
Hayley Wiedeman

2




HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
HAMILTON HIGH SCHOOL SITE EXPANSION-PERMITTING STATUS
BOARD DISCUSSION ITEM

MAY 22, 2019

CURRENT SITE PURCHASE STATUS & TIMELINE-(Defer to Supt. & Legal Counsel)
CDE SITE PERMITTING REQUIREMENTS
DEPARTMENT OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL (NV5)

¢ Preliminary Environmental Assessment; Proposed sampling protocol now under DTSC review
e NV5 is currently completing records documentation on prior site agricultural uses

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (PLACEWORKS)

o Development of Project Description (At District for review)
e Construction Data Requests (With EFPM)
e Noise Data Requests (Pending)

TITLE 5 REPORTS (PLACEWORKS)

e Pipeline Safety Study: Info from PG&E reveal no gas or high-pressure red flags; however we
are waiting on water pipeline requests from CalWater. Available water maps show no high-
pressure water lines on or adjacent to the site.

¢ Railway Safety Study: Research complete. Report needs to be put together. No red flags.

e Dam Inundation Study: GIS mapping shows no overlap with inundation zones.

EDUCATIONAL SPECIFICATIONS (iep2-on current Agenda; to begin 7/1/2019)



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
BOARD MEETING
AGENDA
Hamilton High School Library
Wednesday, May 22, 2019

5:30 p.m. Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only.
5:30 p.m. Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below.
6:15 p.m. Reconvene to open session no earlier than 6:15 p.m.

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

OPENING BUSINESS:
Call to order and roll call

Gabriel Leal, President Hubert “Wendall” Lower, Clerk Rod Boone
Genaro Reyes Ray Odom

IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS:

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board may
limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item.

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters.

1. Education Code Section 48918 (c) (1) Confidential Student Matter, Student #200122

2. Government Code Section 54957 (b), Personnel Issue. To consider the employment, evaluation, reassignment,
resignation, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and certificated employees. Conference with Legal Counsel Matt Juhl
Darlington.

3. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, Superintendent
Charles Tracy regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations.

4. Government Code Section 54956.9, Subdivision {a), Existing litigation. Name of case: Crews v. Hamilton Unified School
District, Glenn County Superior Court, Case No. 15CvV01394.

5. Conference with Real Property Negotiators. Property: Westermann property north of Hamilton High School,
approximately located at 500 Sixth Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 (APN: 032-230-015-000). Agency Negotiator:
Charles Tracy, Superintendent; Matt Juhl-Darlington, Attorney for District. Negotiating Parties: Westermann Family and
Hamilton Unified School District. Under negotiation: Price and terms of payment.

Report out action taken in closed session.
PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:
ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M)

COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS:
1. Board Member Comments/Reports.
2. ASB President and Student Council President Reports.
a. Hamilton High School, Ofelia Flores
b. Hamilton Elementary School, Ximena Hernandez
3. District Reports {written)
a. Food Service Report by LeAnn Radtke {written)
b. Operations Report by Marc Eddy (written)
c. Technology Report by Derek Hawley (written)
4. Principal and Dean of Student Reports
a. Kathy Thomas, Hamilton Elementary School Principal
b. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students
c. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal
Chief Business Official Report by Diane Holliman
6. Superintendent Report by Charles Tracy
a. Upcoming School Board Meetings:
i Wednesday, June 12, 2019 (LCAP/Budget Public Hearing)

bl



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT,
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF ITS
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A
IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED
TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS

DWK DMS 3383631v3 L )



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF ITS GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS,
2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO
EXCEED TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS. ..iciiitiiiiiiniiniinrsasisansatrsssnsarsnsresnsessssaserassesssnsssssssanssnss 1
SECTION 2. RULES OF CONSTRUCTION. ...iiiiiiiniiiiiriiiniiiasisiasarsisssssnssrarsasaassssnsass 5
SECTION 3. AUTHORITY FOR THIS RESOLUTION.....civiiiiiiiniicniiiiniciisaiiinsinnnan 5
SECTION 4. RESOLUTION TO CONSTITUTE CONTRACT. ..iiieiinieineiaree e 5
SECTION 5. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SALE. c.ccviieeiiiiii i nnissnnana 5
SECTION 6. DESIGNATION OF FINANCE TEAM. ..ccciiiiiriiiirisiiis i s e s s e, 6
SECTION 7. TERMS OF BONDS . susssssussssssvsussasessosrnsssssssnsannsassnsnnsnnonsnsananssnsnssnssnsaross 6
SECTION 8. APPROVAL OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT.......cccovivieiiiicivniicciiinian, 6
SECTION 9. OFFICIAL STATEMENT ..ot st s s s s s ns e e 7
SECTION 10. AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICERS. .....iciiiiiiiiiiiri st iisiisssesinssassninnas 7
SECTION 11. USE OF BOND PROCEEDS .....iiiiiiiiiiiniiaiisnrisaseniersssssssarsatanssnssssnearens 7
SECTION 12. DESIGNATION AND FORM; PAYMENT. .iiciiieiiiiiiii i s, 7
SECTION 13. DESCRIPTION OF BONDS. ...iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiisisianseiaiasseassansnasnns 8
SECTION 14. BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. .iiiiiuiiiiiiiiiniiiiinienissiiniessiisisimsisissssssssssssnssinsnss 8
SECTION 15. EXECUTION OF THE BONDS. .....iiiiiiiniiiiiini e s inssinsaeas 10
SECTION 16. TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE. .....c.c.cciiiiiiiiiiiisiisiisins s s s s e 10
SECTION 17. BONDS MUTILATED, DESTROYED, STOLEN OR LOST....evieirienniinininnans 11
SECTION 18. BOND REGISTER. tuuiiuiisiiriieiiimiiensrarnminaressissnesssiniaressnssnsrsersessassssssines 11
SECTION 19. UNCLAIMED MONEY. .oiuiiiiiiiiiiiiriiii s issssassasessisassassassssnsanssssnsssss 11
SECTION 20. APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS. ....cccciiiiniiieniiientintiiinisinsiasoaiiaiiissssnannnas 12
SECTION 21. PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR THE BONDS. ....coveiiiimiiiirieecin i 12
SECTION 22. DEBT SERVICE FUND. .iuiiuiieiiiiiiriiiriiniiisn i snasisatssasrssrassasssssnsasanenss 12
SECTION 23. ESTABLISHMENT AND APPLICATION OF EXCESS EARNINGS FUND.......... 13
SECTION 24. PAYMENT OF COSTS OF ISSUANCE. .\ tivieuiiiriainiieieiiinsiininiivisssiananes 13
SECTION 25. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADDITIONAL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ....ccccivviunannnns 13
SECTION 26. REDEMPTION. ..ottt st i iees e aeiae s sneiassaa s s sasaassassans 13
SECTION 27. SELECTION OF BONDS FOR REDEMPTION......cvivuiriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniinan 13
SECTION 28. NOTICE OF REDEMPTION. i.vviuiuiirnrsnirarasiatiosiineniensrmsisssesssniieriseninnsin 13
SECTION 29. PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF BONDS.....ccicviiiiiiiieiiiiieiiarieinsnsnnnsareanaasaans 15
SECTION 30. EFFECT OF NOTICE OF REDEMPTION...iciiiiiiiiniiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniisnisiian 15
SECTION 31. PAYING AGENT, APPOINTMENT AND ACCEPTANCE OF DUTIES. .............. 15
SECTION 32. LIABILITY OF PAYING AGENT. ..o nsassansana 15
SECTION 33. EVIDENCE ON WHICH PAYING AGENT MAY ACT.......ciieniiienaniiiinenniinin. 15
SECTION 34. COMPENSATION. tiuiiuiiiiiiinnainiiiiisiasinransssassassnssarnranssssssanserssessssssnrass 16
SECTION 35. OWNERSHIP OF BONDS PERMITTED. ..iciviiiiiviiiioiiiariiniieiccisassinaa, 16
SECTION 36. RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF PAYING AGENT AND APPOINTMENT
OF SUCCESSOR. ....cciiiiiiii i e s i e s et a s wini s o ki sk s aa s on i 16
SECTION 37. INVESTMENT OF CERTAIN FUNDS. . .ciiiiiiiiiaiiiianiiiessnnsrasnscanassansiaas 16
SECTION 38. VALUATION AND SALE OF INVESTMENTS. ....citeriiiirnieireniniiiniciisiiananns 17
SECTION 39. SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS WITH CONSENT OF OWNERS ................. 17
SECTION 40. SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS EFFECTIVE WITHOUT CONSENT OF
OWNERS. . vaiisithomsn nsetsi m o s iuts s aios aie/s wa s s i s s o s s¥imesin s puo s s asains 17
SECTION 41. EFFECT OF SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTION. .. .ciiiiiiiiiniininnininnnsiinneensainians 18
SECTION 42. DEFEASANCE. .iuiiaiciunciviiniesasnsanenassissosissionssossnarasssssvassonsaeransasasisinnias 18
SECTION 43. BOND INSURANCE. .....ovutiereairatimariaineriatnsimeseisisisiammsniissiasmssiaiin 19
SECTION 44. CONTINUING DISCLOSURE. c.iviitiuiiainmiitinsiieiiesiinssisiirasaasassnsassisaaiins 19
it

DWK DMS 3383631v3



SECTION 45.

EXHIBIT A
EXHIBIT B
EXHIBIT C

DWK DMS 3383631v3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
EFFECTIVE DATE ...ccrasresssasnssunesnnssnsidtasssssesssotisstaresssssssssanivionssss v 19
FORM OF BOND ..uuieiiiitiiiiiiainennetnsessssnnstsiriessnnnsessrtsrmsnsssassonsrsssasnerse A-1
DISCLOSURE OF SPECIFIED INFORMATION ...vvvveiererinnssenesasnnssssssrssnanns B-1
FORM OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT ...covvviirrrnnnnsnnsrarrnsmssnnsssrersnnss C-1

iii



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF ITS
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A
IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED
TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
RESOLUTION # 18-19-111

WHEREAS, the issuance of not to exceed $7,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
general obligation bonds (the “Authorization”) of Hamilton Unified School District (the
“District”), County of Glenn (the “County”), State of California was authorized at an election
(the “Election”) held in said District on November 6, 2018, the proceeds of which are to be
used for the financing of the acquisition, construction, equipping, furnishing and
improvement of certain capital facilities of the District (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, the Glenn County Registrar of Voters has certified to the effect that the
official canvass of returns for the Election reflected that 55% or more of the votes cast on
the District’s bond measure submitted to the voters at the Election (the “Measure”) were
cast in favor of the Measure, and such result has been entered in the minutes of the Board
of Trustees of the District (the "Board”); and

WHEREAS, no general obligation bonds have heretofore been issued under the
Authorization such that $7,000,000 principal amount of general obligation bonds remain for
issuance under the Authorization; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined the need for issuance of one or more series of
its general obligation bonds under the Authorization in an aggregate principal amount not to
exceed Two Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,200,000) in order to finance certain
costs of the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Board has elected to proceed under Section 53506 et seq. of the
Government Code of the State of California; and

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED by the Board of Trustees of Hamilton Unified
School District as follows: :

SECTION 1. Definitions. The following terms shall for all purposes of this
Resolution have the following meanings:

“Authorized Investments” shall mean legal investments authorized by Section 53601
of the Government Code of the State of California, but only to the extent that the same are
acquired at Fair Market Value.

“Authorizing Law” shall mean, collectively, (i) Section 53506 et seq. of the
Government Code of the State of California, as amended and (ii) Article XIIIA of the
California Constitution.

“Beneficial Owner” means any person who has the power, directly or indirectly, to
vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds, including persons




holding Bonds through nominees or depositories including, but not limited to, through the
Nominee. '

“Bond Counsel” and “Disclosure Counsel” means the law firm of Dannis Woliver
Kelley, as Bond Counsel to the District and a firm of nationally recognized standing with
respect to the issuance of municipal obligations.

“Bond Insurer” shall mean any financial guaranty and/or municipal bond insurance
company that guarantees the scheduled payments of Principal and interest on the Bonds
when due.

“Bond Insurance Policy” shall mean a policy of municipal bond insurance which
guarantees the scheduled payments of Principal and interest on the Bonds when due.

"Bond Obligation” shall mean from time to time as of the date of calculation the
Principal Amount thereof.

“Bond Purchase Agreement” shall mean the Bond Purchase Agreement, by and
between the District and the Underwriter, relating to the Bonds.

“"Bond Register” shall mean the records of the Paying Agent held on behalf of the
District listing the names and addresses of the Owners of the Bonds.

“Bonds” shall mean the Hamilton Unified School District General Obligation Bonds
(County of Glenn) 2018 Election, 2019 Series A, as further designated as one or more series
of Bonds, issued and delivered pursuant to this Resolution.

“Bond Year” shall mean the twelve-month period commencing August 1 in any year
and ending on the last day of July in the next succeeding year, both dates inclusive, or as
otherwise set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement; provided, however, that the first Bond
Year shall commence on the day the Bonds are issued and shall end on July 31, 2019, both
dates inclusive, or as otherwise set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

“Building Fund” shall mean the Building Fund established pursuant to Section 20 of
this Resolution.

“Business Day” shall mean a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which
banking institutions in the State or the State of New York and the New York Stock Exchange

are authorized or required to be closed.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as in effect on the date of
issuance of the Bonds or (except as otherwise referenced herein) as it may be amended to
apply to obligations issued on the date of issuance of the Bonds.

“Continuing Disclosure Agreement” shall mean the Continuing Disclosure Agreement
of the District for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds.

“Costs of Issuance” shall mean all of the costs of issuing the Bonds, including but not
limited to, all printing and document preparation expenses in connection with this
Resolution, the Bonds and the Official Statement pertaining to the Bonds and any and all
other agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents prepared in connection
therewith; financial advisor fees; rating agency fees and related travel expenses; auditor’s
fees; CUSIP service bureau charges; legal fees and expenses of counsel with respect to the

DWK DMS 3383631v3



financing; the initial fees and expenses of the Paying Agent; fees for credit enhancement
relating to the Bonds, if any; and other fees and expenses incurred in connection with the
issuance of the Bonds, to the extent such fees and expenses are approved by the District
but excluding Underwriter’s discount.

“County” shall mean the County of Glenn, California.

“County Office of Education” shail mean the Office of Education of the County and
such other persons as may be designated by the County Office of Education to perform the
operational and disbursement functions hereunder.

“Debt Service” shall have the meaning given to that term in Section 22(c) of this
Resolution.

“"Debt Service Fund” shall mean the Debt Service Fund established pursuant to
Section 22(a) of this Resolution.

“Depository” shall mean DTC and its successors and assigns or if (a) the then
Depository resigns from its functions as securities depository of the Bonds, or (b) the
District discontinues use of the Depository pursuant to this Resolution, any other securities
depository that agrees to follow procedures required to be followed by a securities
depository in connection with the Bonds and that is selected by the District.

“"DTC” shall mean The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and its
successors and assigns.

“Excess Earnings Fund” shall mean the Excess Earnings Fund established pursuant to
Section 23 of this Resolution.

“Fair Market Value" means the price at which a willing buyer would purchase the
investment from a willing seller in a bona fide, arm's length transaction (determined as of
the date the contract to purchase or sell the investment becomes binding) if the investment
is traded on an established securities market (within the meaning of section 1273 of the
Code) and, otherwise, the term "Fair Market Value" means the acquisition price in a bona
fide arm's length transaction (as referenced above) if (i) the investment is a certificate of
deposit that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations under the Code, (ii) the
investment is an agreement with specifically negotiated withdrawal or reinvestment
provisions and a specifically negotiated interest rate (for example, a guaranteed investment
contract, a forward supply contract or other investment agreement) that is acquired in
accordance with applicable regulations under the Code, (iii) the investment is a United
States Treasury Security--State and Local Government Series that is acquired in accordance
with applicable regulations of the United States Bureau of Public Debt, or (iv) any
commingled investment fund in which the District and related parties do not own more than
a ten percent (10%) beneficial interest therein if the return paid by the fund is without
regard to the source of the investment. To the extent required by the Regulations, the term
“investment” will include a hedge.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the twelve-month period commencing on July 1 of each year
and ending on the following June 30 or any other fiscal year in effect for the District.

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean February 1 and August 1, commencing
February 1, 2020, in each year, or as otherwise specified in the Bond Purchase Agreement,
commencing on the date specified in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

DWK DMS 3383631v3



“"Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, its successors and assigns, except
that if such corporation shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency
for any reason, the term “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally
recognized securities rating agency selected by the District.

“"Nominee” shall mean the nominee of the Depository which may be the Depository,
as determined from time to time by the Depository.

“Qutstanding” when used with reference to the Bonds, shall mean, as of any date,
Bonds theretofore issued or thereupon being issued under this Resolution except:

@) Bonds canceled at or prior to such date;

(i1) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have
been delivered pursuant to Section 16 hereof;

(iii) Bonds for the payment or redemption of which funds or eligible
securities in the necessary amount shall have been set aside (whether on or prior to
the maturity or redemption date of such Bonds), in accordance with Section 42 of

this Resolution.

“Owner” shall mean the registered owner, as indicated in the registration books kept
by the Paying Agent pursuant to this Resolution, of any Bond.

“Participant” shall mean a member of or participant in the Depository.

“Paying Agent” shall mean The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., its
successors or assigns, acting in the capacity of paying agent, registrar, authenticating agent
and transfer agent.

“Pledged Moneys” shall have the meaning given to that term in Section 21 of this
Resolution.

“Principal” or “Principal Amount” shall mean, as of any date of calculation, the
principal amount thereof.

“Principal Payment Date” shall mean August 1 in each year, or as otherwise specified
in the Bond Purchase Agreement, commencing on the date specified in the Bond Purchase
Agreement.

“Rating Agency” shall mean either Moody’s or S&P.

“Record Date” shall mean the close of business on the fifteenth calendar day of the
month next preceding an Interest Payment Date.

“Regulations” shall mean applicable temporary and final regulations promulgated,
and applicable official public guidance published, under the Code.

“Resolution” shall mean this Resolution of the Board providing for the issuance and
sale of the Bonds.

“"S&P” shall mean S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial
Services LLC business, its successors and assigns, except that if such corporation shali no

4

1O

DWK DMS 3383631v3



longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency for any reason, the term “S&pP”
shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency selected
by the District.

“Securities Depositories” shall mean The Depository Trust Company, New York, New
York; and, in accordance with then-current guidelines of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, such other addresses and/or such other securities depositories as the District
may designate in a certificate of the District delivered to the Paying Agent.

“State” shall mean the State of California.

“"Superintendent” shall mean the Superintendent of the District.

“Superintendent of Schools” shall mean the Superintendent of Schools of the County.

“Supplemental Resolution” shall mean any resolution supplemental to, or
amendatory of, this Resolution, adopted by the Board in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Tax_Certificate” shall mean a certificate as to arbitrage of the District delivered in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

“Transfer Amount” shall mean the aggregate Principal Amount thereof.

“Treasurer” shall mean the Treasurer-Tax Collector of the County of Glenn or any
authorized deputy thereof.

“Underwriter” shall mean Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated.

SECTION 2. Rules of Construction. Words of the masculine gender shall be
deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders, and
vice versa. Except where the context otherwise requires, words importing the singular shall
include the plural and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms,
associations and corporations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons.

SECTION 3. Authority for this Resolution. This Resolution is adopted
pursuant to the provisions of the Authorizing Law.

SECTION 4. Resolution to Constitute Contract. In consideration of the
purchase and acceptance of any and all of the Bonds authorized to be issued hereunder by
those who shall own the same from time to time, this Resolution shall be deemed to be and
shall constitute a contract between the District and the Owners from time to time of the
Bonds; and the pledge made in this Resolution shall be for the equal benefit, protection and
security of the Owners of any and all of the Bonds, all of which, regardless of the time or
times of their issuance or maturity, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or
distinction of any of the Bonds over any other thereof.

SECTION 5. Terms and Conditions of Sale. The Board hereby approves of
the sale of the Bonds on a negotiated basis to the Underwriter. The District has determined
that conditions in the municipal marketplace are sufficiently complex that the increased
flexibility the Underwriter can provide in structuring and planning the sale of the Bonds
dictates sale on a negotiated basis. The Bonds shall be sold at a negotiated sale upon the
direction of the Superintendent or the Chief Business Official of the District, or any designee
thereof (each, an “Authorized Officer”). The costs of sale of the Bonds, consisting of Costs

DWK DMS 3383631v3

I\



of Issuance, not including any fees for credit enhancement or Underwriter’s discount, are
estimated at $145,000. The Bonds shall be sold pursuant to the terms and conditions set
forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, as described below.

Good faith estimates of (a) the true interest cost of the Bonds; (b) the sum of all
fees and charges paid to third parties, including any such fees and charges which the
Underwriter agrees to pay pursuant to the Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Finance
Charge”); (c) the amount of proceeds to be received by the District (less the Finance
Charge and any reserves and capitalized interest, if any); and (d) the total debt service
payments on the Bonds through the final maturity of the Bonds are set forth on Exhibit B
attached hereto and incorporated herein.

SECTION 6. Designation of Finance Team. The Board hereby confirms the
designation of Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, as underwriter, Isom Advisors, a
Division of Urban Futures Incorporated, as Financial Advisor and the law firm of Dannis
Woliver Kelley as Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel to the District in connection with the
authorization and issuance of the Bonds. An Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to
execute a legal services agreement with members of the finance team.

SECTION 7. Terms of Bonds. The Bonds shall be dated their date of
delivery (or such other date as may be designated in the Bond Purchase Agreement). The
Bonds shall bear interest at rates not to exceed the maximum rate permitted by law,
payable on the dates as may be set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, and payable
upon maturity or earlier redemption, shall mature on August 1 of each of the years as set
forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, or such other maturity date as may be set forth in
the Bond Purchase Agreement, through a date no later than 40 years after the date of
issuance of the Bonds; provided, however, that the Bonds shall mature on a date later than
30 years from the date of issuance of the Bonds only if an Authorized Officer finds that the
useful life of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Bonds equals or exceeds the
maturity date of the Bonds or otherwise upon such other terms and conditions as shall be
established for the Bonds by the Bond Purchase Agreement. The Bond Purchase Agreement
shall provide for optional, mandatory sinking fund and other types and terms of redemption
for the Bonds as shall prove most advantageous in marketing said Bonds for the District.

SECTION 8. Approval of Bond Purchase Agreement. An Authorized Officer,
in consultation with Bond Counsel and such other officers of the District as shall be
authorized by the Board, are hereby authorized and directed to issue and deliver the Bonds
and to establish the final Principal Amount thereof, provided, however, that such combined
Principal Amount (in one or more series) as of the date of delivery shall not exceed the
maximum aggregate Principal Amount of $2,200,000. The form of the Bond Purchase
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit C is hereby approved. The Authorized Officer, or
any authorized deputy, and such other officers of the District as may be authorized by the
Board are, and each of them acting alone is, authorized and directed to execute and deliver
the Bond Purchase Agreement for and in the name and on behalf of the District, with such
additions, changes or corrections therein as the officer executing the same on behalf of the
District may approve, in his/her discretion, as being in the best interests of the District,
such approval to be conclusively evidenced by such officer's execution thereof, and any
other documents required to be executed thereunder, and to deliver the same to the
Underwriter. The Authorized Officer, or any authorized deputy, and such other officers of
the District as may be authorized by the Board are, and each of them acting alone hereby
is, authorized and directed to negotiate with the Underwriter the interest rates on the Bonds
and the purchase price of the Bonds to be paid by the Underwriter, which purchase price
shall reflect an Underwriter’'s discount of not to exceed two percent (2.0%) (not including

DWK DMS 3383631v3

|\ Z



original issue discount or any Costs of Issuance to be paid by the Underwriter) of the
Principal Amount thereof. Final terms of the Bonds shall be as set forth in the Bond

Purchase Agreement.

SECTION 9. Official Statement. The Board hereby approves the form of
Preliminary Official Statement relating to the Bonds, on file with the Clerk of the Board and
to be used and distributed, together with an Official Statement in connection with the sale
of the Bonds, in each case with such changes as are approved by the Authorized Officer. An
Authorized Officer and such other officers of the District as may be authorized by the Board
are, and each of them acting alone hereby is, authorized and directed to deliver, or cause to
be delivered, to the Underwriter copies of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official
Statement with such changes therein as such officer shall approve, in his or her discretion,
as being in the best interests of the District. Upon approval of such changes by such officer,
the Preliminary Official Statement shall be “deemed final” as of its date except for the
omission of certain information as provided in and pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”) and an Authorized Officer is
authorized to execute a certificate to that effect. Any Authorized Officer is hereby
authorized and directed to execute such Official Statement with such changes therein,
deletions therefrom and modifications thereto as such Authorized Officer may approve, such
approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery thereof. The
Underwriter is hereby authorized to distribute copies of the Preliminary Official Statement to
persons who may be interested in the purchase of the Bonds, and such Underwriter is
hereby directed to deliver copies of the final Official Statement to the purchasers of the
Bonds.

SECTION 10. Authorization of Officers. The officers of the District and their
authorized representatives are, and each of them acting alone is, hereby authorized to
execute any and all documents and do and perform any and all acts and things, from time
to time, consistent with this Resolution and necessary or appropriate to carry the same into
effect and to carry out its purpose.

SECTION 11. Use of Bond Proceeds. Bonds of the District shall be issued in
the name of the District in an aggregate initial Principal Amount not to exceed $2,200,000,
and proceeds of the Bonds shall be applied to finance or refinance the construction,
acquisition, furnishing and equipping of District property and facilities, as authorized at the
Election by the Measure, which shall be incorporated herein by this reference as though fully
set forth in this Resolution.

SECTION 12. Designation and Form; Payment.

(a) An issue of Bonds of one or more series entitled to the benefit, protection and
security of this Resolution is hereby authorized in an aggregate initial Principal Amount not
to exceed $2,200,000. Such Bonds shall be general obligations of the District, payable as to
Principal, premium, if any, and interest from ad valorem taxes to be levied upon all of the
taxable property in the District without limitation as to rate or amount (except certain
personal property which is taxable at limited rates). The Bonds shall be designated
“Hamilton Unified School District General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series A”
with such additional series designations as may be necessary or advisable in order to
market the Bonds, as set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement. The Bonds shall be
subject to redemption as further set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, pursuant to this
Resolution.

DWK DMS 3383631v3

13



(b) The form of the Bonds shall be substantially in conformity with the standard
form of registered school district bonds, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A
and incorporated herein by this reference.

(c) Principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to any Bond are payable
in lawful money of the United States of America. Principal and premium, if any, is payable
upon surrender thereof at maturity or eariier redemption at the office designated by the

Paying Agent.
SECTION 13. Description of Bonds.

(@) The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form, without coupons, in
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds shall be dated and
shall mature on the dates, in the years and in the Principal Amounts, and interest shall be
computed at the rates, set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

(b) Interest on each Bond shall accrue from its dated date as set forth in the
Bond Purchase Agreement. Interest on Bonds shall be computed using a year of 360 days
comprised of twelve 30-day months and shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date to
the Owner thereof as of the close of business on the Record Date. Interest with respect to
each Bond will be payable from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of
registration thereof, unless (i) it is registered after the close of business on any Record Date
and before the close of business on the immediately following Interest Payment Date, in
which event interest with respect thereto shall be payable from such following Interest
Payment Date; or (ii) it is registered prior to the close of business on the first Record Date,
in which event interest shall be payable from its dated date; provided, however, that if at
the time of registration of any Bond interest with respect thereto is in default, interest with
respect thereto shall be payable from the Interest Payment Date to which interest has
previously been paid or made available for payment. Payments of interest on the Bonds will
be made on each Interest Payment Date by check or draft of the Paying Agent sent by first-
class mail, postage prepaid, to the Owner thereof on the Record Date, or by wire transfer to
any Owner of $1,000,000 or more of such Bonds, to the account specified by such Owner in
a written request delivered to the Paying Agent on or prior to the Record Date for such
Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that payments of defaulted interest shall be
payable to the person in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on a
special record date fixed therefor by the Paying Agent which shall not be more than 15 days
and not less than ten days prior to the date of the proposed payment of defaulted interest.

SECTION 14. Book-Entry System.

(a) The Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully
registered Bond (which may be typewritten) for each of the maturities of the Bonds within
each series. Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond certificate shall be
registered in the Bond Register in the name of the Nominee as nominee of the Depository.
Except as provided in subsection (c¢) hereof, all of the Outstanding Bonds shall be registered
in the Bond Register in the name of the Nominee and the Bonds may be transferred, in
whole but not in part, only to the Depository, to a successor Depository or to another
nominee of the Depository or of a successor Depository. Each Bond certificate shall bear a
legend substantially to the following effect: "UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY (AS DEFINED IN THE RESOLUTION)
TO THE BOND REGISTRAR FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT,
AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER
NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY (AND

8

1<

DWK DMS 3383631v3



ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY
AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR
OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL
INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST
HEREIN.”

With respect to Bonds registered in the Bond Register in the name of the Nominee,
the District shall have no responsibility or obligation to any Participant or to any person on
behalf of which such a Participant holds a beneficial interest in the Bonds. Without limiting
the immediately preceding sentence, the District shall have no responsibility or obligation
with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of the Depository, the Nominee or any
Participant with respect to any beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to
any Participant, Beneficial Owner or any other person, other than the Depository, of any
notice with respect to the Bonds, including any redemption notice, (iii) the selection by the
Depository and the Participants of the beneficial interests in the Bonds to be redeemed in
part, or (iv) the payment to any Participant, Beneficial Owner or any other person, other
than the Depository, of any amount with respect to Principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on, the Bonds. The District may treat and consider the person in whose name each
Bond is registered in the Bond Register as the absolute Owner of such Bond for the purpose
of payment of Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, such Bond, for the purpose of
giving Redemption Notices and other notices with respect to such Bond, and for all other
purposes whatsoever, including, without limitation, registering transfers with respect to the
Bonds.

The Paying Agent shall pay all Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, the
Bonds only to the respective Owners, as shown in the Bond Register, and all such payments
shall be valid hereunder with respect to payment of Principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on, the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than an
Owner, as shown in the Bond Register, shall receive a Bond evidencing the obligation to
make payments of Principal of, premium, if any, and interest, pursuant to this Resolution.
Upon delivery by the Depository to the Paying Agent and the District of written notice to the
effect that the Depository has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of the
Nominee, and subject to the provisions hereof with respect to Record Dates, the word
"Nominee” in this Resolution shall refer to such new nominee of the Depository.

(b) If at any time the Depository notifies the District that it is unwilling or unable
to continue as Depository with respect to the Bonds or if at any time the Depository shall no
longer be registered or in good standing under the Securities Exchange Act or other
applicable statute or regulation and a successor Depository is not appointed by the
Superintendent within 90 days after the District receives notice or becomes aware of such
condition, as the case may be, subsection (a) hereof shall no longer be applicable and the
District shall issue new bonds representing the Bonds as provided below. In addition, the
District may determine at any time that the Bonds shall no longer be represented by book-
entry securities and that the provisions of subsection (a) hereof shall no longer apply to the
Bonds. In any such event, the District shall execute and deliver certificates representing
the Bonds as provided below. Certificated securities issued in exchange for book-entry
securities pursuant to this subsection shall be registered in such names and delivered in
such denominations as the Depository shall instruct the District. The District shall then
deliver certificated securities representing the new bonds to the persons in whose names
such Bonds are so registered.

If the District determines to replace the Depository with another qualified securities
depository, the District shall prepare or cause to be prepared. a new fully-registered book-

9

|5

DWK DMS 3383631v3



entry security for each of the maturities of Bonds, registered in the name of such successor
or substitute securities depository or its hominee, or make such other arrangements as are
acceptable to the District and such securities depository and not inconsistent with the terms
of this Resolution.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution to the contrary, so long
as any Bond is registered in the name of the Nominee, all payments with respect to
Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, such Bond and all notices with respect to such
Bond shall be made and given, respectively, as provided in the letter of representation from
the District to the Depository or as otherwise instructed by the Depository.

(d) The initial Depository under this Resolution shall be DTC. The initial Nominee
shall be Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.

SECTION 15. Execution of the Bonds.

(a) The Bonds shall be executed in the name of the District by the manual or
facsimile signature of the President of the Board and the manual or facsimile signature of
the Secretary of the Board or by a deputy of either of such officers. In case any one or
more of the officers who shall have signed any of the Bonds shall cease to be such officer
before the Bonds so signed shall have been issued by the District, such Bonds may,
nevertheless, be issued, as herein provided, as if the persons who sighed such Bonds had
not ceased to hold such offices. Any of the Bonds may be signed by such persons as at the
time of the execution of such Bonds shall be duly authorized to hold or shall hold the proper
offices in the District, although at the date borne by the Bonds such persons may not have
been so authorized or have held such offices.

(b) The Bonds shall bear thereon a certificate of authentication executed
manually by the Paying Agent. Only such Bonds as shall bear thereon such certificate of
authentication duly executed by the Paying Agent shall be entitled to any right or benefit
under this Resolution and no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose until such
certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Paying Agent. Such
certificate of the Paying Agent upon any Bond shall be conclusive evidence that the Bond so
authorized has been duly authenticated and delivered under this Resolution and that the
Owner thereof is entitled to the benefit of this Resolution.

SECTION 16. Transfer and Exchange. The transfer of any Bond may be
registered upon surrender of such Bond to the Paying Agent. Such Bond shall be endorsed
or accompanied by delivery of the written instrument of transfer shown in Exhibit A hereto,
duly executed by the Owner or his duly authorized attorney, and payment of such
reasonable transfer fees as the Paying Agent may establish. Upon such registration of
transfer, a new Bond or Bonds, of like tenor and maturity in the same Transfer Amount and
in authorized denominations, will be executed and delivered to the transferee in exchange
therefor.

The Paying Agent shall deem and treat the person in whose name any Outstanding
Bond shall be registered upon the Bond Register as the absolute Owner of such Bond,
whether the Principal, premium, if any, or interest with respect to such Bond shall be
overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of Principal, premium, if any, and
interest with respect to such Bond and for all other purposes, and any such payments so
made to any such Owner or upon his order shall be valid and effective to satisfy and
discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and the
District or the Paying Agent shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

10

| b

DWK DMS 3383631v3



Bonds may be exchanged at the office of the Paying Agent for Bonds of like tenor,
maturity and Transfer Amount of other authorized denominations. All Bonds surrendered in
any such exchange shall thereupon be cancelled by the Paying Agent. The Paying Agent
may charge the Owner a reasonable sum for each new Bond executed and delivered upon
any exchange (except in the case of the first exchange of any Bond in the form in which it is
originally delivered, for which no charge shall be imposed) and the Paying Agent may
require the payment by the Owner requesting such exchange of any tax or other
governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange.

The Paying Agent shall not be required to register the transfer or exchange of any
Bond (i) during the period beginning at the close of business on any Record Date through
the close of business on the immediately following Interest Payment Date, or (ii) that has
been called or is subject to being called for redemption, during a period beginning at the
opening of business 15 days before any selection of Bonds to be redeemed through the
close of business on the applicable redemption date, except for the unredeemed portion of
any Bond to be redeemed only in part.

SECTION 17. Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Stolen or Lost. In case any Bond
shall become mutilated, the Paying Agent, at the expense of the Owner, shall deliver a new
Bond of like date, interest rate, maturity, Transfer Amount, series and tenor as the Bond so
mutilated in exchange and substitution for such mutilated Bond, upon surrender and
cancellation thereof. All Bonds so surrendered shall be cancelled. If any Bond shall be
destroyed, stolen or lost, evidence of such destruction, theft or loss may be submitted to
the Paying Agent and if such evidence is satisfactory to the Paying Agent that such Bond
has been destroyed, stolen or lost, and upon furnishing the Paying Agent with indemnity
satisfactory to the Paying Agent and complying with such other reasonable regulations as
the Paying Agent may prescribe and paying such expenses as the Paying Agent may incur
the Paying Agent shall, at the expense of the Owner, execute and deliver a new Bond of like
date, interest rate, maturity, Transfer Amount and tenor in lieu of and in substitution for the
Bond so destroyed, stolen or lost. Any new Bonds issued pursuant to this Section in
substitution for Bonds alleged to be destroyed, stolen or lost shall constitute original
additional contractual obligations on the part of the District, whether or not the Bonds so
alleged to be destroyed, stolen or lost are at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be
equally secured by and entitled to equal and proportionate benefits with all other Bonds
issued under this Resolution in any moneys or securities held by the Paying Agent for the
benefit of the Owners of the Bonds.

SECTION 18. Bond Register. The Paying Agent shall keep or cause to be kept
at its office sufficient books for the registration and registration of transfer of the Bonds.
Upon presentation for registration of transfer, the Paying Agent shall, as above provided and
under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe subject to the provisions hereof,
register or register the transfer of the Bonds, or cause the same to be registered or cause
the registration of the same to be transferred, on such books.

SECTION 19. Unclaimed Money. All money which the Paying Agent shall
have received from any source and set aside for the purpose of paying or redeeming any of
the Bonds shall be held in trust for the respective Owners of such Bonds, but any money
which shall be so set aside or deposited by the Paying Agent and which shall remain
unclaimed by the Owners of such Bonds for a period of one year after the date on which any
payment or redemption with respect to such Bonds shall have become due and payable
shall be transferred to the general fund of the District; provided, however, that the Paying
Agent, before making such payment, shall cause notice to be mailed to the Owners of such
Bonds, by first class mail, postage prepaid, after a date in said notice, which date shall not

11

171

DWK DMS 3383631v3



be less than 90 days prior to the date of such payment, to the effect that said money has
not been claimed and that after a date named therein, any unclaimed balance of said money
then remaining will be transferred to the general fund of the District. Thereafter, the
Owners of such Bonds shall look only to the general fund of the District for payment of such
Bonds.

SECTION 20. Application of Proceeds. Upon the sale of the Bonds, the
District intends to deposit or cause to be deposited the net proceeds of the Bonds, up to the
Principal Amount thereof, into the Building Fund (the “Building Fund”) which is hereby
established for the account of the District and shall be administered by the County. Money
in the Building Fund shall be disbursed for the payment of the costs of acquiring and
constructing the Project, including costs of issuance. At such time that no amounts remain
on deposit in Building Fund, the County may close the Building Fund.

SECTION 21. Payment and Security for the Bonds. The Board of Supervisors
of the County shall annually at the time of making the levy of taxes for County purposes,
levy a continuing direct ad valorem tax for each Fiscal Year upon the taxable property in the
District without limitation as to rate or amount (except for certain personal property which
is taxable at limited rates) in an amount at least sufficient, together with moneys on deposit
in the Debt Service Fund and available for such purpose, to pay the Principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on each Bond as each becomes due and payable. The tax levy may
include an allowance for an annual reserve, established for the purpose of avoiding
fluctuating tax levies. The District hereby pledges as security for the Bonds and the interest
thereon and the County shall deposit or cause to be deposited in the District’'s Debt Service
Fund, the proceeds from the levy of the aforementioned tax which the County receives (the
“Pledged Moneys”). The Pledged Moneys shall be used to pay the Principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on the Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable. The
Bonds are the general obligations of the District and do not constitute an obligation of the
County except as provided in this Resolution. No part of any fund or account of the County
is pledged or obligated to the payment of the Bonds or the interest thereon. Other than the
Pledged Moneys, no funds or accounts of the District are pledged to payment of the Bonds.

Additionally, in accordance with Section 15251(b) of the California Education Code
and Section 53515(a) of the California Government Code, the Bonds shall be secured by a
statutory lien on all revenues received pursuant to the levy and collection of the tax for the
Bonds. The lien shall automatically attach without further action or authorization by the
District or the County. The lien shall be valid and binding from the time the Bonds are
executed and delivered. The revenues received pursuant to the levy and collection of the
tax shall be immediately subject to the lien, and the lien shall automatically attach to the
revenues and be effective, binding, and enforceable against the District, its successors,
transferees and creditors, and all others asserting rights therein, irrespective of whether
those parties have notice of the lien and without the need for any physical delivery,
recordation, filing, or further act.

SECTION 22. Debt Service Fund.

(a) The District shall deposit or cause to be deposited any accrued interest and
any original issue premium not applied towards payment of the Costs of Issuance and
received by the District from the sale of the Bonds in the fund established and designated as
the “"Hamilton Unified School District, General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series
A Debt Service Fund” (the “Debt Service Fund”) to be administered by the County and used
only for the payment of the Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

12

|\ &

DWK DMS 3383631v3



(b) All Pledged Moneys shall be deposited upon collection by the County into the
Debt Service Fund and used for the payment of the Principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds.

() The County shall transfer or cause to be transferred from the Debt Service
Fund to the Paying Agent, an amount, in immediately available funds, sufficient to pay all
the Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds (collectively, the “"Debt Service”)
on such Interest Payment Date. Debt Service on the Bonds shall be paid by the Paying
Agent in the manner provided by law for the payment of Debt Service.

(d) The District shall cause moneys to be transferred to the Excess Earnings Fund
to the extent needed to comply with the Tax Certificate. Any amounts on deposit in the
Debt Service Fund when there are no longer any Bonds Outstanding shall be transferred to
the general fund of the District.

SECTION 23. Establishment and Application of Excess Earnings Fund. The
District shall establish a special fund designated “Hamilton Unified School District General
Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series A, Excess Earnings Fund” (the “Excess
Earnings Fund”) which shall be administered by the County for the account of the District
and which shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds and accounts held
hereunder. The District shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, moneys to the Excess
Earnings Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Certificate. Amounts on deposit
in the Excess Earnings Fund shall only be applied to payments made to the United States or
otherwise transferred to other accounts or funds established hereunder in accordance with
the Tax Certificate.

SECTION 24. Payment of Costs of Issuance. The District may pay, or cause
to be paid, Costs of Issuance using proceeds of the Bonds or, to the extent available,
original issue premium derived from the sale of the Bonds and applied for that purpose as
provided in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

SECTION 25. Establishment of Additional Funds and Accounts. If at any time
it is deemed necessary or desirable by the District, the County Office of Education and the
County may establish additional funds under this Resolution and/or accounts within any of
the funds or accounts established hereunder.

SECTION 26. Redemption. The Bonds shall be subject to redemption as
provided in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

SECTION 27. Selection of Bonds for Redemption. Whenever provision is
made in this Resolution or in the Bond Purchase Agreement for the optional redemption of
the Bonds and less than all Outstanding Bonds are to be redeemed, the Paying Agent, upon
written instruction from the District given at least 45 days prior to the date designated for
such redemption, shall select Bonds for redemption in such order as the District may direct,
or, in the absence of such direction, in inverse order of maturity within a series. Within a
maturity, the Paying Agent shall select Bonds for redemption by lot. Redemption by lot
shall be in such manner as the Paying Agent shall determine; provided, however, that the
portion of any Bond to be redeemed in part shall be in the Principal Amount of $5,000 or
any integral multiple thereof.

SECTION 28. Notice of Redemption. When redemption is authorized or
required pursuant to this Resolution or the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Paying Agent,
upon written instruction from the District given at least 45 days prior to the date designated

DWK DMS 3383631v3

13
1



for such redemption, shall give notice (a “Redemption Notice”) of the redemption of the
Bonds. Such Redemption Notice shall specify: (a) the Bonds or designated portions thereof
(in the case of redemption of the Bonds in part but not in whole) which are to be redeemed,
(b) the date of redemption, (c) the place or places where the redemption will be made,
including the name and address of the Paying Agent, (d) the redemption price, (e) the
CUSIP numbers (if any) assigned to the Bonds to be redeemed, (f) the numbers of the
Bonds to be redeemed in whole or in part and, in the case of any Bond to be redeemed in
part only, the Principal Amount of such Bond to be redeemed, (g) the original issue date,
interest rate and stated maturity date of each Bond to be redeemed in whole or in part and
(h) in the case of a conditional notice, that such notice is conditioned upon certain
circumstances and the manner of rescinding such conditional notice. Such Redemption
Notice shall further state that on the specified date there shall become due and payable
upon each Bond or portion thereof being redeemed the redemption price, together with the
interest accrued to the redemption date, and that from and after such date interest with
respect thereto shall cease to accrue and be payable.

The Paying Agent shall take the following actions with respect to such Redemption
Notice:

(a) At least 20 but not more than 60 days prior to the redemption date, such
Redemption Notice shall be given to the respective Owners of Bonds designated for
redemption by first class mail, postage prepaid, at their addresses appearing on the Bond
Register. Notice of redemption may be given on a conditional basis in contemplation of a
refunding or redemption of the Bonds.

(b) In the event that the Bonds shall no longer be held in book-entry only form,
at least two days before the date of the notice required by clause (a) of this Section, such
Redemption Notice shall be given by (i) first class mail, postage prepaid, (ii) telephonicaily
confirmed facsimile transmission, or (iii) overnight delivery service, to each of the Securities
Depositories.

(c) In the event that the Bonds shall no longer be held in book-entry only form,
at least two days before the date of notice required by clause (a) of this Section, such
Redemption Notice shall be given by (i) first class mail, postage prepaid, or (ii) overnight
delivery service, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

Neither failure to receive any Redemption Notice nor any defect in any such
Redemption Notice so given shall affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the
redemption of the affected Bonds. Each check issued or other transfer of funds made by
the Paying Agent for the purpose of redeeming Bonds shall bear the CUSIP number
identifying, by series and maturity, the Bonds being redeemed with the proceeds of such
check or other transfer.

The District may rescind any optional redemption and notice thereof for any reason
on any date prior to the date fixed for redemption by causing written notice of the rescission
to be given to the owners of the Bonds so called for redemption. Any optional redemption
and notice thereof shall be rescinded if for any reason on the date fixed for redemption
moneys are not available in the Debt Service Fund or otherwise held in trust for such
purpose in an amount sufficient to pay in full on said date the Principal of, interest, and any
premium due on the Bonds called for redemption. Notice of rescission of redemption shall
be given in the same manner in which notice of redemption was originally given. The actual
receipt by the owner of any Bond of notice of such rescission shall not be a condition

14

20

DWK DMS 3383631v3



precedent to rescission, and failure to receive such notice or any defect in such notice shall
not affect the validity of the rescission.

SECTION 29. Partial Redemption of Bonds. Upon the surrender of any Bond
redeemed in part only, the Paying Agent shall execute and deliver to the Owner thereof a
new Bond or Bonds of like tenor and maturity and of authorized denominations equal in
Transfer Amounts to the unredeemed portion of the Bond surrendered. Such partial
redemption shall be valid upon payment of the amount required to be paid to such Owner,
and the District shall be released and discharged thereupon from all liability to the extent of
such payment.

SECTION 30. Effect of Notice of Redemption. Notice having been given as
aforesaid, and the moneys for the redemption (including the interest to the applicable date
of redemption) having been set aside for the payment of their redemption price, the Bonds
to be redeemed shall become due and payable on such date of redemption.

If on such redemption date, money for the redemption of all the Bonds to be
redeemed as provided above, together with interest to such redemption date, shall be held
by the Paying Agent so as to be available therefor on such redemption date, and if notice of
redemption thereof shall have been given as aforesaid, then from and after such redemption
date, interest with respect to the Bonds to be redeemed shall cease to accrue and become
payable. All money held by or on behalf of the Paying Agent for the redemption of Bonds
shall be held in trust for the account of the Owners of the Bonds so to be redeemed.

All Bonds paid at maturity or redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to the provisions
hereof shall be cancelled upon surrender thereof and delivered to or upon the order of the
District. All or any portion of a Bond purchased by the District shall be cancelled by the
Paying Agent upon written notice by the District given to the Paying Agent.

SECTION 31. Paying Agent, Appointment and Acceptance of Duties.

(a) The Board hereby consents to and confirms the appointment of The Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. to act as Paying Agent for the Bonds under this
Resolution. All fees and expenses incurred for services of the Paying Agent shall be the sole
responsibility of the District. The Paying Agent shall have a corporate trust office in San
Francisco or Los Angeles, California.

(b) Unless otherwise provided, the office of the Paying Agent designated by the
Paying Agent shall be the place for the payment of Principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds.

SECTION 32. Liability of Paying Agent. The Paying Agent makes no
representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Resolution or of any Bonds issued
hereunder or as to the security afforded by this Resolution, and the Paying Agent shall incur
no liability in respect hereof or thereof.

SECTION 33. Evidence on Which Paving Agent May Act. The Paying Agent,
upon receipt of any notice, resolution, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion,
bond, or other paper or document furnished to it pursuant to any provision of this
Resolution, shall examine such instrument to determine whether it conforms to the
requirements of this Resolution and shall be protected in acting upon any such instrument
believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or
parties. The Paying Agent may consult with counsel, who may or may not be counsel to the

15
Z\

DWK DMS 3383631v3



District, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and
protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it under this Resolution in good faith
and in accordance therewith.

SECTION 34. Compensation. The District shall pay to the Paying Agent from
time to time reasonable compensation for all services rendered under this Resolution, and
also all reasonable expenses, charges, counsel fees and other disbursements, including
those of its attorneys, agents, and employees, incurred in and about the performance of
their powers and duties under this Resolution. In no event shall the Paying Agent be
required to expend its own funds hereunder.

The fees and expenses of the Paying Agent not paid from the proceeds of the sale of
the Bonds shall be paid each year from the Debt Service Fund, insofar as permitted by law,
including specifically by Section 15232 of the Education Code.

SECTION 35. Ownership of Bonds Permitted. The Paying Agent or the
Underwriter may become the Owner of any Bonds.

SECTION 36. Resignation or Removal of Paying Agent and Appointment of

Successor.

(a) The Paying Agent initially appointed hereunder may resign from service as
Paying Agent and any Authorized Officer may remove such Paying Agent or any subsequent
Paying Agent as provided in the respective Paying Agent’s service agreement. Without
further action by the District, if at any time the Paying Agent shall resign or be removed, an
Authorized Officer shall appoint a successor Paying Agent, which shall be a bank or trust
company doing business in and having a corporate trust office in San Francisco or Los
Angeles, California, with at least $100,000,000 in net assets. The Paying Agent shall keep
accurate records of all funds administered by it and of all Bonds paid and discharged by it.
Such records shall be provided, upon reasonable request, to the District in a format
mutually agreeable to the Paying Agent and the District. Such successor Paying Agent shall
signify the acceptance of its duties and obligations hereunder by executing and delivering to
the District a written acceptance thereof. Resignation or removal of the Paying Agent shall
be effective upon appointment and acceptance of a successor Paying Agent.

(b) In the event of the resighation or removal of the Paying Agent, such Paying
Agent shall pay over, assign and deliver any moneys held by it as Paying Agent to its
SUCCessor.

(c) In the event of the merger, acquisition or consolidation of the Paying Agent,
the Paying Agent shall pay over, assign and deliver any moneys held by it to its successor
who shall assume the responsibilities of Paying Agent hereunder unless the successor shall
be removed by the District in which case all funds shall be paid at the direction of an
Authorized Officer.

SECTION 37. Investment of Certain Funds. Moneys held in all funds and
accounts established hereunder shall be invested and reinvested by the Treasurer in
Authorized Investments to the fullest extent practicable as shall be necessary to provide
moneys when needed for payments to be made from such funds or accounts. Nothing in
this Resolution shall prevent any investment securities acquired as investments of funds
held hereunder from being issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the
Department of the Treasury of the United States. All investment earnings on amounts on

16
2T

DWK DMS 3383631v3



deposit in the Excess Earnings Fund, the Debt Service Fund and the Building Fund shall
remain on deposit in such funds.

The net proceeds from the sale of the Bonds (net of premium, if any) will be
deposited in the County treasury to the credit of the Building Fund. Any premium or accrued
interest received by the District from the sale of the Bonds will be deposited in the Debt
Service Fund. Earnings on the investment of moneys in either fund will be retained in that
fund and used only for the purposes to which that fund may lawfully be applied. Moneys in
the Building Fund may only be applied for the purposes for which the Bonds were approved.
Moneys in the Debt Service Fund may only be applied to make payments of interest,
principal and premium, if any, on bonds of the District.

All funds held in the Building Fund and the Debt Service Fund will be invested by the
Treasurer at the direction of the District. All funds held in the Building Fund by the
Treasurer under this Resolution will be invested pursuant to applicable law and the
investment policy of the County.

The District covenants that all investments of amounts deposited in any fund or
account created by or pursuant to this Resolution, or otherwise containing gross proceeds of
the Bonds (within the meaning of section 148 of the Code) shall be acquired, disposed of,
and valued (as of the date that valuation is required by this Resolution or the Code) at Fair
Market Value. Investments in funds or accounts (or portions thereof) that are subject to a
yield restriction under applicable provisions of the Code shall be valued at their present
value (within the meaning of section 148 of the Code).

SECTION 38. Valuation and Sale of Investments. Obligations purchased as
an investment of moneys in any fund or account shall be deemed at all times to be a part of
such fund or account. Profits or losses attributable to any fund or account shall be credited
or charged to such fund or account.

SECTION 39. Supplemental Resolutions With Consent of Owners. This
Resolution, and the rights and obligations of the District and of the Owners of the Bonds
issued hereunder, may be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Resolution
adopted by the District with the written consent of Owners owning at least 60% in
aggregate Bond Obligation of the Outstanding Bonds, exclusive of Bonds, if any, owned by
the District; provided, however, that if a Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, and provided
that the Bond Insurer, if any, complies with its obligations thereunder, the Bond Insurer
shall be deemed to be the sole Owner of the Bonds for purposes of this sentence.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such modification or amendment shall, without the
express consent of the Owner of each Bond affected, reduce the Principal Amount of any
Bond, reduce the interest rate payable thereon, advance the earliest redemption date
thereof, extend its maturity or the times for paying interest thereon or change the monetary
medium in which Principal and interest is payable, nor shall any modification or amendment
reduce the percentage of consents required for amendment or modification thereof or
hereof. No such Supplemental Resolution shall change or modify any of the rights or
obligations of any Paying Agent without its written assent thereto. Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, no such consent shall be required if the Owners are not
directly and adversely affected by such amendment or modification.

SECTION 40. Supplemental Resolutions Effective Without Consent of Owners.
For any one or more of the following purposes and at any time or from time to time, a
Supplemental Resolution of the District may be adopted, which, without the requirement of
consent of the Owners, shall be fully effective in accordance with its terms:

17

23

DWK DMS 3383631v3



(a) To add to the covenants and agreements of the County or the District in this
Resolution, other covenants and agreements to be observed by the County or the District
which are not contrary to or inconsistent with this Resolution as theretofore in effect;

(b) To add to the limitations and restrictions in this Resolution, other limitations
and restrictions to be observed by the County or the District which are not contrary to or
inconsistent with this Resolution as theretofore in effect;

(c) To confirm as further assurance, any pledge under, and the subjection to any
lien or pledge created or to be created by this Resolution, of any moneys, securities or
funds, or to establish any additional funds, or accounts to be held under this Resolution;

(d) To cure any ambiguity, supply any omission, or cure to correct any defect or
inconsistent provision in this Resolution;

(e) To make such additions, deletions or modifications as may be necessary or
desirable to assure exemption from federal income taxation of interest on the Bonds; or

(f To amend or supplement this Resolution in any other respect, provided such
Supplemental Resolution does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel,
adversely affect the interests of the Owners.

SECTION 41. Effect of Supplemental Resolution. Any act done pursuant to a
modification or amendment so consented to shall be binding upon the Owners of all the
Bonds and shall not be deemed an infringement of any of the provisions of this Resolution,
whatever the character of such act may be, and may be done and performed as fully and
freely as if expressly permitted by the terms of this Resolution, and after consent relating to
such specified matters has been given, no Owner shall have any right or interest to object
to such action or in any manner to question the propriety thereof or to enjoin or restrain the
District or any officer or agent of either from taking any action pursuant thereto.

SECTION 42. Defeasance. If Qutstanding Bonds shall be paid and discharged
in any one or more of the following ways:

(@) by well and truly paying or causing to be paid the Principal of and
interest on all Bonds Outstanding, as and when the same become due and payable;

(b) by depositing with the Paying Agent, in trust, at or before maturity,
cash which, together with the amounts then on deposit in the Debt Service Fund plus
the interest to accrue thereon without the need for further investment, is fully
sufficient to pay Bonds Outstanding and designated for defeasance on their
redemption date or at maturity thereof, including any premium and all interest
thereon, notwithstanding that any Bonds shall not have been surrendered for
payment; or

(©) by depositing with an institution to act as escrow agent selected by the
District and which meets the requirements of serving as Paying Agent pursuant to
this Resolution, in trust, lawful money or noncallable direct obligations issued by the
United States Treasury (including State and Local Government Series Obligations) or
obligations which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America
and described under Section 149(b) of the Code and Regulations which, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, will not impair the exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds, in such

18

2y

DWK DMS 3383631v3



amount as will, together with the interest to accrue thereon, be fully sufficient, in the
opinion of a verification agent satisfactory to the District, to pay and discharge Bonds
Outstanding and designated for defeasance on their redemption date or at maturity
thereof, including any premium and ail interest thereon, notwithstanding that any
Bonds shall not have been surrendered for payment;

then all obligations of the District and the Paying Agent under this Resolution with respect to
such Outstanding Bonds shall cease and terminate, except only the obligation of the Paying
Agent to pay or causeé to be paid to the Owners of such Bonds all sums due thereon, and the
obligation of the District to pay to the Paying Agent amounts owing to the Paying Agent
hereunder.

SECTION 43. Bond Insurance. All or a portion of the Bonds may be sold with
bond insurance or other form of credit enhancement, if an Authorized Officer, in
consultation with the Underwriter and the Financial Advisor, determines that the savings to
the District resulting from the purchase of such bond insurance exceeds the cost thereof.

SECTION 44. Continuing Disclosure. The District hereby covenants and
agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the terms of the Continuing Disclosure
Agreement in substantially the form attached as an appendix to the Preliminary Official
Statement, which is hereby approved. The Authorized Officers are each hereby authorized
and directed to execute and deliver the Continuing Disclosure Agreement with such
changes, insertions, and omissions as the Authorized Officer executing the same may
require or approve, such determination or approval to be conclusively evidenced by the
execution of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement by such Authorized Officer. Any
Underwriter, any Owner or any Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be
necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court
order, to cause the District to comply with its obligations under this Section and the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement.

SECTION 45. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect from and after
its date of adoption.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.]

19
DWK DMS 3383631v3



The foregoing resolution was, on the 22nd day of May, 2019, adopted by the Board of
Trustees of the Hamilton Unified School District at a regular meeting by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

By:

President of the Board of Trustees
ATTEST:

By:

Secretary of the Board of Trustees

20

Al

DWK DMS 3383631v3



EXHIBIT A

FORM OF BOND

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
OF THE DEPOSITORY (AS DEFINED IN THE RESOLUTION) TO THE BOND
REGISTRAR FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT,
AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN
SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
OF THE DEPOSITORY (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO
SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR
OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS
WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO.,
HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA STATE OF CALIFORNIA
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

(COUNTY OF GLENN, CALIFORNIA)
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A

$ No.
Interest Rate Maturity Date Dated Date CUSIP
% August 1, 20__
REGISTERED OWNER: CEDE & CO.
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:

The Hamilton Unified School District (the “District”) of the County of Glenn, State of
California, for value received, hereby acknowledges itself indebted and promises to pay to
the Registered Owner set forth above the Principal Amount set forth above, on the Maturity
Date set forth above, together with interest thereon from the dated date set forth above
until the Principal Amount hereof shall have been paid or provided for, in accordance with
the Resolution hereinafter referred to, at the interest rate set forth above. Interest on this
Bond is payable on February 1, 20__, and semiannually thereafter on the first day of
February and August (each, an “Interest Payment Date”) in each year to the registered
owner hereof from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date on which this Bond is
registered (unless it is registered after the close of business on the fifteenth calendar day of
the month preceding any Interest Payment Date (a “Record Date”) and before the close of
business on the immediately following Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear
interest from such following Interest Payment Date, or unless this Bond is registered prior to

A-1

A1

DWK DMS 3383631v3



the close of business on January 15, 20__, in which event it shall bear interest from its
date; provided, however, that if at the time of registration of this Bond interest with respect
hereto is in default, interest with respect hereto shall be payable from the Interest Payment
Date to which interest has previously been paid or made available for payment). The
Principal Amount hereof is payable at the office of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as paying agent (the “Paying Agent”), in Los Angeles, California. The
interest hereon is payable by check or draft mailed by first class mail to each registered
owner, at his address as it appears on the registration books kept by the Paying Agent as of
the Record Date.

The Bonds of this issue are comprised of $ Principal Amount of Bonds.
This Bond is issued by the District under and in accordance with the provisions of (i)
Section 53506 et seq. of the California Government Code (the “Act”) and (ii) Article XIIIA of
the California Constitution, and pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board of Trustees of
the District on , 2019 (the “Resolution”). Reference is hereby made to the
Resolution, a copy of which is on file at the office of the District, for a description of the
terms on which the Bonds are delivered, and the rights thereunder of the registered owners
of the Bonds and the rights and duties of the Paying Agent and the District, to all of the
provisions of which the registered owner of this Bond, by acceptance hereof, assents and
agrees. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the
respective meanings set forth in the Resolution. The Bonds were authorized by a vote of
55% or more of the qualified electors of the District voting on the proposition at a general
election held therein to determine whether such Bonds should be issued.

This Bond is a general obligation of the District, payable as to both Principal and
interest from ad valorem taxes which, under the laws now in force, may be levied without
limitation as to rate or amount upon all of the taxable property in the District. Neither the
payment of the Principal of this Bond, or any part thereof, nor any interest or premium
hereon constitute a debt, liability or obligation of the County.

This Bond is issued in fully registered form and is nonnegotiable. Registration of this
Bond is transferable by the registered owner hereof, in person or by his attorney duly
authorized in writing, at the aforesaid offices of the Paying Agent, but only in the manner,
subject to the limitations, and upon payment of the charges, provided in the Resolution and
upon surrender and cancellation of this Bond. Upon such registration of transfer, a new
Bond or Bonds, of like tenor and maturity in the same Transfer Amount and in authorized
denominations will be issued to the transferee in exchange herefor. The District and the
Paying Agent may treat the registered owner hereof as the absolute owner hereof for all
purposes, whether or not this Bond shall be overdue, and shall not be affected by any notice
to the contrary.

The Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 20___ shall not be subject to redemption
prior to their maturity dates. The Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 20__ may be
redeemed prior to their respective stated maturity dates, at the option of the District, from
any source of available funds, on August 1, 20___ or on any date thereafter as a whole, or in
part, at the principal amount thereof, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of
redemption, without premium.

A-2

AF

DWK DMS 3383631v3



The Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption, in part by lot, on August 1 in each of the years and in the principal amounts set
forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price of par, plus accrued interest to the
date fixed for redemption:

Mandatory Sinking Fund
Payment Date (August 1) Mandatory Sinking Fund Payment

The rights and obligations of the District and of the owners of the Bonds may be
modified or amended at any time by a supplemental resolution adopted by the District with
the written consent of owners of at least 60% in aggregate Bond Obligation of the
Outstanding Bonds, exclusive of Bonds, if any, owned by the District; provided, however,
that no such modification or amendment shall, without the express consent of the
registered owner of each Bond affected, reduce the Principal Amount of any Bond, reduce
the interest rate payable thereon, extend its maturity or the times for paying interest
thereon or change the monetary medium in which the Principal and interest is payable, nor
shall any modification or amendment reduce the percentage of consents required for
amendment or modification hereof.

A supplemental resolution of the District may be adopted, which, without the
requirement of consent of the registered owners, shall be fully effective in accordance with
its terms: (1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the District in the Resolution,
other covenants and agreements to be observed by the District which are not contrary to or
inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (2) to add to the limitations and
restrictions in the Resolution, other limitations and restrictions to be observed by the
District which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect;
(3) to confirm as further assurance, any pledge under, and the subjection to any lien or
pledge created or to be created by the Resolution, of any moneys, securities or funds, or to
establish any additional funds or accounts to be held under the Resolution; (4) to cure any
ambiguity, supply any omission, or cure or correct any defect or inconsistent provision in
the Resolution; (5) to make such additions, deletions or modifications as may be necessary
or desirable to assure exemption from federal income taxation of interest on the Bonds or
(6) to amend or supplement the Resolution in any other respect, provided such
supplemental resolution does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel,
adversely affect the interests of the owners.

If this Bond is called for redemption and the Principal Amount of this Bond plus
premium, if any, and accrued interest due with respect hereto are duly provided therefor as
specified in the Resolution, then interest shall cease to accrue with respect hereto from and
after the date fixed for redemption.

This Bond shall not become valid or obligatory for any purpose until the Certificate of
Authentication hereon endorsed shall have been dated and executed manually by the Paying
Agent.

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED, RECITED AND DECLARED, that an election was duly and
legally called, held and conducted, and the notices thereof duly given, and the results
thereof canvassed and declared in accordance with the provisions of the Education Code of

A-3

A9

DWK DMS 3383631v3



the State and that all of the proceedings of the Board of Trustees of the District in the
matter of the issuance of this Bond were regular and in strict accordance with the provisions
of the Act and of the Constitution of the State of California, and that the total bonded
indebtedness of the District, including the issue of which this Bond is a part, does not
exceed any limit prescribed by law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Hamilton Unified Schoo! District has caused this Bond to be
executed on behalf of the District and in their official capacities by the manual or facsimile
signature of the President of the Board of Trustees of the Hamilton Unified School District,
and to be countersigned by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary of the Board
of Trustees of the Hamilton Unified School District.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

By:

President of the Board of Trustees
Countersigned:

By:

Secretary of the Board of Trustees

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This is one of the Bonds described in the within-mentioned Resolution of the Board of
Trustees of the Hamilton Unified School District.

DATED: , 2019 THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST
COMPANY, N.A., as Paying Agent

By:

Authorized Officer

A-4

370

DWK DMS 3383631v3



FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered owner hereby sells, assigns and transfers
unto

Name of Transferee:
Address for Payment of Interest:

Social Security Number or other Tax Identification No.:

the within-mentioned Bond and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints attorney, to
transfer the same on the books of the Paying Agent with full power of substitution in the

premises.

Registered Owner

Dated: NOTICE: The signature on this Assignment
must correspond with the name as written on
the face of the within Bond in every
particular, without alteration or enlargement
or any change whatsoever.

Signature
guaranteed

[Bank, Trust Company or Firm]

By.

Authorized Officer

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a member firm of the New York Stock
Exchange or a commercial bank or trust company.

A-5

3|

DWK DMS 3383631v3



EXHIBIT B

DISCLOSURE OF SPECIFIED INFORMATION

1. Estimated True Interest Cost of the Bonds: 4.084%

2. Estimated Finance Charge, i.e., the sum of all fees and charges paid to third parties:
$202,409.46

3. Estimated amount of proceeds to be received by the District, less Finance Charge,

reserves and capitalized interest: $2,055,000.00

4, Estimated total debt service to maturity, including any Finance Charge not paid with
proceeds of the Bonds (if any): $4,469,820.66

B-1
DWK DMS 3383631v3



EXHIBIT C

FORM OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

C-1

33

DWK DMS 3383631v3



$[PAR AMOUNT]

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
(GLENN COUNTY, CALIFORNIA)
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
June __, 2019

Board of Trustees
Hamilton Unified School District
620 Canal Street
Hamilton City, California 95951

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, as underwriter (the
“"Underwriter”), acting on its own behalf and not as the District’'s (as defined herein)
fiduciary or agent, offers to enter into this Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) with the Hamilton Unified School District (the "“District”), which, upon the
District’'s acceptance hereof, will be binding upon the District and the Underwriter. This
offer is made subject to the written acceptance of this Purchase Agreement by the District
and delivery of such acceptance to the Underwriter at or prior to 11:59 p.m., California
time, on the date hereof, and if not so accepted, will be subject to withdrawal by the
Underwriter upon written notice delivered to the District.

Section 1. Purchase and Sale of the Bonds. Upon the terms and conditions and
in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements herein set forth, the
Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the District for reoffering to the public, and the
District hereby agrees to sell to the Underwriter for such purpose, all (but not less than all)
of $[PAR AMOUNT] aggregate principal amount of the District’'s General Obligation Bonds
2018 Election, 2019 Series A (the “"Bonds”).

The Underwriter shall purchase the Bonds at a price of $ (which is equal to
the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of $[PAR AMOUNT], plus net original issue
premium of $ and less an Underwriter’s discount of $ ). [In addition,
the Underwriter will wire transfer the amount of $ to . (the “Insurer”) as

payment of the premium for a municipal bond insurance policy (the “Policy”)].

The District acknowledges and agrees that: (a) the purchase and sale of the Bonds
under this Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between the
District and the Underwriter; (b) in connection therewith and with the discussions,
undertakings and procedures leading up to the consummation of such transaction, the
Underwriter is and has been acting solely as a principal and not as the agent or fiduciary of
the District; (c) the Underwriter has not assumed a fiduciary responsibility in favor of the
District with respect to: (i) the offering of the Bonds or the process leading thereto (whether
or not the Underwriter, or any affiliate of the Underwriter, has advised or is currently
advising the District on other matters); or (ii) any other obligation to the District except the
obligations expressly set forth in this Purchase Agreement; and (d) the District has

|

34

DWK DMS 3383633v1



consulted with its own legal, financial and other advisors to the extent it has deemed
appropriate in connection with this transaction.

The District acknowledges that it has previously provided the Underwriter with an
acknowledgement of receipt of the required Underwriter’s disclosure under Rule G-17 of the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB").

Section 2. The Bonds. The Bonds shall be dated their date of delivery (the “Date
of Delivery”) and shall be payable as to interest on each February 1 and August 1,
commencing February 1, 2020. The Bonds shall bear interest at the rates, shall mature on
the dates and in the years, and shall be subject to redemption, as shown on Appendix A
hereto which is incorporated herein by reference, and shall otherwise be as described in the
Official Statement (defined herein), and shall be issued and secured pursuant to the
provisions of the Resolution of the District adopted on , 2019 (the “Resolution”) and
Title 5, Division 2, Part 1, Chapter 3, Article 4.5 of the Government Code of the State of
California and other applicable law (the “Act”). Capitalized terms used and not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Official Statement or,
if not defined in the Official Statement, in the Resolution.

The Bonds shall be executed and delivered under and in accordance with the
provisions of this Purchase Agreement and the Resolution. The Bonds shall be in book-entry
form, shall bear CUSIP numbers, and shall be in fully registered form, registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"”). The Bonds
shall initially be in authorized denominations of $5,000 principal amount or any integral
multiple thereof.

The proceeds of the Bonds will be applied by the District to finance certain capital
improvements for the District as specified in the District bond proposition submitted at the
November 6, 2018 (the “Election”).

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the “Paying Agent”) shall serve
as the paying agent, transfer agent and bond registrar for the Bonds pursuant to a Paying
Agent/Bond Registrar/Costs of Issuance Agreement with respect to the Bonds (the “Paying
Agent Agreement”), entered into by and between the District and the Paying Agent.

Section 3. Use of Documents. The District hereby authorizes the Underwriter to
use, in connection with the offer and sale of the Bonds, this Purchase Agreement, the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement (defined herein), the Preliminary Official Statement
(defined below) and the Official Statement, the Resolution, the Paying Agent Agreement and
all information contained herein and therein and all of the documents, certificates or
statements furnished by the District to the Underwriter in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Purchase Agreement, except as such other documents shall otherwise
provide. The Resolution, Purchase Agreement, Paying Agent Agreement, Continuing
Disclosure Agreement and Official Statement are collectively referred to as the "“Legal
Documents.” The District does not object to distribution of the Official Statement in
electronic form.

Section 4. Public Offering of the Bonds. The Underwriter agrees to make a bona
fide public offering of all the Bonds at the initial public offering prices or yields to be set
forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement and as set forth in Appendix A
hereto. Subsequent to such initial public offering, the Underwriter reserves the right to
change such initial public offering prices or yields as it deems necessary in connection with
the marketing of the Bonds; provided that the Underwriter shall not change the interest

2

35

DWK DMS 3383633v1



rates on the Bonds set forth in Appendix A. The Bonds may be offered and sold to certain
dealers at prices lower than such initial public offering prices. The Underwriter reserves the
right to: (i) over-allot or effect transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of
the Bonds at levels above those that might otherwise prevail in the open market; and
(ii) discontinue such stabilizing, if commenced, at any time without prior notice.

Section 5. Establishment of Issue Price.

(a) The Underwriter agrees to assist the District in establishing the issue price of
the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the District at Closing an “issue price” or similar
certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications,
substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix A, with such modifications as may be
appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the District and
Bond Counsel, to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial
offering price or prices to the public of the Bonds. All actions to be taken by the District
under this section to establish the issue price of the Bonds may be taken on behalf of the
District by the District’s municipal advisor identified herein and any notice or report to be
provided to the District may be provided to the District’'s municipal advisor.

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in Appendix A attached hereto, the District will
treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the “"10% test”) is sold to
the public as the issue price of that maturity. At or promptly after the execution of this
Bond Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter shall report to the District the price or prices at
which it has sold to the public each maturity of Bonds. If at that time the 10% test has not
been satisfied as to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to
the District the prices at which it sells the unsold Bonds of that maturity to the public. That
reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until
either (i) the Underwriter has sold all Bonds of that maturity or (ii) the 10% test has been
satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the Underwriter's reporting
obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon
request of the District or Bond Counsel. For purposes of this Section, if Bonds mature on
the same date but have different interest rates, each separate CUSIP number within that
maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of the Bonds.

(©) The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or
before the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial
offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or vyields, set forth in Exhibit A attached
hereto, except as otherwise set forth therein. Exhibit A also sets forth, as of the date of this
Bond Purchase Agreement, the maturities, if any, of the Bonds for which the 10% test has
not been satisfied and for which the District and the Underwriter agree that the restrictions
set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow the District to treat the initial
offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale date as the issue price of
that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”). So long as the hold-the-offering-price
rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter will neither offer nor
sell unsold Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the initial
offering price to the public during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the
earlier of the following:

(1) the close of the fifth (5"") business day after the sale date; or
(2) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that maturity

of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial
offering price to the public.

3

3

DWK DMS 3383633v1



The Underwriter will advise the District promptly after the close of the fifth (5th) business
day after the sale date whether it has sold 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public
at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public.

(d The Underwriter confirms that:

(i any selling group agreement and any third-party distribution agreement
relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing
wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of
the selling group and each broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party
distribution agreement, as applicable:

(A)(i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of
each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred,
until either all Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is
notified by the Underwriter that the 10% test has been satisfied as to the
Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after the
Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon
request of the Underwriter, and (ii) to comply with the hold-the-offering-price
rule, if applicable, if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter,

(B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Bonds that, to its
knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter
participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such term
being used as defined below), and

(C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or broker-
dealer, the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer
or broker-dealer is a sale to the public.

(ii) any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the
public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language
obligating each dealer that is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be
employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public to require each
broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement to (A) report
the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allocated
to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of that
maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter or the
dealer that the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity,
provided that, the reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable
periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter or the dealer, and (B)
comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, if and for so long as
directed by the Underwriter or the dealer and as set forth in the related pricing wires.

(e) The District acknowledges that, in making the representations set forth in this
section, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in
connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who
is a member of the selling group to comply with the requirements for establishing issue
price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-
offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds, as set forth in a selling group agreement and
the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a third-party distribution agreement was
employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of
each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the requirements for

4

37

DWK DMS 3383633v1



establishing issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply
with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds, as set forth in the third-
party distribution agreement and the related pricing wires. The District further
acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable for the failure of any dealer who is a
member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a third-party
distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to comply with the
requirements for establishing issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its
agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds.

® The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a
related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public
(each such term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the public for
purposes of this section. Further, for purposes of this section:

(D “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related
party,
(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written

contract with the District (or with the lead underwriter to form an
underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to
the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written
contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (including a
member of a selling group or a party to a third-party distribution
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public),

(iii) a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter
if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly,
to (A) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the
total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including
direct ownership by one corporation of another), (B) more than 50%
common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both
entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one
partnership of another), or (C) more than 50% common ownership of
the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital
interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one
entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including
direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of

. the other), and

(iv) ‘“sale date” means the date of execution of this Bond Purchase
Agreement by all parties.

Section 6. Review of Official Statement. The Underwriter hereby represents
that it has received and reviewed the Preliminary Official Statement with respect to the
Bonds, dated , 2019 (the “Preliminary Official Statement”). The District represents
that it has deemed the Preliminary Official Statement to be final, except for either revision
or addition of the offering price(s), interest rate(s), yield(s), selling compensation,
aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, delivery date, rating(s),
redemption provisions and other terms of the Bonds which depend upon the foregoing as
provided in and pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”), and consents to and ratifies

5

38

DWK DMS 3383633v1



the use and distribution by the Underwriter of the Preliminary Official Statement in
connection with the public offering of the Bonds by the Underwriter.

The Underwriter agrees that prior to the time the final Official Statement relating to
the Bonds is available, the Underwriter will send to any potential purchaser of the Bonds,
upon the request of such potential purchaser, a copy of the most recent Preliminary Official
Statement. Such Preliminary Official Statement shall be sent by first-class mail (or other
equally prompt means) not later than the first business day following the date upon which
each such request is received.

The Underwriter hereby represents that it will provide, consistent with the
requirements of MSRB Rule G-32, for the delivery of a copy of the Official Statement to each
customer who purchases any Bonds during the underwriting period (as such term is defined
in MSRB Rule G-11), and deliver a copy of the Official Statement to the MSRB in electronic
format as prescribed by the MSRB on or before the Closing Date, and that it will otherwise
comply with all applicable statues and regulations in connection with the offering and sale of
the Bonds, including, without limitation, MSRB Rule G-32 and G-36 and the Rule.

Section 7. Closing. At 8:00 a.m., California time, on , 2019 or at such
other time or on such other date as shall have been mutually agreed upon by the District
and the Underwriter (the “Closing” or the “Closing Date”), the District will deliver to the
Underwriter, through the facilities of DTC utilizing DTC’s FAST delivery system, or as the
District and the Underwriter may otherwise mutually agree upon, the Bonds in fully
registered book-entry form, duly executed and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as
nominee of DTC, and at the offices of Dannis Woliver Kelley ("Bond Counsel”), in
Sacramento, California, the other documents hereinafter mentioned; and the Underwriter
will accept such delivery and pay the purchase price thereof in immediately available funds
by wire transfer to or upon the order of the District.

Section 8. Representations, Warranties and Agreements of the District. The
District hereby represents, warrants and agrees with the Underwriter that:

(a) Due Organization. The District is a school district duly organized and
validly existing under the laws of the State of California (the “State”), with full legal
power to issue the Bonds pursuant to the Act.

(b) Due Authorization. (i) At or prior to the Closing, the District will
have taken all action required to be taken by it to authorize the issuance and
delivery of the Bonds; (ii) the District has full legal right, power and authority to
enter into the Legal Documents, to adopt the Resolution, to perform its obligations
under each such document or instrument, and to carry out and effectuate the
transactions contemplated by the Legal Documents; (iii) the execution and delivery
or adoption of, and the performance by the District of the obligations contained in
the Bonds and the Legal Documents have been duly authorized and such
authorization shall be in full force and effect at the time of the Closing; (iv) this
Purchase Agreement constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of the District;
and (v) the District has duly authorized the consummation by it of all transactions
contemplated by this Purchase Agreement.

(c) Consents. No consent, approval, authorization, order, filing,
registration, qualification, election or referendum, of or by any court or governmental

agency or public body whatsoever is required in connection with the issuance,
delivery or sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions effected

6

39

DWK DMS 3383633vl



or contemplated herein or hereby, except for such actions as may be necessary to
qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other securities laws and
regulations of such states and jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter
may reasonably request, or which have not been taken or obtained; provided,
however, that the District shall not be required to subject itself to service of process
in any jurisdiction in which it is not so subject as of the date hereof.

(d) Internal Revenue Code. The District has complied with the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, with respect to the Bonds, and the District shall
not knowingly take or omit to take any action that, under existing law, may
adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes, or
the exemption from any applicable State tax, of the interest on the Bonds.

(e) No Conflicts. To the best knowledge of the District, the issuance of
the Bonds, and the execution, delivery and performance of the Legal Documents and
the Bonds, and the compliance with the provisions hereof and thereof do not conflict
with or constitute on the part of the District a violation of or default under, the
Constitution of the State or any existing law, charter, ordinance, regulation, decree,
order or resolution and do not conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or
constitute a default under, any agreement, indenture, mortgage, lease or other
instrument to which the District is a party or by which it is bound or to which it is
subject.

(f) Litigation. As of the time of acceptance hereof, no action, suit,
proceeding, hearing or investigation is pending or, to the best knowledge of the
District, threatened against the District: (i) in any way affecting the existence of the
District or in any way challenging the respective powers of the several offices or of
the titles of the officials of the District to such offices; or (ii) seeking to prohibit,
restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance or delivery of any of the Bonds, or the
application of the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds, or the collection or levy of taxes
contemplated by the Resolution and available to pay the principal of and interest on
the Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the
Bonds or the Legal Documents or contesting the powers of the District or its
authority with respect to the Bonds or the Legal Documents or contesting in any way
the completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official
Statement; or (iii) in which a final adverse decision could (A) materially adversely
affect the operations of the District or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by the Legal Documents, (B) declare this Purchase Agreement to be
invalid or unenforceable in whole or in material part, or (C) adversely affect the
exclusion of the interest paid on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and the exemption of such interest from California personal income
taxation.

(g9) No Other Debt. Between the date hereof and the Closing, without
the prior written consent of the Underwriter, neither the District directly, nor any
other governmental agency or other body on behalf of the District will have issued in
the name and on behalf of the District any bonds, notes or other obligations for
borrowed money except for such borrowings as may be described in or contemplated
by the Official Statement or otherwise consented to in writing by the Underwriter.

(h) Certificates. Any certificates signed by any officer of the District and
delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the

i

40

DWK DMS 3383633v1



District to the Underwriter, but not by the person signing the same, as to the
statements made therein.

) Continuing Disclosure. At or prior to the Closing, the District shall
have duly authorized, executed and delivered a Continuing Disclosure Agreement
(the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”). The Continuing Disclosure Agreement
shall comply with the provisions of the Rule and be substantially in the form attached
to the Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement in Appendix D. Except
as otherwise described in the Official Statement, the District has not failed during the
previous five years to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings
in a written continuing disclosure agreement or other agreement under the Rule.

3) Official Statement Accurate and Complete. The Preliminary
Official Statement, as of its date and at the date hereof, did not and does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to
be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. At the date hereof and
on the date of Closing (the “Closing Date”), the Official Statement did not and will
not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. If the
Official Statement is supplemented or amended pursuant to paragraph (g) of Section
10 of this Purchase Agreement, at the time of each supplement or amendment
thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such
paragraph) at all times subsequent thereto during the period up to and including the
Closing Date, the Official Statement as so supplemented or amended will not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to
be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which made, not misleading.

(k) Financial Statements of District. The financial statements of the
District contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and final Official Statement
fairly present the financial position and results of operations of the District as of the
dates and for the periods therein set forth, and, since the date thereof, there has
been no material adverse change in the financial position or results of operations of
the District.

0 Levy of Tax. The District hereby agrees to take any and all actions as
may be required by Glenn County (the “County”) or otherwise necessary in order to
arrange for the levy and collection of taxes and payment of the Bonds.

Section 9. Representations and Agreements of the Underwriter. The
Underwriter represents to and agrees with the District that, as of the date hereof and as of
the Closing Date, which representations and warranties shall survive the Closing:

(a) The Underwriter is duly authorized to execute this Purchase Agreement
and to take any action under this Purchase Agreement required to be taken of it.

(b) The Underwriter is in compliance with MSRB Rule G-37 with respect to
the District, and is not prohibited thereby from acting as Underwriter with respect to
securities of the District.

DWK DMS 3383633v1l

G )



(c) The Underwriter has not paid or agreed to pay, nor will it pay or agree
to pay, any entity, company, firm, or person (including, but not limited to any
officer, agent or employee of the District), other than a bona fide officer, agent or
employee working for the Underwriter, any compensation, fee, gift or other
consideration contingent upon or resulting from the award of or entering into this
Purchase Agreement;

(d) The Underwriter has, and has had, no financial advisory relationship
with the District with respect to the Bonds, and no investment firm controlling,
controlled by or under common control with the Underwriter has or has had any such
financial advisory relationship.

(e) The Underwriter represents that it is licensed by and registered with
the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority as a broker-dealer and the MSRB as a
municipal securities dealer.

(f) The Underwriter has reasonably determined that the District’s
undertaking to provide continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds pursuant to
Section 11(e)(viii) hereof is sufficient to effect compliance with the Rule.

Section 10. Covenants of the District. The District covenants and agrees with
the Underwriter that:

(a) Securities Laws. The District will furnish such information, execute
such instruments, and take such other action in cooperation with the Underwriter if
and as the Underwriter may reasonably request, at the Underwriter’s cost and
expense, in order to qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other
securities laws and regulations or such states and jurisdictions; provided, however,
that the District shall not be required to consent to service of process in any
jurisdiction in which they are not so subject as of the date hereof.

(b) Application of Proceeds. The District will apply the proceeds from
the sale of the Bonds for the purposes specified in the Resolution.

(©) Official Statement. The District hereby agrees to deliver or cause to
be delivered to the Underwriter, not later than the seventh business day following
the date this Purchase Agreement is signed, copies of a final Official Statement
substantially in the form of the Preliminary Official Statement, with only such
changes therein as shall have been accepted by the Underwriter and the District
(such Official Statement with such changes, if any, and including the cover page and
all appendices, exhibits, maps, reports and statements included therein or attached
thereto being herein called the “Official Statement”) in such quantities as may be
requested by the Underwriter, in order to permit the Underwriter to comply with
paragraph (b)(4) of the Rule and with the rules of the MSRB. The District hereby
authorizes the Underwriter to use and distribute the Official Statement in connection
with the offering and sale of the Bonds.

(d) Subsequent Events. The District hereby agrees to notify the
Underwriter of any event or occurrence that may affect in any material respect the
accuracy or completeness of any information set forth in the Official Statement
relating to the District until the date which is 30 days following the Closing.

9

47

DWK DMS 3383633v1



(e) Filings. The District authorizes the Underwriter to file, to the extent
required by the applicable rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission or the MSRB, and the Underwriter agrees to file or cause to be filed, the
Official Statement with (i) the MSRB or its designee (including the MSRB’s Electronic
Municipal Market Access system); or (ii) other repositories approved from time to
time by the Securities and Exchange Commission (either in addition to or in lieu of
the filing referred to above). If an amended Official Statement is prepared in
accordance with Section 10(g) of this Purchase Agreement during the “Primary
Offering Disclosure Period” (as defined below), and if required by an applicable
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule or MSRB rule, the Underwriter shall also
make the required filings of the amended Official Statement. The “Primary Offering
Disclosure Period” is used as defined in MSRB Rule G-32 and shall end on the
twenty-fifth day after the Closing Date.

) References. References herein to the Preliminary Official Statement
and the final Official Statement include the cover page and all appendices, exhibits,
maps, reports and statements included therein or attached thereto.

(9) Amendments to the Official Statement. During the period ending
on the twenty-fifth day after the End of the Underwriting Period (or such other period
as may be agreed to by the District and the Underwriter), the District (i) shall not
supplement or amend the Official Statement or cause the Official Statement to be
supplemented or amended without the prior written consent of the Underwriter,
provided that the Underwriter may not unreasonably withhold such approval and that
the Underwriter may not object to such amendments or supplements if they result in
a correction of the Official Statement; and (ii) shall notify the Underwriter promptly if
any event shall occur, or information comes to the attention of the District, that is
reasonably likely to cause the Official Statement (whether or not previously
supplemented or amended) to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to
omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading. If, in the opinion of the Underwriter, such event requires the
preparation and distribution of a supplement or amendment to the Official
Statement, the District shall prepare and furnish to the Underwriter, at the District’s
expense, such number of copies of the supplement or amendment to the Official
Statement, in form and substance mutually agreed upon by the District and the
Underwriter, as the Underwriter may reasonably request. If such notification shall be
given subsequent to the Closing, the District also shall furnish, or cause to be
furnished, such additional legal opinions, certificates, instruments and other
documents as the Underwriter may reasonably deem necessary to evidence the truth
and accuracy of any such supplement or amendment to the Official Statement.

For purposes of this Agreement, the “End of the Underwriting Period” is used
as defined in the Rule and shall occur on the later of (A) the Closing Date; or
(B) when the Underwriter no longer retains an unsold balance of the Bonds; unless
otherwise advised in writing by the Underwriter on or prior to the Closing Date, or
otherwise agreed to by the District and the Underwriter, the District may assume
that the End of the Underwriting Period is the Closing Date.

Section 11. Conditions to Closing. The Underwriter has entered into this
Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations and warranties of the District
contained herein and the performance by the District of its obligations hereunder, both as of
the date hereof and as of the Closing Date. The Underwriter’'s obligations under this

10

4 3

DWK DMS 3383633v1



Purchase Agreement are, and shall be subject at the option of the Underwriter, to the
following further conditions at the Closing:

(a) Representations True. The representations and warranties of the
District contained herein shall be true, complete and correct in all material respects
at the date hereof and at and as of the Closing, as if made at and as of the Closing,
and the statements made in all certificates and other documents delivered to the
Underwriter at the Closing pursuant hereto shall be true, complete and correct in all
material respects on the Closing Date; and the District shall be in compliance with
each of the agreements made by it in this Purchase Agreement.

(b) Obligations Performed. At the time of the Closing, (i) the Official
Statement and the Legal Documents shall be in full force and effect and shall not
have been amended, modified or supplemented except as may have been agreed to
in writing by the Underwriter; (ii) all actions under the Act which, in the opinion of
Bond Counsel, shall be necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby, shall have been duly taken and shall be in full force and effect; and (iii) the
District shall perform or have performed all of its obligations required under or
specified in the Legal Documents to be performed at or prior to the Closing.

(©) Adverse Rulings. No decision, ruling or finding shall have been
entered by any court or governmental authority since the date of this Purchase
Agreement (and not reversed on appeal or otherwise set aside), or to the best
knowledge of the District, pending or threatened which has any of the effects
described in Section 8(f) hereof or contesting in any way the completeness or
accuracy of the Official Statement. g

(d) Marketability. The Underwriter shall have the right to cancel the
Underwriter’s obligation to purchase the Bonds if, between the date hereof and the
Closing, the market price or marketability or the ability of the Underwriter to enforce
contracts for the sale of the Bonds have been materially adversely affected, in the
judgment of the Underwriter, by reason of any of the following:

(i) legislation enacted by Congress, or passed by either house
thereof, or favorably reported for passage thereto by any Committee of such
House to which such legislation has been referred for consideration, or by the
legisiature of the State of California (the “State”), or introduced in the
Congress or recommended for passage by the President of the United States,
or a decision rendered by a court of the United States or the State or by the
United States Tax Court, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary or
proposed) or official statement issued or made:

(A) by or on behalf of the United States Treasury
Department, or by or on behalf of the Internal Revenue Service (the
“IRS"), with the purpose or effect, directly or indirectly, of changing,
directly or indirectly, the federal income tax consequences or State tax
consequences of the interest on the Bonds or of obligations of the
general character of the Bonds in the hands of the holders thereof; or

(B) by or on behalf of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC"), or any other governmental agency having
jurisdiction over the subject matter thereof, to the effect that the
Bonds, or obligations of the general character of the Bonds, including

11

4

DWK DMS 3383633v1



DWK DMS 3383633v1

any and all underlying arrangements, are not exempt from registration
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or would be in violation
of any provision of the federal securities laws;

(ii) any outbreak or escalation of hostilities affecting the United
States, the declaration by the United States of a national emergency or war,
or engagement in or material escalation of major military hostilities by the
United States or the occurrence of any other national emergency, calamity or
crisis relating to the effective operation of the government or the financial
community in the United States;

(iii) the declaration of a general banking moratorium by federal,
New York State or California authorities having appropriate jurisdiction, or the
general suspension of trading on any national securities exchange or fixing of
minimum or maximum prices for trading or maximum ranges for prices for
securities on any national securities exchange, whether by virtue of a
determination by that exchange or by order of the SEC or any other
governmental authority having jurisdiction;

(iv)  the imposition by the New York Stock Exchange, other. national
securities exchange, or any governmental authority, of any material
restrictions not now in force with respect to the Bonds, or obligations of the
general character of the Bonds, or securities generally, or the material
increase of any such restrictions now in force, including those relating to the
extension of credit by, or the charge to the net capital requirements of, the
Underwriter;

(v) an order, decree or injunction of any court of competent
jurisdiction, or order, filing, regulation or official statement by the SEC, or any
other governmental agency having jurisdiction over the subject matter
thereof, issued or made to the effect that the issuance, offering or sale of
obligations of the general character of the Bonds, or the issuance, offering or
sale of the Bonds, as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, is or
would be in violation of the federal securities laws, as amended and then in
effect;

(vi)  there shall have occurred or any notice shall have been given of
any intended downgrading, suspension, withdrawal, or negative change in
credit watch status by any national rating service to the outstanding
indebtedness of the District;

(vii) any fact or event shall exist or have existed that, in the
Underwriter's judgment, requires or has required an amendment of or
supplement to the Official Statement;

(viii) the occurrence, since the date hereof, of any materially adverse
change in the affairs or financial condition of the District;

(ix) the suspension by the SEC of trading of any outstanding
securities of the District;

(x) any state Blue Sky or securities commission, or other
governmental agency or body, shall have withheld registration, exemption or

12

45



clearance of the offering of the Bonds as described herein, or issued a stop
order or similar ruling relating thereto;

(xi) any amendment shall have been made to the federal or State
Constitution or action by any federal or State court, legislative body,
regulatory body, or other authority materially adversely affecting the tax
status of the District, its property, income, securities (or interest thereon) or
the validity or enforceability of the levy of taxes to pay principal of and
interest on the Bonds;

(xii) any event occurring, or information becoming known which, in
the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, makes untrue in any material
adverse respect any statement or information contained in the Official
Statement, or has the effect that the Official Statement contains any untrue
statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and, in either
such event, the District refuses to permit the Official Statement to be
supplemented to supply such statement or information, or the effect of the
Official Statement as so supplemented is to materially adversely affect the
market price or marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriter to
enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds; or

(xiii) the purchase of and payment for the Bonds by the Underwriter,
or the resale of the Bonds by the Underwriter, on the terms and conditions
herein provided shall be prohibited by any applicable law, governmental
authority, board, agency or commission.

(e) Delivery of Documents. At or prior to the Closing Date, the

Underwriter shall receive sufficient copies of the following documents in each case

dated

as of the Closing Date and satisfactory in form and substance to the

Underwriter:

DWK DMS 3383633v1

(i Opinions.

(A) Opinion of Bond Counsel. (I) An approving opinion of
Bond Counsel, as to the validity and tax-exempt status of the Bonds,
dated the Closing Date, addressed to the District, in substantially the
form set forth in Appendix A of the Preliminary Official Statement and
the Official Statement and (II) a reliance letter from Bond Counsel to
the effect that the Underwriter may rely upon such approving opinion
of Bond Counsel.

(B) Supplemental Opinions of Bond Counsel. Supplemental
opinions of Bond Counsel in form and substance satisfactory to the
Underwriter, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriter,
to the effect that:

(1) the description of the Bonds and the security for
the Bonds and statements in the Official Statement on the
cover page thereof and under the captions "INTRODUCTION,"
“THE BONDS,” “TAX MATTERS,” “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE”
and “APPENDIX A - Form of Bond Counsel Opinion” to the

13

4



DWK DMS 3383633v1

extent they purport to summarize certain provisions of the
Bonds, the Resolution, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement,
and the form and content of Bond Counsel’s approving opinion
with respect to the Bonds, fairly and accurately summarize the
matters purported to be summarized therein; provided further
that Bond Counsel need not express any opinion with respect to
any financial or statistical data, or information concerning The
Depository Trust Company or related to its book-entry-only
system [or the Insurer];

(2) assuming due authorization, execution and
delivery by the other parties thereto, the Continuing Disclosure
Agreement, the Paying Agent Agreement, and this Purchase
Agreement have each been duly authorized, executed and
delivered by the respective parties thereto and constitute legal,
valid and binding agreements of the District, enforceable in
accordance with their respective terms, except as enforcement
thereof may be Ilimited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other laws relating to or
affecting generally the enforcement of creditors’ rights and
except as their enforcement may be subject to the application
of equitable principles and the exercise of judicial discretion in
appropriate cases if equitable remedies are sought and by the
limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the
State; and

(3) the Bonds are exempt from registration pursuant
to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Resolution
is exempt from qualification as an indenture pursuant to the
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

(© Disclosure Counsel Opinion. The opinion of Dannis
Woliver Kelley, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the District
and the Underwriter, substantially to the effect that based on such
counsel’'s participation in conferences with the Underwriter, the
financial advisor to the District, the District and others, during which
conferences the contents of the Preliminary Official Statement and
related matters were discussed, and in reliance thereon and on the
records, documents, certificates and opinions described therein, such
counsel advises the District that during the course of its engagement
as Disclosure Counsel no information came to the attention of such
counsel’s attorneys rendering legal services in connection with such
representation which caused such counsel to believe that the
Preliminary Official Statement, as of its date, Official Statement as of
its date and as of the Closing Date (except for any financial or
statistical data or forecasts, numbers, charts, estimates, projections,
assumptions or expressions of opinion, Appendices [B, C, E and F], or
any information about DTC or its book-entry-only system f[or the
Insurer] included therein, as to which such counsel need express no
opinion or view) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or
omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

14
4



DWK DMS 3383633vl

(D) Underwriter’ Counsel Opinion. The opinion of Kutak
Rock LLP, counsel to the Underwriter, in form and substance
acceptable to the Underwriter.

(ii) District Certificates. A certificate signed by appropriate officials
of the District to the effect that (A) such officials are authorized to execute
this Purchase Agreement; (B)the representations, agreements and
warranties of the District herein are true and correct in all material respects
as of the Closing Date; (C) the District has complied with all the terms of the
Legal Documents to be complied with by the District prior to or concurrently
with the Closing and such documents are in full force and effect; (D) to the
best of the District’s knowledge, no litigation is pending or threatened (either
in State or federal courts) (i) seeking to restrain or enjoin the execution, sale
or delivery of any of the Bonds, (ii) in any way contesting or affecting the
authority for the execution, sale or delivery of the Bonds or the Legal
Documents or (iii) in any way contesting the existence or powers of the
District; (E) such District officials have reviewed the Preliminary Official
Statement and the Official Statement and on such basis certify that the
Preliminary Official Statement, as of its date, and the Official Statement, as of
its date and as of the Closing Date, does not contain any untrue statement of
a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made,
not misleading (excluding therefrom information regarding DTC and its
book-entry only system); (F) the Bonds being delivered on the Closing Date
to the Underwriter under this Purchase Agreement substantially conform to
the descriptions thereof contained in the Resolution; and (G) no event
concerning the District has occurred since the date of the Official Statement
which has not been disclosed therein or in any supplement thereto, but
should be disclosed in order to make the statements in the Official Statement
in light of the circumstances in which they were made not misleading.

(iii) Paying Agent Certificate. A certificate of the Paying Agent,
signed by a duly authorized officer thereof, and in form and substance
satisfactory to the Underwriter, substantially to the effect that, to the best of
Paying Agent’s knowledge, no litigation is pending or threatened (either in
state or federal courts) (A) seeking to restrain or enjoin the delivery by the
Paying Agent of any of the Bonds, or (B) in any way contesting or affecting
any authority of the Paying Agent for the delivery of the Bonds or the validity
or enforceability of the Bonds or any agreement with the Paying Agent.

(iv) Tax Certificate. A non-arbitrage tax certificate of the District in
form satisfactory to Bond Counsel.

(v) Ratings. Evidence satisfactory to the Underwriter that the
Bonds have been rated *____ " by Standard & Poor’s Global Ratings, a business
unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC ("S&P"), [in reliance upon the
issuance of the Policy by the Insurer, and *___ " by S&P without regards to
the Policy], and that such ratings have not been revoked or downgraded.

(vi) District Resolution. A certificate, together with a fully executed

copy of the Resolution, of the Secretary to or the Clerk of the District’s Board
of Education to the effect that:

15

Tt



(A) such copy is a true and correct copy of the Resolution;
and

(B) the Resolution was duly adopted and has not been
modified, amended, rescinded or revoked and is in full force and effect
on the Closing Date.

(vii) Official Statement. A certificate of the appropriate official of
the District evidencing his or her determinations respecting the Preliminary
Official Statement in accordance with the Rule.

(viii) Continuing Disclosure Agreement. An executed copy of the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement, substantially in the form presented in the
Official Statement as Appendix D thereto.

(ix) Paying Agent Agreement. An executed copy of the Paying
Agent Agreement.

(x) Proposition 39 and Bonding Capacity Certificate: A certificate of
the appropriate official of the District evidencing projections of tax rates not
to exceed $60 per $100,000 of assessed valuation and evidencing compliance
with bonding capacity limitations.

(xi) Form 8038-G. Evidence that the federal tax information form
8038-G has been prepared by Bond Counsel for filing.

(xii) [Policy. The Policy issued by the Insurer, together with such
certificates and opinions from the Insurer as Bond ' Counsel and the
Underwriter may reasonably request.]

(xiii) CDIAC Statements. A copy of the filings with the California
Debt and Investment Advisory Commission pursuant to the applicable
provisions of the California Government Code.

(xiv) Other Documents. Such additional legal opinions, certificates,
proceedings, instruments and other documents as the Underwriter may
reasonably request to evidence: (A) compliance by the District with legal
requirements; (B) the truth and accuracy, as of the time of Closing, of the
representations of the District herein contained and of the Official Statement;
and (C) the due performance or satisfaction by the District at or prior to such
time of all agreements then to be performed and all conditions then to be
satisfied by the District.

(f) Termination. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein
contained, if for any reason whatsoever the Bonds shall not have been delivered by
the District to the Underwriter as provided in Section 7 hereof, then the obligation to
purchase Bonds hereunder shall terminate and be of no further force or effect except
with respect to the obligations of the District and the Underwriter under Section 15
hereof.

If the District shall be unable to satisfy the conditions to the Underwriter’s obligations

contained in this Purchase Agreement or if the Underwriter’s obligations shall be terminated
for any reason permitted by this Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement may be

16

9

DWK DMS 3383633v1



cancelled by the Underwriter at, or at any time prior to, the time of Closing. Notice of such
cancellation shall be given to the District in writing, or by telephone or telegraph, confirmed
in writing. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the performance of any
and all obligations of the District hereunder and the performance of any and all conditions
contained herein for the benefit of the Underwriter may be waived by the Underwriter in
writing in its sole discretion.

Section 12. Conditions to Obligations of the District. The performance by the
District of its obligations is conditioned upon (a) the performance by the Underwriter of their
obligations hereunder, and (b) receipt by the District and the Underwriter of opinions and
certificates being delivered at the Closing by persons and entities other than the District.

Section 13. Expenses. Except as herein described, all expenses and costs of the
District incident to the performance of its obligations in connection with the authorization,
execution, sale and delivery of the Bonds to the Underwriter shall be paid for by the District
from proceeds of the Bonds including, without limitation: (a) the cost of the preparation and
reproduction of the Resolution; (b) the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel and
Disclosure Counsel; (c) the cost of the preparation, printing and delivery of the Bonds;
(d) the fees for Bond ratings, including all necessary travel expenses; (e) the cost of the
printing and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement; (f) the
initial fees of the Paying Agent; (g) the fees and disbursements of the District’s financial
advisor; (h) expenses for travel, lodging, and subsistence related to rating agency visits and
other meetings connected to the authorization, sale, issuance, and distribution of the
Bonds; and (i) all other fees and expenses incident to the issuance and sale of the Bonds.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the Underwriter shall pay all out-of-pocket
expenses of the Underwriter, including the fees and disbursements of Underwriter's
Counsel, the California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission fee, and CUSIP Bureau
registration fees, travel and other expenses (except those expressly provided above),
without limitation.

Notwithstanding Section 11(f) hereof, the District hereby agrees, in the event the
purchase and sale of the Bonds does not occur as contemplated hereunder, to reimburse
the Underwriter for any costs described in Subsection 13(h) above that are attributable to
District personnel.

The District acknowledges that it has had an opportunity, in consultation with such
advisors as it may deem appropriate, if any, to evaluate and consider the fees and expenses
being incurred as part of the issuance of the Bonds.

Section 14. Notices. Any notice or other communication to be given under this
Purchase Agreement (other than the acceptance hereof as specified in the first paragraph
hereof) may be given by delivering the same in writing if to the District, to the
Superintendent at the address set forth on the first page hereof, or if to the Underwriter, to
the Underwriter, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, One Montgomery Street, 35
Floor, San Francisco, California 94104, Attention: Bruce Kerns, Managing Director.

Section 15. Parties in Interest; Survival of Representations and Warranties.
This Purchase Agreement when accepted by the District in writing as heretofore specified
shall constitute the entire agreement between the District and the Underwriter. This
Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the District and the Underwriter
(including the successors or assigns of the Underwriter). The term “successor” shall not
include any owner of any Bonds merely by virtue of such ownership. No other person shall

17

So

DWK DMS 3383633v1



acquire or have any rights hereunder or by virtue hereof. All representations, warranties
and agreements of the District in this Purchase Agreement shall survive regardless of (a)
any investigation or any statement in respect thereof made by or on behalf of the
Underwriter, (b) delivery of and payment by the Underwriter for the Bonds hereunder, and
(c) any termination of this Purchase Agreement. If any provision of this Purchase
Agreement is, or is held or deemed to be, invalid, iilegal or unenforceable for any reason,
the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any
way be affected or impaired thereby.

Section 16. Severability. In the event any provision of this Purchase Agreement
shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding
shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof.

Section 17. Nonassignment. Notwithstanding anything stated to the contrary
herein, neither party hereto may assign or transfer its interest herein, or delegate or
transfer any of its obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the other
party hereto.

Section 18. Entire Agreement. This Purchase Agreement, when executed by the
parties hereto, shall constitute the entire agreement of the parties hereto (including their
permitted successors and assigns, respectively).

18

= |

DWK DMS 3383633v1



Section 19. Execution in Counterparts. This Purchase Agreement may be
executed in several counterparts each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of
which shall constitute but one and the same document.

Section 20. Applicable Law. This Purchase Agreement shall be interpreted,
governed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State applicable to contracts
made and performed in such State.

Very truly yours,
STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY,

INCORPORATED, as Underwriter

By

Managing Director

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted
at P.M. Pacific Time, this day
of , 2019:

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

By

Superintendent

S-1
S

DWK DMS 3383633v1



APPENDIX A

INTEREST RATES, REOFFERING YIELDS, MATURITIES, AND
REDEMPTION PROVISIONS

$[PAR AMOUNT]
Hamilton Unified School District
(Glenn County, California)
General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series A

Hold the
Offering
Price
Maturity Principal Interest 10% Rule
(August 1) Amount Rate Yield Price Sold Applies
$ % Term Bonds due August 1, 20__; Yield %:; Price %

€ Priced to the par call on August 1, 20__.

Optional Redemption

The Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 20__ are not subject to
redemption prior to maturity. The Bonds maturing on or after August 1, 20__ may
be redeemed, in whole or in part, before maturity at the option of the District, from
any source of available funds, on any date on or after August 1, 20__, at a
redemption price of par, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

A-1

DWK DMS 3383633v1



Mandatory Redemption

The Bonds maturing August 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption on August 1 of each Mandatory Sinking Fund Payment Date and in the
respective principal amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption
price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed plus accrued interest
thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium:

Mandatory Sinking Fund

Payment Date Principal Amount to
(August 1) be Redeemed
$

1

W Maturity.

In the event that a portion of the Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, is
optionally redeemed prior to maturity, the remaining mandatory sinking fund
payments shown above shall be reduced proportionately, or as otherwise directed by
the District, in integral multiples of $5,000 principal amount of such Bonds optionally
redeemed.

A-2

oY

DWK DMS 3383633v1



APPENDIX B

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE
$[PAR AMOUNT]

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A

CERTIFICATE OF THE UNDERWRITER

This certificate is being delivered by Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated
(the “Underwriter”) in connection with the issuance of $[PAR AMOUNT] Hamilton
Unified School District, General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series A (the
“Bonds”). The Underwriter hereby makes the representations, and provides the
certifications, contained in this certificate based on the information available to it
concerning the Bonds to the Hamilton Unified School District ("District”) and Dannis
Woliver Kelley Bond Counsel to the District ("Bond Counsel”), as follows:

1. Bond Purchase Agreement. On , 2019 (the “Sale Date”), the
Underwriter and the District executed a Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) in connection with the sale of the Bonds. The Underwriter has not
modified the Purchase Agreement since its execution on the Sale Date.

2. Price.

[(@)] As of the date of this Certificate, for each [Maturity] [of the

Maturities] of the Bonds, the first price or prices at which at least 10%

of [each] such Maturity of the Bonds was sold to the Public (the “10% Test”) are the
respective prices listed in Attachment A attached hereto.

[(b) With respect to each of the Maturities of the Bonds:

) As of the date of this Bond, the Underwriter has not sold at
least 10% of the Bonds of these Maturities at any price or prices.

(ii) As of the date of this Bond, the Underwriter reasonably expects
that the first sale to the Public of Bonds of these Maturities will be at or below
the respective price or prices listed on the attached Attachment A as the
“Reasonably Expected Sale Prices for Undersold Maturities.”

(iii) The Underwriter will provide actual sales information
(substantially similar to the information contained on Attachment B) as to the

B-1

]

DWK DMS 3383633v1



price or prices at which the first 10% of each such Maturity (i.e., the
Undersold Maturity or Maturities) is sold to the Pubilic.

(iv) On the date the 10% Test is satisfied with respect to all
Maturities of the Bonds, the Underwriter will execute a supplemental
certificate substantially in the form attached hereto as Attachment C with
respect to any remaining Maturities for which the 10% Test has not been
satisfied as of the Closing Date.]

3. Certain Defined Terms.

Capitalized terms used in this certificate, unless otherwise defined herein or in
the resolution of the Board of Education of the District adopted on , 2019,
(“District Resolution”), shall have the meaning(s) given to such terms in the Tax
Certificate provided in connection with the execution and delivery of the Bonds.

(a) [“General Rule Maturities” means those Maturities of the Bonds listed
in Schedule A hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.”

(b) “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities” means those Maturities of the
Bonds listed in Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.”

(© “Holding Period” means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price
Maturity, the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the
close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which the
Underwriter has sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the
Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturity.]

(d) “Maturity” means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.
Bonds with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but
different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities.

(e) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate,
partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a
related party to an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this
certificate generally means any two or more persons who have greater than 50
percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

(f) “Underwriter” means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead Underwriter to form an underwriting
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any
person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person
described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds
to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

4, Use of Certificate. The representations set forth in this certificate are
limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the
Underwriter’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations
thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be
relied upon by the District with respect to certain of the representations set forth in

B-2

SG

DWK DMS 3383633vl



the Tax Certificate of the District dated , 2019, and with respect to
compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Bond
Counsel, in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the
Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that
Bond Counsel may give to the District from time to time relating to the Bonds.

Dated: , 2019 STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY,
INCORPORATED

By:

Managing Director

By:

Managing Director

B-3

57

DWK DMS 3383633v1



ATTACHMENT “A"”

$[PAR AMOUNT]
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A

Sale Prices of the General Rule Maturities
And
Initial Offering Prices of the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities

Hold the

Offering

Maturity Principal Interest Price Rule
(August 1) Amount Rate Yield Price 10% Sold Applies

C= Priced to initial par call = 1, 20

B-4

55"

DWK DMS 3383633v1



ATTACHMENT B
Pricing Wire or Equivalent Communication

[To be attached]

B-5

ST

DWK DMS 3383633vi



ay ojjers o buy them be accepiea, prior o the rime

TS Frefiiminary Ujficiat diatement and Ihe InfJormation coniainea nerein are Supject 1o completion or amenament. 1nese securities may noi ve sold, nor m

on of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of,

the Official Statement is delivered in final form. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or the solicitati

these securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration, qual

ification or filing under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED MAY 29, 2019

NEW ISSUE - BOOK ENTRY ONLY RATING:
S&P:; « .
(See “RATING” herein.)

In the opinion of Dannis Woliver Kelley, Bond Counsel to the District, under existing law, interest on the Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes of the
State of California, and, assuming continuing compliance after the date of initial delivery of the Bonds with certain covenants contained in the Resolution
authorizing the Bonds and subject to the matters set forth under "TAX MATTERS" herein, interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes under
existing statutes, regulations, published rulings, and court decisions will be excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof pursuant to section 103 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date of initial delivery of the Bonds, and will not be included in computing the alternative minimum
taxable income of the owners thereof. The District has designated the Bonds as "qualified tax-exempt obligations” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of
the Code. See "TAX MATTERS” and “BANK QUALIFICATION" herein.

$2,200,000
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
(Glenn County, California)
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS,
2018 Election, 2019 SERIES A
(Bank Qualified)

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: August 1, as shown on inside cover.

The Hamilton Unified School District (Glenn County, California) General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series A (the
“Bonds”™) are being issued by the Hamilton Unified School District (the “District”) to (i) finance the acquisition, construction, furnishing and
equipping of District facilities, and (ii) pay certain costs of issuance associated therewith, as more fully described herein under the caption
“THE PROJECTS.” The Bonds were authorized at an election within the District held on November 6, 2018 (the “Election™) at which at
least fifty-five percent of the registered voters voting on the proposition voted to authorize the issuance and sale of $7,000,000 aggregate
principal amount of general obligation bonds of the District (the “2018 Authorization”). The Bonds are the first series of general obligation
bonds issued under the Authorization and are issued on a parity basis with all other outstanding general obligation bonds of the District.

The Bonds are general obligations of the District only and are not obligations of the County of Glenn (the “County™), the State of
California, or any of its other political subdivisions. The Board of Supervisors of the County has the power and is obligated to levy and
collect ad valorem property taxes without limitation as to rate or amount (except as to certain personal property which is taxable at limited
rates), for each fiscal year upon the taxable property of the District in an amount at least sufficient, together with other moneys available for
such purpose, to pay the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on each Bond as the same becomes due and payable.

Interest on the Bonds is payable on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing February 1, 2020. See “THE BONDS”’
herein.

The Bonds will be issued in book-entry form only, in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. The Bonds will be
initially registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). Purchasers will not receive
certificates representing their interests in the Bonds. Payments on the Bonds will be made by The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as Paying Agent, to DTC for subsequent disbursement to DTC Participants who will remit such payments to the beneficial
owners of the Bonds. See “THE BONDS — Book-Entry Only System.”

The District has applied for a policy of insurance to guarantee the scheduled payment of principal and interest on the Bonds when
due under a municipal bond insurance policy to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds.

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein. See “THE BONDS — Redemption” herein.

MATURITY SCHEDULE
On Inside Cover

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A
SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE. INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN
INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.

The Bonds will be offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter subject to the approval of legality by Dannis
Woliver Kelley, Long Beach, California, Bond Counsel, and certain other conditions. Dannis Woliver Kelley, Long Beach, California, is
acting as Disclosure Counsel for the District. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter by Kutak Rock LLP, Denver,
Colorado. It is anticipated that the Bonds will be available for delivery in definitive form in New York, New York, through the facilities of
DTC on or about June , 20/9.

STIFEL

The Date of this Official Statement is June __, 2019.

* Preliminary; subject to change.

(oo



MATURITY SCHEDULE

$
Hamilton Unified School District
(Glenn County, California)
General Obligation Bonds,
2018 Election, 2019 Series A

Maturity Principal Interest CUSIP'
(August 1) Amount Rate Yield ( )
$ % Term Bonds due August 1, 20__; Yield %, CUSIP'

! Copyright 2019, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed by S&P Capital IQ on
behalf of The American Bankers Association. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the

CUSIP Service. The CUSIP number is provided for convenience of reference only. Neither the District nor the Underwriter take any

responsibility for the accuracy of such CUSIP number.

o}



No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the Hamilton Unified School
District (the “District”) to provide any information or to make any representations other than as contained
herein and, if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by the District. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell, the solicitation of an
offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by a person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for
such person to make such an offer, solicitation or sale.

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds.
Statements contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion,
whether or not expressly described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as a
representation of facts.

The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither
delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the District since the date hereof. Although certain
information set forth in this Official Statement has been provided by the County of Glenn, the County of Glenn
has not approved this Official Statement and is not responsible for the accuracy or completeness of the
statements contained in this Official Statement except for the information set forth under the caption “THE
GLENN COUNTY POOLED INVESTMENT FUND.”

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. “The
Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.”

In connection with this offering, the Underwriter may over-allot or effect transactions which
stabilize or maintain the market price of the Bonds offered hereby at levels above those that might
otherwise prevail in the open market. Such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain securities dealers, institutional investors, banks
or others at prices lower or higher than the public offering prices stated on the inside cover page hereof
and said public offering prices may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter.

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Bonds referred to herein and
may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose.

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in reliance upon exceptions therein for the issuance and sale of municipal
securities. The Bonds have not been registered or qualified under the securities laws of any state.

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information and expressions of opinion
contained in this Official Statement are subject to change without notice. Neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale of the Bonds will, under any circumstances, give rise to any implication that there has
been no change in the affairs of the District, the County of Glenn, the other parties described in this Official
Statement, or the condition of the property within the District since the date of this Official Statement.

The District maintains a website. However, the information presented there is not part of this Official
Statement and should not be relied upon in making an investment decision with respect to the Bonds.

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Bonds referred to herein and
may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose.

o2



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Glenn County, State of California

Board of Trustees

Gabriel Leal, President
Hubert “Wendall” Lower, Clerk
Rod Boone, Trustee
Ray Odom, Trustee
Genaro Reyes, Trustee

District Administrators

Charles Tracy, Superintendent'
Diane Holliman, Chief Business Official

SPECIAL SERVICES

Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel

Dannis Woliver Kelley
Long Beach, California

Financial Advisor

Isom Advisors, a Division of Urban Futures Incorporated
Walnut Creek, California

Paying Agent, Transfer Agent and Registration Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
Dallas, Texas

Superintendent Tracy intends to retire at the end of fiscal year 2018-19. See “HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL
DSITRICT - Changes in Executive Management” herein.

o3



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
INTRODUCGTION.......couitiuiviiteesissiessensessasessasssseseesesssessssssssssssassassnsesssssssessessessssssanssssasssssnssssseessssssessessass 1
REBISITALION ....vceiceeeiiriarueeernoreraeeeeeonmne oo ubsesesius sma oo 4R850 4 RS0 6 43 4 G4 B S S ANH S 1
THE DISLIICE ... eererereerereeneene e e ve o S s S B B i eSS oS S S5 1
Sources of Payment for the BONdS ..........ciivcveirierieiiisrnieseessresssssssesssssssssssessssssssssssessesssesssessnsesas 2
CoNtINUING DISCIOSUTE ....vviiieiririertieeiiresiteiiesesieseseeersesraeeae e sseesbeasaassasssassesasessesssssssessrasssssnssneraes 2
Bank QUalified .......cc..coo e s s R T e TR e e 2
Professionals Involved in the Offering........cocceveiieieircieiiiiieiieie e ers s s sae e sse e e ens 2
Forward LOOKING STALEIMENLS ......cccoevieiiieetiiieiieesieesneeiseeiusessseeessssessasnsssnsesessesssssssesnsesasesasessnsesns 2
CLOSINE DAL .....coeemerereranenenien e eone e et ionsssa s sy s 630 NS PR SRS ST Fowauies 3
THE BONDS ...t oeirrtrtrtsenienns e eveee e s senssre oS oo s o vt 008 o saSsm s W s s S e vt e os 3
AULhOTILY fOT ISSUAIICE .....couveteiereeeececeteierecsace e e ene e e sra e e s srae e s e ess e aesansas s ansesase s snnraasanasesnnns 3
PUIPOSE OF ISSUC.......ueoreeeeeircveeennnesuees e omiisais sisanssninsss sasssoshans soass sasueiainiaseassn smsviNssRs s s H S aa s 3
Description of the Bonds s s weisis i mississivesssssomsiassiisive s ssma sossmasisssoass i riingm 3
BOOK-ENtry Only SYSEEIM .....cveiiviiieiieecieiieiiiieiieiteicse st esssssssesssesssesssesss s ansssasssesasssssnsssssaasssnsssnnns 3
Payment 0f the BONAS.........coiiiieeeeertt ettt a e s sen s seeeme s ens =
REAEIMIPHION «.coee e S ST S e S S N R G ¥ S e ST 4
Selection of Bonds for REAEMPLION .....cvvereiieiiiiiiiiceiiiseiteeccieec e ceinesnsesssssanescnsessessasasanesaesms s 5
Notice Of REAEMPLION ...coeieiieieiieciee ettt ree e sae e s s s e sresra s b s baessnssness s tesbaassssunesaans 5
Effect of Notice 0f REAEMPLION ....vviiiviiveiiiiiiiiiic ittt it ceiss e asie s sias s s s s rs s e ssba s esaasenaans 5
Right to Rescind Notice of RedempPtion..........cceieriiiieiiieieitiiescnesie et sresssss e sseessesassness 5
Transfer and EXCHange ........ccooieoiiiiiieeeeststet e e et re e sr e sra e s e sre e smn e ne s e ssassanenness 6
DEBASANCE. ....ccveriaierirererirenteeerenssaneesnevos vebiaimsss e sas oo S SRS 55  rESa R S o SEA S s 6
Continuing DiSCIOSUIre AZIEEMENL ........eivvverreerieeerriierirerereresrerssseissesresassseasesssmeessissaeesasssasesasssness 6
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ... oceitireeeesiesieseessesseseessessessssseesessssessesssssssessssssanssnsssmsssssasessens 7
APPLICAtION OF PrOCEEAS .....veiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceecnite et ccvs e vaee s baeeas s seesaa e ansesaeesbneanes e ssbsessbeesbesbns 7
DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE ........ s s tssdimmss sore oo s iisissevess s wassdssvsbissnsiness 8
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS .......ccuauiiiminesisiiimassissimimiossimssisisianienivismmsmiassiiiain 10
GEINETAL ...eveiieiieriesteeesestesseeeseessesasassasssasssasssesssaeasseassessesesensnerseassanabssanssssraeensasnsannassrasensarananss 10
Property Taxation SYStEIML .....c.cceeririirieriieciene ettt st e 10
Restrictions on use of 4d Valorem Taxes and Statutory Lien on Debt Service .......ccceeevveivirinnnn. 10
Pledge Of Tax REVEIUES .....oeevveiiiiicieecie s rceeceseceete et sree s e s rsesraesseesveesanesnesmsssmsesasesssassnsens 11
THE PROJECTS ......coieieiereereirernrereesssseesesseasiaseossossorssesssssessnassesessessassassasonsesesassessesoresessosasssssssnsssasitsne 11
TAX BASE FOR REPAYMENT OF THE BONDS ......ooiiiiiiiiiiiiianiririeiee i sies et sesseesssesas e neasaean 11
Ad Valorem Property TaXatioN........ccccveeeirerireisesrsesesesssassssssssssssssssssssssssessssssessssnsssssssasssessassssssees 11
ASSESSEA VAIUALIONS ....cuviiiiieiiieciee et et e et s ee s sane e saseesnesenaeesbe s s s e snaesanesanessbassnaesanen 12
Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Valuations ........ccccoueeeiviniienseninnieieinnnnimesssssieen 13
Assessed Valuation by Land USE ......cc.vviereiiniiienniiiiiiiiiisiciesssss e ssiasssssssinassnsssassssssssssssssssns 15
Assessed Valuation of Single Family HOMES.......co.cevveiniiinineiniieeirnieneesresnresreseeesesssaneseseens 16
Largest TAXPAYETS ......cooouereneemsiasmissseses st s ensssaiossii sresa i vsssidissusssassieiasmisasnsasresissssasasss 17
TaX RALES . ccuvrrererronerermeeeonnonen e  (ERERHES a5 Ga oo e SR ST T e R N R B S S R 18
THE TEEET PLaAN ...t ea e st ems e snsmn e sreesaesbe e e sbesasamssenesrass 18
Direct and Overlapping Debt......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiii i e a s 19
DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION.......c.ceriieirrreereneenteieneesiansasssesessasssessssssssarasassssssstessessansansas 20
State Funding of EAUCAtION ......cccciiiiiiiiiiiisrecississss e ssis e et aesan e s sn s snsn e nssesnensnnes 20
REVENUE SOUICES ...cooecvveeermeaeene e cimppsnsneissiins vsason s miwssisss s asne Eoeosi Srass s L EsaossmLRe 7 s SEBRNSTRESTISNHTENR 23
Budget Procedures..........cccoo e it it oo es s s e e e 24
Comparative Financial StatemMeEnts . .....ciiriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiinecise e sessiesssessssssssssaessssssssssssssassssssses 27
ACCOUNNG PractiCeS....eiuieiiriiiiriiiiitiiiiinisissiesse b s s s sre s et sre s b s ssassan et s st esbasbnsrsassnansennns 29
State BUdGet M eaSUres, s umvessisessusssesssmsosios s sasess s semsasss s s s s s s ssimminis ks sai s 29



TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)
Page
CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING DISTRICT
REVENUES wuveississsssissesusnsssssesisns sissionsssessiusses i svvedssaosisasea sovvas ssvomssbovboesid sesmu sviiveli o biamssvissad oo idoiavanss 34
Atrticle XIIIA of the California COnSttULION .......cccceiriiieriiiisiaressreesiesraesresresre e ssnsssnsssmsansneens 34
Legislation Implementing Article XITA ..ot 34
UNItary ProPerty ... cenremenierccenecermerenne e cooe et b sss e v s s bk o idabn s VR s 00 SRR S22 35
Article XIIIB of the California Constitution .........ccceeeiceicereiceeires e sees e aessineae 35
Atrticle XITIC and Article XIIID of the California Constitution............ccceeeeecvecienieniecninssiessnsanee 36
PropoSition 20 . ssisissossssvsvssmsssssisssosisssns svesiosvisadsvsns basos d3a0sssiims sasie s A5SH siasusss savsipssssi b esauisonne 37
Proposition D8 s s s s mmeas Ty a i om s s ae ey AR PSS S oS i om oA s oo 37
Proposition 111 et e e b e a e sebs e b a s 38
Proposition 39................ iwmimissirimeaassssassiassse s issis saess i sessisnsiveis s sasisassssisss s e sessi - v 39
Jarvis v. Connell... uiiiiimiisisnsisissiimisiseimm i i i i i i, . 40
Proposition 1A and Proposition 22..........c.eeveereeereesuieicenissesseesarseessessaessssesesssesnesamessssessesseseanes 40
Proposition 30.........ccceecieeeeineeenes e e biisaaissossanite sosas3sH5 38453554550 500 o4 TS 0344 HEHn ST RO SO HE S onTRORP S SRR RO 41
PropOoSItion 55. ..o oo s e e e L a4 B A s S A e s N 1 42
PrOPOSIEION 51 ..o ceece e e msmenmeramsanissbsasdsa saas 600 adh s oandna 84000 883 a4 A BOGT SFmOsSTORERN GO T PRSI TR o 42
PrOPOSIEION 2.ttt b s a e b e b ame et e sab s et s b e s b s s b s s R b n bR nsen 42
FUture INTHIAtIVES. ...cccveeiieiiriieneereerneesensbvasiinssiasimssseianbbs e ssnanssosts soass siay s 0 undid s s dusiinaiNa B s i e 44
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT .....ccucoieiieeiariinieriesassnessasasssssessesssssssessssssssssessessssssssosssnes 44
Board of EQUCALION. .....ccceoiiieiiecce ettt s sm e e e s b e asssss b e saessnessarasons 44
Changes in Executive Management .........ceuwiueremieeiemnmnimssiemmimsmsie e masssssssssssssssssssssssenss 45
Employees and Labor Relations..........ccocicimiiiiicicricic ittt saa s 45
District Retirement SYSLEIMIS ... .vuveeeerueeeeireieeseersreeeaserssessessseesssnassneesesesamesneasasssearsmsssssasasassnsns 45
Other Post-Employment Benefits.......cccovieieiriuiiiciiieiiiinsissessssisesasessssssssssssssnssessmenmereess 49
Risk ManNagement .........oeeeurevee s divaisitumiainssn i sisssi s sos i aoivsis s asss s e sa s ma o b S s oo oo oo 50
DISLIICE DEDt StIUCIUTE. .. eeeseeeieeeeieseieesesseeseesrieste s e e ime et eesmasseme e s sa e sa s s e eessesbseamtnesbersnesasasentens 51
GLENN COUNTY POOLED INVESTMENT FUND .......cociiiiiiiiiisnierrieesssisssssssssssssessesssssasssessssnssaces 52
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE .......cottiieiiieeeieieie e ceste st et e s et e st ass e s e s se s s ee st seeam e s aeraennes 52
LEGAL MATTERS ...ttt ettt ettt et e s e s e et s n e s a e b s b e s a e s e n e p e asrb s 53
Limitation on Remedies; Amounts Held in the County Treasury Pool..........cccvireinirecnncuieninnnees 53
SEAOTY LIEN .. comswisinmuissvicsosssiassinssmissshssonssashoiisnssnsonstobsed e sshapssohessshorss et bom sesssias saiustasimnsnsnias oo 54
TAX MATTERS . cisvsissssssacsisivisasssasssvssiosivsssssorabessnssdsasessvsoisvssnions sverss e sdrooved e immoios s d il s oo 54
LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENT .....cooiiiiiisierieietrrinieestsseessesssessesssssssessesssssseessessssssessessesssesmesnsensnssesnses 56
BANK QUALIFICATION........... iiussssansssssnssiisstossss s s e s s s pinsss eissrnsss « 56
RATING ..o neeerenennne e oo it e 0 o 0 s s G T S s N TN s s o 57
UNDERWRITING....... cormsmsegsessssmmneeeeereseesaasorareosasrererers esissatssnios Saniosss s masiaoraoassvin oo vas savsnsbeastibie 57
NO LITTIGATION .....oiecteieeieeeieesiienreseeeeeeeestateaeesteeeneeesesssssassessasassasssssnsssssssesssssessessassssssssssssesasssnasse s 57
OTHER INFORMATION...ccvcssiuassnssvcervoveravsavsiorsiasaivsisssssssosssssivsnassssosss v somiassd o8 se 0ot sssissussseaiwasssssion - 58
APPENDIX A — FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION ......ccceeiitriirtieienee oo ressrsssasenesnes A-1
APPENDIX B — HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 .......ccccovvvvieneecnnees B-1
APPENDIX C — GENERAL ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION FOR
THE COUNTY OF GLENN ..ottt et eseesba s sanenas C-1
APPENDIX D — FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT .......cccccoinierniiiiiiiins D-1
APPENDIX E — GLENN COUNTY INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT ......cccccccnrenniinninens E-1
APPENDIX F — BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM ...cccuimvesssssssssasssnsssssossiossossssassisassassnsssisassassonss F-1
it



$2,200,000"

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
(Glenn County, California)
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
2018 ELECTION, 2019 SERIES A
(BANK QUALIFIED)

INTRODUCTION

This Introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement. It is only a brief description of and
guide to, and is qualified by, more complete and detailed information contained in the entive Official
Statement, including the cover page, inside cover and appendices hereto, and the documents summarized
or described herein. A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement. The offering of the
Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement.

The Hamilton Unified School District (the “District”) proposes to issue $2,200,000" aggregate
principal amount of its General Obligation Bonds, 2018 Election, 2019 Series A (the “Bonds™) under and
pursuant to a bond authorization (the “2018 Authorization™) for the issuance and sale of not more than
$7,000,000 of general obligation bonds approved by 55% or more of the qualified voters of the District
voting on the proposition at a general election held on November 6, 2018 (the “Election”). Subsequent to
the issuance of the Bonds, $4,800,000" general obligation bonds will remain for issuance pursuant to the
2018 Authorization.

Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to finance the acquisition, construction,
furnishing and equipping of District facilities and to pay certain costs of issuance associated therewith.
See “THE PROJECTS” herein.

Registration

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. will act as the initial registrar, transfer
agent and paying agent for the Bonds (the “Paying Agent”). As long as The Depository Trust Company,
New York, New York (“DTC”) is the registered owner of the Bonds and DTC’s book entry-method is
used for the Bonds, the Paying Agent will send any notice of redemption or other notices to owners only
to DTC. See “THE BONDS — Description of the Bonds” herein.

The District

The District was established on July 1, 2009 upon the unification of Hamilton High School
District and Hamilton Elementary School District. The District is located in Glenn County (the
“County”), approximately 10 miles west of the City of Chico in the northwest portion of the County. The
District is located in Hamilton City and serves the communities of Hamilton City, Ord Bend, and Capay.
The District operates one elementary school providing kindergarten through eighth grade education
services, and one high school serving grades nine through twelve. The District also operates two
community day schools, one continuation high school, one preschool and an adult education program.
The average daily attendance (“ADA”) for the District for fiscal year 2018-19 is estimated to be 692
students and the District has a 2018-19 assessed valuation of $367,064,522. The audited financial
statements for the District for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 are attached hereto as APPENDIX B.
For further information concerning the District, see the caption “HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL
DISTRICT” herein.

* Preliminary; subject to change.

o



Sources of Payment for the Bonds

The Bonds are general obligations of the District payable solely from ad valorem property taxes.
The Board of Supervisors of the County is empowered and obligated to annually levy ad valorem
property taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount
(except certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates), for the payment of principal and
interest on the Bonds when due. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “TAX BASE FOR
REPAYMENT OF THE BONDS” herein.

Continuing Disclosure

The District has covenanted that it will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement executed by the District in connection with the Bonds. See “THE
BONDS - Continuing Disclosure Agreement,” “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein and APPENDIX
D — “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” hereto.

Bank Qualified

The District has designated the Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt obligations,” thereby allowing
certain financial institutions that are holders of such qualified tax-exempt obligations to deduct a portion
of such institution’s interest expense allocable to such qualified tax-exempt obligations, all as determined
in accordance with Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Professionals Involved in the Offering

Dannis Woliver Kelley, Long Beach, California, is acting as Bond Counsel and Disclosure
Counsel to the District with respect to the Bonds. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,
Dallas, Texas, is acting as registrar, transfer agent and paying agent for the Bonds. Isom Advisors, a
Division of Urban Futures Incorporated, San Francisco, California, is acting as Financial Advisor to the
District in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. Kutak Rock LLP, Denver, Colorado, is acting as
counsel to the Underwriter with respect to the Bonds. Dannis Woliver Kelley, The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., and Isom Advisors, a Division of Urban Futures Incorporated will receive
compensation from the District contingent upon the sale and delivery of the Bonds. Kutak Rock LLP will
receive compensation from the Underwriter contingent upon the sale and delivery of the Bonds.

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
Section 27A of the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Such statements are generally
identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,” “budget” or other
similar words. Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, certain statements
contained in the information regarding the District herein. THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN
RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER
FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS
DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS,
PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS. THE DISTRICT DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR

2

]



REVISIONS TO THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS SET FORTH IN THIS OFFICIAL
STATEMENT.

Closing Date

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued, subject to approval as to their legality by Bond
Counsel. It is anticipated that the Bonds in book-entry form will be available for delivery through the
facilities of DTC on or about June , 2019.

THE BONDS

Authority for Issuance

The Bonds are general obligations of the District. The Bonds are being issued by the District
under the provisions of Title 5, Division 2, Part 1, Chapter 3, Article 4.5 of the Government Code of the
State of California (the “Government Code™) (commencing with Section 53506) and pursuant to a
resolution of the Board of Trustees of the District (the “Board”) adopted on May 22, 2019 (the
“Resolution”).

Purpose of Issue

The net proceeds of the Bonds will be used to finance certain capital improvements for the
District as specified in the District bond proposition submitted at the Election, which includes acquisition
of land and facilities, improvement and modernization of classrooms and school facilities, improvement
to health and safety including lighting and fire suppression systems, and upgrades and modernization to
agricultural facilities. See “THE PROJECTS” herein.

Description of the Bonds

The Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will be issued only as fully registered bonds in
denominations of $5,000 principal amount or integral multiples thereof.

The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form and, when issued, will be registered in the name
of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New
York (“DTC”). DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. So long as Cede & Co. is the
registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Owners or registered owners
shall mean Cede & Co. as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners (as defined herein) of the
Bonds.

Book-Entry Only System

The Bonds will be issued under a book-entry system, evidencing ownership of the Bonds in
denominations of $5,000 Principal Amount or integral multiples thereof, with no physical distribution of
Bonds made to the public. DTC will act as depository for the Bonds, which will be immobilized in their
custody. The Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. For further
information regarding DTC and the book entry system, see APPENDIX F hereto.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, principal of and interest or premium,
if any, on the Bonds are payable by wire transfer or New York Clearing House or by wire transfer of
same day funds by The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Paying Agent, to Cede &
Co., as nominee for DTC. DTC is obligated, in turn, to remit such amounts to the DTC Participants (as

3

&



defined herein) for subsequent disbursement to the Beneficial Owners. See APPENDIX F -
“BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” herein.

Payment of the Bonds

Interest on the Bonds is payable commencing February 1, 2020, and semiannually thereafter on
February 1 and August 1 of each year (each, an “Interest Payment Date”). The Bonds shall be issued in
fully registered form, without coupons, in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.

Interest on each Bond shall accrue from its dated date at the interest rates applicable thereto as set
forth on the inside cover page hereof. Interest shall be computed using a year of 360 days comprised of
twelve 30-day months and shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date to the Owner thereof as of the
close of business on the fifteenth calendar day of the month next preceding an Interest Payment Date (the
“Record Date”). Interest will be payable from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of
registration thereof, unless (i) it is registered prior to the close of business on January 15, 2020, in which
event interest shall be payable from its Dated Date; provided, however, that if at the time of registration of
any Bond interest with respect thereto is in default, interest with respect thereto shall be payable from the
Interest Payment Date to which interest has previously been paid or made available for payment.
Payments of interest will be made on each Interest Payment Date by check or draft sent by first-class
mail, postage prepaid, to the Owner thereof on the Record Date, or by wire transfer to any Owner of
$1,000,000 or more of such Bonds, to the account specified by such Owner in a written request delivered
to the Paying Agent on or prior to the Record Date for such Interest Payment Date; provided, however,
that payments of defaulted interest shall be payable to the person in whose name such Bond is registered
at the close of business on a special record date fixed therefor by the Paying Agent which shall not be
more than 15 days and not less than ten days prior to the date of the proposed payment of defaulted
interest.

Redemption”

Optional Redemption. The Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 20__ are not subject to
redemption prior to maturity. The Bonds maturing on or after August 1, 20 may be redeemed before
maturity at the option of the District, in whole or in part, from any source of available funds, on any date
on or after August 1, 20__ at a redemption price equal to the par amount to be redeemed, plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption, without premium.

Mandatory Redemption. The Bonds maturing on August 1, 20 are subject to redemption prior
to maturity from mandatory sinking fund payments on August 1 of each year, on and after August 1,
20 , at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof as of the date set for such redemption,
without premium. The principal amount to be so redeemed and the dates therefore and the final payment
date is as indicated in the following table:

Mandatory Sinking Fund
Payment Date Principal Amount to
(August 1) be Redeemed

* Preliminary; subject to change.



In the event that a portion of the Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__is optionally redeemed prior
to maturity, the remaining mandatory sinking fund payments shown above shall be reduced
proportionately, or as otherwise directed by the District, in integral multiples of $5,000 principal amount
of such Bonds optionally redeemed.

Selection of Bonds for Redemption

Whenever provision is made for the redemption of Bonds and less than all outstanding Bonds are
to be redeemed, the Paying Agent, upon written instruction from the District given at least 45 days prior
to the date designated for such redemption, shall select Bonds for redemption in such order as the District
may direct. Within a maturity, the Paying Agent shall select Bonds for redemption by lot. Redemption
by lot shall be in such manner as the Paying Agent shall determine; provided, however, that the portion of
any Bond to be redeemed in part shall be in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof.

Notice of Redemption

When redemption is authorized, the Paying Agent, upon written instruction from the District
given at least 45 days prior to the date designated for such redemption, shall give notice of the redemption
of the Bonds at least 20 but not more than 60 days prior to the redemption date to the respective Owners
of Bonds designated for redemption by first class mail, postage prepaid. Such redemption notice shall
specify: (a) the Bonds or designated portions thereof (in the case of redemption of the Bonds in part but
not in whole) which are to be redeemed, (b) the date of redemption, (c) the place or places where the
redemption will be made, including the name and address of the Paying Agent, (d) the redemption price,
(e) the CUSIP numbers (if any) assigned to the Bonds to be redeemed, (f) the numbers of the Bonds to be
redeemed in whole or in part and, in the case of any Bond to be redeemed in part only, the principal
amount, as appropriate, of such Bond to be redeemed, (g) the original issue date, interest rate and stated
maturity date of each Bond to be redeemed in whole or in part and (h) in the case of a conditional notice,
that such notice is conditioned upon certain circumstances and the manner of rescinding such conditional
notice. Such redemption notice shall further state that on the specified date there shall become due and
payable upon each Bond or portion thereof being redeemed the redemption price, together with the
interest accrued to the redemption date, and that from and after such date interest with respect thereto
shall cease to accrue and be payable.

Effect of Notice of Redemption

Notice having been given as required in the Resolution, and the moneys for redemption
(including the interest to the applicable date of redemption) having been set aside for payment of the
redemption price, the Bonds to be redeemed shall become due and payable on such date of redemption.

If on such redemption date, money for the redemption of all the Bonds to be redeemed, together
with interest to such redemption date, shall be held by the Paying Agent so as to be available therefor on
such redemption date, and if notice of redemption thereof shall have been given, then from and after such
redemption date, interest on the Bonds to be redeemed shall cease to accrue and become payable.

Right to Rescind Notice of Redemption
The District may rescind any optional redemption and notice thereof for any reason on any date

prior to the date fixed for redemption by causing written notice of the rescission to be given to the owners
of the Bonds so called for redemption. Any optional redemption and notice thereof shall be rescinded if



for any reason on the date fixed for redemption moneys are not available in the Debt Service Fund or
otherwise held in trust for such purpose in an amount sufficient to pay in full on said date the principal of
and interest and any premium due on the Bonds called for redemption. Notice of rescission of redemption
shall be given in the same manner in which notice of redemption was originally given. The actual receipt
by the owner of any Bond of notice of such rescission shall not be a condition precedent to rescission, and
failure to receive such notice or any defect in such notice shall not affect the validity of the rescission.

Transfer and Exchange

Any Bond may be exchanged for Bonds of like tenor, series, maturity and principal amount upon
presentation and surrender at the principal office of the Paying Agent, together with a request for
exchange signed by the Owner or by a person legally empowered to do so in a form satisfactory to the
Paying Agent. A Bond may be transferred on the Bond Register only upon presentation and surrender of
such Bond at the principal office of the Paying Agent together with an assignment executed by the Owner
or a person legally empowered to do so in a form satisfactory to the Paying Agent. Upon exchange or
transfer, the Paying Agent shall complete, authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds of like tenor and
of any authorized denomination or denominations requested by the Owner equal to the principal amount
of the Bond surrendered and bearing interest at the same rate and maturing on the same date.

Defeasance

If any or all outstanding Bonds shall be paid and discharged in any one or more of the following
ways: (a) by well and truly paying or causing to be paid the principal of and interest on all Bonds
Outstanding, as and when the same become due and payable; (b) by depositing with the Paying Agent, in
trust, at or before maturity, cash which, together with the amounts then on deposit in the Debt Service
Fund plus the interest to accrue thereon without the need for further investment, is fully sufficient to pay
all Bonds Outstanding on their redemption date or at maturity thereof, including any premium and all
interest thereon, notwithstanding that any Bonds shall not have been surrendered for payment; or (c) by
depositing with an institution to act as escrow agent selected by the District and which meets the
requirements of serving as Paying Agent pursuant to the Resolution, in trust, lawful money or noncallable
direct obligations issued by the United States Treasury (including State and Local Government Series
Obligations) or obligations which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America and
described under Section 149(b) of the Code and Regulations which, in the opinion of nationally
recognized bond counsel, will not impair the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax
purposes of interest on the Bonds, in such amount as will, together with the interest to accrue thereon, be
fully sufficient, in the opinion of a verification agent satisfactory to the District, to pay and discharge all
Bonds Outstanding at maturity thereof, including any premium and all interest thereon, notwithstanding
that any Bonds shall not have been surrendered for payment; then all obligations of the District and the
Paying Agent under the Resolution with respect to such Outstanding Bonds shall cease and terminate,
except only the obligation of the Paying Agent to pay or cause to be paid to the Owners of the Bonds all
sums due thereon, and the obligation of the District to pay to the Paying Agent amounts owing to the
Paying Agent under the Resolution.

Continuing Disclosure Agreement

In accordance with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12 (the “Rule”) promulgated by the Securities
and Exchange Commission, the District will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the
“Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) in the form of APPENDIX D hereto, on or prior to the delivery of
the Bonds in which the District will undertake, for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, to
provide certain information as set forth therein. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein and
APPENDIX D — “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” hereto.

6

T



SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The proceeds of the Bonds are expected to be applied as follows:
Sources of Funds
Principal Amount of Bonds

Net Original Issue Premium
Total Sources

Uses of Funds

Deposit to Building Fund
Deposit to Debt Service Fund
Costs of Issuance”

Total Uses

" Payment of bond insurance premium, if any, Underwriter’s discount, Bond and Disclosure Counsel fees, financial
advisory fees, paying agent fees, rating agency fees, and other costs of issuance.

Application of Proceeds

The net proceeds from the sale of the Bonds (other than premium) shall be paid to the County to
the credit of the Hamilton Unified School District Building Fund (the “Building Fund”) established
pursuant to the Resolution and shall be disbursed for the payment of the costs of acquiring and
constructing the Projects (as described below). Any premium or accrued interest received by the District
from the sale of the Bonds will be deposited in the Debt Service Fund. Eamings on the investment of
moneys in either the Building Fund or the Debt Service Fund will be retained in the respective fund and
used only for the purposes to which the respective fund may lawfully be applied. Moneys in the Debt
Service Fund may only be applied to make payments of principal of and interest, and premium, if any, on
bonds of the District. All funds held in the Building Fund and the Debt Service Fund will be invested by
the County Treasurer.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE

The following table summarizes the principal of, and interest payments on, the Bonds, assuming
no optional redemption.

DEBT SERVICE ON THE BONDS

Bond Year
Ending Total Debt
August 1 Principal Interest Service

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050
2051
2052
2053
Total

73



The following table summarizes the annual debt service payments for all of the District’s
outstanding bonds, comprising the 2011 General Obligation Refunding Note (the “2011 Note”), and the
Bonds, assuming no optional redemptions.

DEBT SERVICE ON ALL OUTSTANDING GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

Year Ending Total Annual
August 1 2011 Note The Bonds Debt Service

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050
2051
2052
2053
Totals

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
General

The Bonds are general obligations of the District, and the Board of Supervisors of the County has
the power and is obligated to levy and collect ad valorem taxes upon all property within the District
subject to taxation by the County, without limitation as to rate or amount (except certain personal
property which is taxable at limited rates) for payment of both principal of and interest on the Bonds. The
District received authorization to issue $7,000,000 principal amount of general obligation bonds pursuant
to an election of the qualified electors within the District on November 6, 2018. Subsequent to the
issuance of the Bonds, $4,800,000" aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds will remain
for issuance under the 2018 Authorization.

Property Taxation System

Property tax revenues result from the application of the appropriate tax rate to the total assessed
value of taxable property in the District. School districts receive property taxes for payment of voter-
approved bonds as well as for general operating purposes.

Local property taxation is the responsibility of various county officers. School districts whose
boundaries extend into more than one county are treated for property tax purposes as separate
jurisdictions in each county in which they are located. For each school district located in a county, the
county assessor computes the value of locally assessed taxable property. Based on the assessed value of
property and the scheduled debt service on outstanding bonds in each year, the county auditor-controller
computes the rate of tax necessary to pay such debt service, and presents the tax rolls (including rates of
tax for all taxing jurisdictions in the county) to the county board of supervisors for approval. The county
treasurer and tax collector prepares and mails tax bills to taxpayers and collects the taxes. In addition, the
treasurer and tax collector, as ex officio treasurer of each school district located in the county, holds
school district funds, including taxes collected for payment of school bonds, and is charged with payment
of principal and interest on the bonds when due.

Restrictions on use of Ad Valorem Taxes and Statutory Lien on Debt Service

Under State law, school districts may levy ad valorem taxes (in addition to their share of the 1%
county tax to pay operating expenses) only to pay principal of and interest on general obligation bonds
that, like the Bonds, are approved at an election to finance specified projects or are bonds issued to refund
such general obligation bonds. Moreover, State law provides that the ad valorem taxes may be levied to
pay the principal of and interest on bonds and for no other purpose. Consequently, under State law, the
District is not authorized to divert revenue from ad valorem taxes levied to pay the Bonds to a purpose
other than payment of the Bonds.

Pursuant to Section 53515 of the State Government Code, effective January 1, 2016, the Bonds
will be secured by a statutory lien on all revenues received pursuant to the levy and collection of ad
valorem property taxes for the payment thereof. The lien automatically attaches, without further action or
authorization by the Board, and is valid and binding from the time the Bonds are executed and delivered.
The revenues received pursuant to the levy and collection of the ad valorem property tax will be
immediately subject to the lien, and such lien will be enforceable against the District, its successor,
transferees and creditors, and all other parties asserting rights therein, irrespective of whether such parties
have notice of the lien and without the need for physical delivery, recordation, filing or further act.

* Preliminary; subject to change.

10

)



Pledge of Tax Revenues

Under the Resolution, the District has pledged, as security for the Bonds and the interest thereon,
the proceeds from the levy of the ad valorem tax which the County levies and receives and all interest
earnings thereon (the “Pledged Moneys”). The Pledged Moneys shall be used to pay the principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable.

The Bonds are the general obligations of the District, payable solely from Pledged Moneys and
do not constitute an obligation of the County except as provided in the Resolution. No part of any fund or
account of the County is pledged or obligated to the payment of the Bonds or the interest thereon. Other
than the Pledged Moneys, no funds or accounts of the District are pledged to payment of the Bonds.

THE PROJECTS

The District intends to apply a portion of the net proceeds of the Bonds to finance the acquisition,
construction, furnishing and equipping of District facilities in accordance with the bond proposition
approved at the Flection which includes the ballot measure and a project list. See “THE BONDS —
Purpose of Issue” herein.

The “Smaller Classes, Safer Schools, and Financial Accountability Act,” a Constitutional
amendment known as Proposition 39, controls the method by which the District will expend Bond
proceeds on its capital improvements. Prior to the Election, the District prepared and submitted to the
Board for approval a master list of capital improvement projects to be built, acquired, constructed or
installed with the proceeds of the Bonds, which was then submitted to the voters at the Election (the
“Project List”). The District will prioritize the projects on the Project List and may not undertake to
complete all components of the Project List.

TAX BASE FOR REPAYMENT OF THE BONDS

The information in this section describes ad valorem property taxation, assessed valuation, and
other measures of the tax base of the District. The Bonds are payable solely from ad valorem taxes levied
and collected by the County on taxable property in the District. The District’s general fund is not a
source for the repayment of the Bonds.

Ad Valorem Property Taxation

Taxes are levied for each fiscal year on taxable real and personal property which is situated in the
County as of the preceding January 1. However, upon a change in ownership of property or completion
of new construction, State law permits an accelerated recognition and taxation of increases in real
property assessed valuation (known as a “floating lien date”). For assessment and collection purposes,
property is classified either as “secured” or “unsecured” and is listed accordingly on separate parts of the
assessment roll. The “secured roll” is that part of the assessment roll containing property secured by a
lien which is sufficient, in the opinion of the assessor, to secure payment of the taxes. Other property is
assessed on the “unsecured roll.”

The County levies a 1% property tax on behalf of all taxing agencies in the County. The taxes
collected are allocated on the basis of a formula established by State law enacted in 1979. Under this
formula, the County and all other taxing entities receive a base year allocation plus an allocation on the
basis of “situs” growth in assessed value (new construction, change of ownership, inflation) prorated
among the jurisdictions which serve the tax rate areas within which the growth occurs. Tax rate areas are
specifically defined geographic areas which were developed to permit the levying of taxes for less than

11

7 b



county-wide or less than city-wide special and school districts. In addition, the County levies and collects
additional approved property taxes and assessments on behalf of any taxing agency within the County.

Property taxes on the secured roll are due in two installments, on November 1 and February 1. If
unpaid, such taxes become delinquent after December 10 and April 10, respectively, and a 10% penalty
attaches to any delinquent payment. In addition, property on the secured roll secured by the assessee’s
fee ownership of land with respect to which taxes are delinquent is declared tax-defaulted on or about
June 30. Those properties on the secured roll that become tax-defaulted on June 30 of the fiscal year that
are not secured by the assessee’s fee ownership of land are transferred to the unsecured roll and are then
subject to the Treasurer’s enforcement procedures (i.e., seizures of money and property, liens and
judgments). Such property may thereafter be redeemed by payment of the delinquent taxes and the
delinquency penalty, plus a penalty of one and one-half percent per month to the time of redemption. If
taxes are unpaid for a period of five years or more, the tax-defaulted property is subject to sale by the
Treasurer.

Property taxes on the unsecured roll as of July 31 become delinquent, if unpaid, on August 31 and
are subject to a 10% delinquency penalty. Unsecured property taxes remaining unpaid on October 31 are
also subject to an additional penalty of one and one half percent per month on the first day of each month
thereafter. The additional penalties shall continue to attach until the time of payment or until the time a
court judgment is entered for the amount of unpaid taxes and penalties, whichever occurs first.

The taxing authority has four ways of collecting unsecured personal property taxes: (1) a civil
action against the taxpayer; (2) filing a certificate in the office of the respective County Clerk specifying
certain facts in order to obtain a judgment lien on certain property of the taxpayer; (3) filing a certificate
of delinquency for recordation in the County Recorder’s office in order to obtain a lien on certain
property of the taxpayer; and (4) seizure and sale of personal property, improvements, bank accounts or
possessory interests belonging or assessed to the taxpayer.

Assessed Valuations

The assessed valuation of property in the District is established by the County Assessor, except
for public utility property which is assessed by the State Board of Equalization. Assessed valuations are
reported at 100% of the full value of the property, as defined in Article XIIIA of the California
Constitution. See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING DISTRICT
REVENUES” herein.

The State Constitution currently requires a credit of $7,000 of the taxable value of an owner-
occupied dwelling for which application has been made to the County Assessor. The revenue estimated
to be lost to local taxing agencies due to the exemption is reimbursed from State sources. Reimbursement
is based upon total taxes due upon such exempt value and is not reduced by any amount for estimated or
actual delinquencies. Current law also provides, upon application, a basis exemption of $100,000
increased by inflation for veterans with specified disabilities or for unmarried spouses of deceased
veterans. The exemption may be raised to $150,000 if the applicant meets the income limit of $40,000.

In addition, certain classes of property such as cemeteries, free public libraries and museums,
public schools, churches, colleges, not-for-profit hospitals and charitable institutions are exempt from
property taxation and do not appear on the tax rolls. No reimbursement is made by the State for such
exemptions.

12

77



The following tables presents the historical assessed valuation in the District since fiscal year
2008-09. The District’s total assessed valuation is $367,064,522 for fiscal year 2018-19.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Summary of Assessed Valuations
Fiscal Years 2008-09 Through 2018-19

Fiscal Annual

Year Local Secured Utility Unsecured Total % Change
2008-09 $257,336,430 $214,104 $ 9,497,387 $267,047,921 s
2009-10 267,718,382 214,104 9,356,882 277,289,368 3.83%
2010-11 273,956,096 214,104 9,366,929 283,537,129 2.25
2011-12 271,027,984 214,104 9,971,621 281,213,709 (0.82)
2012-13 273,332,453 224,748 11,217,755 284,774,956 1.27
2013-14 282,921,126 224,748 16,141,885 299,287,759 5.09
2014-15 293,716,143 224748 17,247,818 311,188,709 3.97
2015-16 311,770,892 227,580 19,470,279 331,468,751 6.51
2016-17 312,301,428 227,580 20,211,866 332,740,874 3.83
2017-18 324384917 227,580 20,440,234 345,052,731 3.70
2018-19 345,287,908 227,580 21,549,034 367,064,522 6.38

Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

Economic and other factors beyond the District’s control, such as general market decline in
property values, disruption in financial markets that may reduce availability of financing for purchasers of
property, reclassification of property to a class exempt from taxation, whether by ownership or use (such
as exemptions for property owned by the State and local agencies and property used for qualified
education, hospital, charitable or religious purposes), or the complete or partial destruction of the taxable
property caused by a natural or manmade disaster, such as earthquake, flood or toxic contamination, could
cause a reduction in the assessed value of taxable property within the District. Any such reduction would
result in a corresponding increase in the annual tax rate levied by the County to pay the debt service with
respect to the Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.”

Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Valuations

Pursuant to California Proposition 8 of November 1978 (“Proposition 8”), property owners may
apply for a reduction of their property tax assessment by filing a written application, in a form prescribed
by the State Board of Equalization, with the appropriate county board of equalization or assessment
appeals board. County assessors may independently reduce assessed values as well based upon the
factors described in the paragraph above or reductions in the fair market value of the taxable property. In
most cases, an appeal is filed because the applicant believes that present market conditions (such as lower
residential home sale prices) cause the property to be worth less than its current assessed value. Any
reduction in the assessment ultimately granted as a result of such appeal applies to the year for which
application is made and during which the written application was filed. Such reductions are subject to
yearly reappraisals and may be adjusted back to their original values when market conditions improve.
Once the property has regained its prior value, adjusted for inflation, it once again is subject to the annual
inflationary factor growth rate allowed under Article XIIA. See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND
STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING DISTRICT REVENUES — Article XIIIA of the California
Constitution.”

13

78



A second type of assessment appeal involves a challenge to the base year value of an assessed
property. Appeals for reduction in the base year value of an assessment, if successful, reduce the
assessment for the year in which the appeal is taken and prospectively thereafter. The base year is
determined by the completion date of new construction or the date of change of ownership. Any base year
appeal must be made within four years of the change of ownership or new construction date.

County assessors, at their discretion, may also, from time to time, review certain property types
purchased between specific time periods (e.g., all single family homes and condominiums purchased
shortly prior to widespread declines in the fair market value of residential real estate within the county, as
occurred between 2009 and 2011) and may proactively, temporarily reduce the assessed value of
qualifying properties to Proposition 8 assessed values without owner appeal therefor.

A property that has been reassessed under Proposition 8, whether pursuant to owner appeal or due
to county assessor review, is subsequently reviewed annually to determine its lien date value. Assuming
no change in ownership or new construction, and if and as market conditions improve, the assessed value
of a property with a Proposition 8 assessed value in place may increase as of each property tax lien date
by more than the standard annual inflationary factor growth rate allowed under Article XIIIA (currently, a
2% annual maximum) until such assessed value again equals the Article XIIIA base year value for such
property as adjusted for inflation and years of ownership, at which point such property is again taxed
pursuant to Article XIIIA and base year values may not be increased by more than the standard Article
XIIIA annual inflationary factor growth rate. A change in ownership while a property is subject to a
Proposition 8 reassessment assessed valuation will cause such assessed valuation to become fixed as a
new Article XIIIA base year value for such property. See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY
PROVISIONS AFFECTING DISTRICT REVENUES - Article XIIIA of the California Constitution”
herein.

No assurance can be given that property tax appeals and reassessments in the future will not
significantly reduce the assessed valuation of property within the District.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

14

79



Assessed Valuation by Land Use

The table below sets forth the assessed valuation of the taxable property within the District by

land use.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

2018-19 Assessed Valuation and Parcels by Land Use

2018-19 % of
Non-Residential: Assessed Valuation” Total
Agricultural/Rural $242,164,202 70.13%
Commercial 21,952,508 6.36
Vacant Commercial 634,448 0.18
Industrial 4,516,902 1.31
Recreational 48,290 0.01
Government/Social/Institutional 18,805 0.01
Miscellaneous 46.607 _0.01
Subtotal Non-Residential $269,381,762 78.02%
Residential:
Single Family Residence $57,920,407 16.77%
Mobile Home 8,182,083 2.37
2-3 Residential Units 7,916,464 2.29
4+ Residential Units/Apartments 773,710 0.22
Miscellaneous Residential 393,871 0.11
Vacant Residential 719,611 _0.21
Subtotal Residential $75,906,146 21.98%
Total $345,287,908 100.00%

" Local secured assessed valuation, excluding tax-exempt property.
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

15

SO

No. of
Parcels
540

47
15
13

1
23
_3
642

497
121
63
4
10
25
720

1,362

% of
Total
39.65%
345
1.10
0.95
0.07
1.69
_0.22
47.14%

36.49%
8.88
4.63
0.29
0.73

_1.84

52.86%

100.00%



Largest Taxpayers

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

VP NA YL~

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

2018-19 Largest Total Secured Taxpayers

Property Owner
Violich Farms Inc.

C.F. & Koehnen & Sons Orchards
Riverwest Processing Inc.
Sunsweet Dryers

Sunfield Seeds

Keyawa Orchards Inc.

J & W Farms Inc.

Knight Ranches Inc.

Surjit S. Bains

Charles R. Crain, Jr.

Bains Properties LP

James A. & Theresa J. Weber, Trustees
Peter D. Knight & Sons LP

Linda M. Lohse Trust

Floyd Pederson Trust

D Judd Apartments LLC

David M. Lohse Trust

Peter Jensen

Myma J. Lohse Trust

Louis & Maria Stalcar, Trustees

M 2018-19 local secured assessed valuation: $345,287,908.

Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

The table below sets forth the largest taxpayers within the District in fiscal year 2018-19.

2018-19 % of
Primary Land Use  Assessed Valuation Total®
Agricultural $ 26,949,077 7.80%
Agricultural 20,054,433 5.81
Agricultural 13,621,945 395
Food Processing 7,665,463 2.22
Agricultural 5,640,907 1.63
Agricultural 4,960,433 1.44
Agricultural 4,248,782 1.23
Agricultural 4,015,226 1.16
Agricultural 3,670,223 1.06
Agricultural 3,400,574 0.98
Agricultural 3,256,944 0.94
Agricultural 3,020,145 0.87
Agricultural 2,762,346 0.80
Agricultural 2,731,425 0.79
Agricultural 2,411,145 0.70
Industrial 2,345,998 0.68
Agricultural 2,345,102 0.68
Agricultural 2,313,482 0.67
Agricultural 2,294,697 0.66
Discount Store 2.176.680 _0.63
$119,885,027 34.72%

The top 20 taxpayers on the secured roll for 2018-19 account for 34.72% of the secured assessed
value in the District of $345,287,908. According to California Municipal Statistics, Inc., the largest
secured taxpayer in the District for 2018-19 was Violich Farms Inc., accounting for 7.80% of the total
secured assessed value in the District. No other secured taxpayer accounted for more than 5.81% of the
total secured assessed value in the District. The more property (by assessed value) owned by a single
taxpayer, the more tax collections are exposed to weakness, if any, in such taxpayer’s financial situation
and ability or willingness to pay property taxes in a timely manner.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

17

S 2L



Tax Rates

The following table sets forth tax rates levied in Tax Rate Area 86-046 located within the District
for fiscal years 2014-15 through 2018-19.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Typical Tax Rate per $100 Assessed Valuation (TRA 86-046)"®

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

General $1.000000 $1.000000 $1.000000 $1.000000 $1.000000

Hamilton Unified School District .001000  (.002742) (.006067) (.015594)  (.041736)

Butte-Glenn Community College District .020880 .020880 .020880 046560 .041317
Total $1.021880 $1.018138 $1.014813 $1.030966 $0.999581

M 2018-19 assessed valuation of TRA 86-046 is $68,559,176 which is 18.67% of the District’s total assessed valuation.

@ The District has a unitary utility assessed value, which, for certain years, has permitted the ad valorem tax
collected from unitary property alone to meet the necessary bond payment requirements. Accordingly, the
secured ad valorem tax rate shown above for the District is negative for those years in which the unitary
assessed value has provided sufficient collections to service the bond debt. Accordingly, no delinquency
information is available for such years.

Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

The Teeter Plan

The Board of Supervisors of the County has approved the implementation of the Alternative
Method of Distribution of Tax Levies and Collections and of Tax Sale Proceeds (the “Teeter Plan™), as
provided for in Section 4701 et seq. of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. Under the Teeter Plan
for the County, the County apportions secured property taxes on an accrual basis when due (irrespective
of actual collections) to its local political subdivisions, including the District, for which the County acts as
the tax-levying or tax-collecting agency.

The Teeter Plan for the County is applicable to all tax levies for which the County acts as the tax-
levying or tax-collecting agency, or for which the County Treasury is the legal depository of tax
collections.

Under the Teeter Plan, the District will receive 100% of its ad valorem property tax levied with
respect to the Bonds irrespective of actual delinquencies in the collection of property taxes by the County.

The Teeter Plan of the County is to remain in effect unless the Board of Supervisors of the
County orders its discontinuance or unless, prior to the commencement of any fiscal year of the County
(which commences on July 1), the Board of Supervisors of the County receives a petition for its
discontinuance joined in by a resolution adopted by at least two-thirds of the participating revenue
districts in the County. In the event the Board of Supervisors of the County orders discontinuance of its
Teeter Plan, only those secured property taxes actually collected would be allocated to political
subdivisions (including the District) for which the County acts as the tax-levying or tax-collecting agency.
In addition, if the delinquency rate for all ad valorem property taxes levied within the District exceeds
3%, the Board of Supervisors can terminate the Teeter Plan with respect to the District. In the event that
the Teeter Plan were terminated with regard to the secured tax roll, the amount of the levy of ad valorem
property taxes would depend upon the collection of ad valorem property taxes and delinquency rates
experienced with respect to the parcels within the District.

The District is not aware of any petitions for the discontinuance of the Teeter Plan now pending
in the County.

18
J3



Assessed Valuation of Single Family Homes

The following table sets forth ranges of assessed valuations of single family homes in the District
for fiscal year 2018-19, including the median and average assessed value per single family parcel.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Per Parcel 2018-19 Assessed Valuation of Single Family Homes

No. of 2018-19 Average Median
Parcels Assessed Valuation Assessed Valuation Assessed Valuation
Single Family Residential 497 $57,920,407 $116,540 $112,417
2018-19 No. of % of Cumulative Total % of Cumulative
Assessed Valuation Parcels" Total % of Total Valuation Total % of Total

$0 - $24,999 16 3.219% 3.219% $ 282,550 0.488% 0.488%
$25,000 - $49,999 51 10.262 13.481 1,985,254 3.428 3.915
$50,000 - $74,999 63 12.676 26.157 4,010,453 6.924 10.839
$75,000 - $99,999 87 17.505 43.662 7,584,980 13.096 23.935
$100,000 - $124,999 85 17.103 60.765 9,660,662 16.679 40.614
$125,000 - $149,999 71 14.286 75.050 9,569,759 16.522 57.136
$150,000 - $174,999 61 12.274 87.324 9,952,839 17.184 74.320
$175,000 - $199,999 29 5.835 93.159 5,452,413 9414 83.734
$200,000 - $224,999 11 2.213 95.372 2,333,597 4.029 87.763
$225,000 - $249,999 5 1.006 96.378 1,167,607 2.016 89.779
$250,000 - $274,999 4 0.805 97.183 1,032,143 1.782 91.561
$275,000 - $299,999 4 0.805 97.988 1,141,742 1.971 93.532
$300,000 - $324,999 0 0.000 97.988 0 10.000 93.532
$325,000 - $349,999 4 0.805 98.793 1,348,137 2.328 95.859
$350,000 - $374,999 3 0.604 99.396 1,077,242 1.860 97.719
$375,000 - $399,999 1 0.201 99.598 394,000 0.680 98.399
$400,000 - $424,999 0 0.000 99.598 0 0.000 98.399
$425,000 - $449,999 1 0.201 99,799 427,029 0.737 99.137
$450,000 - $474,999 0 0.000 99.799 0 0.000 99.137
$475,000 - $499,999 0 0.000 99.799 0 0.000 99.137
$500,000 and greater 1 0.201 100.000 500,000 0.863 100.000

Total 497 100.000% $57,920,407 100.000%

1" Improved single family residential parcels. Excludes condominiums and parcels with multiple family units.
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

16

Sl



Direct and Overlapping Debt

Numerous local agencies that provide public services overlap the District’s service area. These
local agencies have outstanding debt in the form of general obligation, lease revenue and special
assessment bonds. The following table shows the District’s estimated direct and overlapping bonded
debt. The statement excludes self-supporting revenue bonds, tax allocation bonds and non-bonded capital
lease obligations. The District has not reviewed this table and there can be no assurance as to the
accuracy of the information contained in the table; inquiries concerning the scope and methodology of
procedures carried out to compile the information presented should be directed to California Municipal
Statistics, Inc.

The following table is a statement of the District’s direct and estimated overlapping bonded debt
as of May 1, 2019:

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Direct and Overlapping Bonded Indebtedness

2018-19 Assessed Valuation: $367,064,522

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT: % Applicable Debt 5/1/19

Butte-Glenn Community College District 1.432% $1,342,902

Hamilton Unified School District 100.000 425,100
TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT $1,768,002

OVERLAPPING GENERAIL FUND DEBT:

Glenn County General Fund Obligations 11.555% $263.454
TOTAL OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT $263,454
COMBINED TOTAL DEBT $2,031,456@

() Excludes the Bonds to be sold.
@ Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue, mortgage revenue and non-bonded capital lease obligations.

Ratios to 2018-19 Assessed Valuation:

Direct Debt ($425,100) 0.12%
Total Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt......0.48%
Combined Total Debt.........ccoeeirerenenercececeecreennenes 0.55%

Source: California Municipal Statistics Inc.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

19



DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The information in this section concerning the operations of the District and the District’s
finances is provided as supplementary information only, and it should not be inferred from the inclusion
of this information in this Official Statement that the principal of and interest on the Bonds is payable
from the general fund of the District. The Bonds are payable from the proceeds of an ad valorem tax
approved by the voters pursuant to all applicable laws and State Constitutional requirements, and
required to be levied by the County on all taxable property within the District in an amount sufficient for
the timely payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and
“TAX BASE FOR REPAYMENT OF THE BONDS” herein.

State Funding of Education

On June 27, 2013, the State adopted a new method for funding school districts commonly known
as the “Local Control Funding Formula.” The Local Control Funding Formula (“LCFF”) is being
implemented in stages, beginning in fiscal year 2013-14 and will be fully implemented in fiscal year
2018-19. Prior to adoption of the LCFF, the State used a revenue limit system described below.

Local Control Funding Formula. State Assembly Bill 97 (Stats. 2013, Chapter 47) (“AB 97”),
enacted as a part of the 2013-14 State Budget (defined below) enacted the LCFF beginning in fiscal year
2013-14, which replaced the revenue limit funding system and many categorical programs. The LCFF
distributes resources to schools through a guaranteed base revenue limit funding grant (the “Base Grant™)
per unit of ADA. The average Base Grant is $7,643 per unit of ADA, which is $2,375 more than the
average revenue limit. Additional supplemental funding is made available based on the proportion of
English language learners, low-income students and foster youth.

Under the LCFF, State allocations will be are provided on the basis of target base funding grants
per unit of ADA (a “Base Grant”) assigned to each of four grade spans. Full implementation of the LCFF
occurred over a period of several fiscal years and was complete in fiscal year 2018-19. Beginning in fiscal
year 2013-14, an annual transition adjustment was calculated for each school district, equal to such
district’s proportionate share of appropriations included in the State budget to close the gap between the
prior-year funding level and the target allocation following full implementation of the LCFF. In each
year, school districts had the same proportion of their respective funding gaps closed, with dollar amounts
varying depending on the size of a district’s funding gap.

For fiscal year 2018-19, the base rates per unit of ADA for each grade span are as follows:
(i) $8,235 for grades K-3; (ii) $7,571 for grades 4-6; (iii) $7,796 for grades 7-8; and (iv) $9,269 for grades
9-12. Beginning in fiscal year 2013-14, and in each subsequent year, the Base Grants have been adjusted
for cost-of-living increases by applying the implicit price deflator for government goods and services.
Following the full implementation of the LCFF in fiscal year 2018-19, the provision of cost-of-living-
adjustments are subject to appropriation for such adjustment in the annual State budget. The differences
among Base Grants are linked to differentials in statewide average revenue limit rates by district type, and
are intended to recognize the generally higher costs of education at higher grade levels.

The Base Grants for grades K-3 and 9-12 are subject to adjustments of 10.4% and 2.6%,
respectively, to cover the costs of class size reduction in early grades and the provision of career technical
education in high schools. Following full implementation of the LCFF, and unless otherwise collectively
bargained for, school districts serving students in grades K-3 must maintain an average class enrollment
of 24 or fewer students in grades K-3 at each school site in order to continue receiving the adjustment to
the K-3 Base Grant. Such school districts must also make progress towards this class size reduction goal
in proportion to the growth in their funding over the implementation period. Additional add-ons are also

0

85S



provided to school districts that received categorical block grant funding pursuant to the Targeted
Instructional Improvement and Home-to-School Transportation programs during fiscal year 2012-13.

School districts that serve students of limited English proficiency (“EL” students), students from
low income families that are eligible for free or reduced priced meals (“LI” students) and foster youth are
eligible to receive additional funding grants. Enrollment counts are unduplicated, such that students may
not be counted as both EL and LI (foster youth automatically meet the eligibility requirements for free or
reduced priced meals and are not discussed separately herein). A supplemental grant add-on (each, a
“Supplemental Grant™) is authorized for school districts that serve EL/LI students, equal to 20% of the
applicable Base Grant multiplied by such districts’ percentage of unduplicated EL/LI student enrollment.
School districts whose EL/LI populations exceed 55% of their total enrollment are eligible for a
concentration grant add-on (each, a “Concentration Grant”) equal to 50% of the applicable Base Grant
multiplied by the percentage of such district’s unduplicated EL/LI student enrollment in excess of the
55% threshold.

The following table sets forth the historical ADA and enrollment for fiscal years 2009-10 through
2017-18.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Historical ADA and Enrollment
Fiscal Years 2009-10 through 2017-18

Fiscal Year ADAWY Enrollment®
2009-10 806 840
2010-11 755 789
2011-12 729 759
2012-13 684 710
2013-14 701 723
2014-15 695 719
2015-16 712 738
2016-17 669 697
2017-18 672 690

1" p2 ADA.

@ Fall 1st period data as reported to CalPADS.
Source: The District.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

21

S



The following table sets forth the ADA, enrollment and the percentage of EL/LI enrollment for
fiscal years 2017-18, budgeted for 2018-19 and projections for fiscal years 2019-20 and 2020-21.

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
ADA, English Language/Low Income Enrollment
Fiscal Years 2017-18 through 2020-21

ADA Enrollment
Total Total % of EL/LI
Fiscal Year K-3 4-6 7-8 9-12 ADA®  Enrollment Enrollment
2017-18 173 140 79 281 672 690 82.82%
2018-19Y 183 139 80 288 692 714 81.67
2019-209 190 143 87 234 653 674 81.24
2020-21® 201 123 98 232 654 675 81.63

) Based on Second Interim Report.

@ Projected.

) Numbers may not total due to rounding.
Source: The District.

For certain school districts that would have received greater funding levels under the prior
revenue limit system, the LCFF provides for a permanent economic recovery target (“ERT”) add-on,
equal to the difference between the revenue limit allocations such districts would have received under the
prior system in fiscal year 2020-21, and the target LCFF allocations owed to such districts in the same
year. To derive the projected funding levels, the LCFF assumes the discontinuance of deficit revenue
limit funding, implementation of a COLA in fiscal years 2014-15 through 2020-21, and restoration of
categorical funding to pre-recession levels. The ERT add-on will be paid incrementally over the
implementing period of the LCFF. The District does not qualify for the ERT add-on.

The sum of a school district’s adjusted Base, Supplemental and Concentration Grants will be
multiplied by such district’s P-2 ADA for the current or prior year, whichever is greater (with certain
adjustments applicable to small school districts). This funding amount, together with any applicable ERT
or categorical block grant add-ons, will yield a district’s total LCFF allocation. Generally, the amount of
annual State apportionments received by a school district will amount to the difference between such total
LCFF allocation and such district’s share of applicable local property taxes. Most school districts receive
a significant portion of their funding from such State apportionments. As a result, decreases in State
revenues may significantly affect appropriations made by the Legislature to school districts.

Certain schools districts, known as “basic aid” districts, have allocable local property tax
collections that equal or exceed such districts’ total LCFF allocation, and result in the receipt of no State
apportionment aid. Basic aid school districts receive only special categorical funding, which is deemed to
satisty the “basic aid” requirement of $120 per student per year guaranteed by Article IX, Section 6 of the
State Constitution. The implication for basic aid districts is that the legislatively determined allocations to
school districts, and other politically determined factors, are less significant in determining their primary
funding sources. Rather, property tax growth and the local economy are the primary determinants. The
District does not currently qualify as a basic aid and does not expect to in the future.

Accountability. The State Board of Education has promulgated regulations regarding the
expenditure of supplemental and concentration funding, including a requirement that school districts
increase or improve services for EL/LI students in proportion to the increase in funds apportioned to such
district on the basis of the number and concentration of such EL/LI students, as well as the conditions

22
87



under which school district can use supplemental or concentration funding on a school-wide or district-
wide basis.

School districts are also required to adopt local control and accountability plans (“LCAPs”)
disclosing annual goals for all students, as well as certain numerically significant student subgroups, to be
achieved in eight areas of State priority identified by the LCFF. LCAPs may also specify additional local
priorities. LCAPs must specify the actions to be taken to achieve each goal, including actions to correct
identified deficiencies with regard to areas of State priority. LCAPs are required to be adopted every three
years, beginning in fiscal year 2014-15, and updated annually thereafter. The State Board of Education
has developed and adopted a template LCAP for use by school districts.

Support and Intervention. AB 97, as amended by SB 91, establishes a new system of support and
intervention to assist school districts meet the performance expectations outlined in their respective
LCAPs. School districts must adopt their LCAPs (or annual updates thereto) in tandem with their annual
operating budgets, and not later than five days thereafter submit such LCAPs or updates to their
respective county superintendents of schools. On or before August 15 of each year, a county
superintendent may seek clarification regarding the contents of a district’s LCAP (or annual update
thereto), and the district is required to respond to such a request within 15 days. Within 15 days of
receiving such a response, the county superintendent can submit non-binding recommendations for
amending the LCAP or annual update, and such recommendations must be considered by the respective
school district at a public hearing within 15 days. A district’s LCAP or annual update must be approved
by the county superintendent by October 8 of each year if the superintendent determines that (i) the LCAP
or annual update adheres to the State template, and (ii) the district’s budgeted expenditures are sufficient
to implement the actions and strategies outlined in the LCAP.

A school district is required to receive additional support if its respective LCAP or annual update
thereto is not approved, if the district requests technical assistance from its respective county
superintendent, or if the district does not improve student achievement across more than one State priority
for one or more student subgroups. Such support can include a review of a district’s strengths and
weaknesses in the eight State priority areas, or the assignment of an academic expert to assist the district
identify and implement programs designed to improve outcomes. Assistance may be provided by the
California Collaborative for Educational Excellence, a state agency created by the LCFF and charged
with assisting school districts achieve the goals set forth in their LCAPs. The State Board of Education
has developed rubrics to assess school district performance and the need for support and intervention.

The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (the “State Superintendent”) is further authorized,
with the approval of the State Board of Education, to intervene in the management of persistently
underperforming school districts. The State Superintendent may intervene directly or assign an academic
trustee to act on his or her behalf. In so doing, the State Superintendent is authorized to (i) modify a
district’s LCAP, (ii) impose budget revisions designed to improve student outcomes, and (iii) stay or
rescind actions of the local governing board that would prevent such district from improving student
outcomes; provided, however, that the State Superintendent is not authorized to rescind an action required
by a local collective bargaining agreement.

Revenue Sources

The District categorizes its general fund revenues into four sources; LCFF revenues, federal
revenues, other State revenues and other local revenues. FEach of these revenue sources is briefly
described below.

23

S8~



LCFF Sources. State funding under the LCFF consists of Base Grants and supplemental grants
as described above. See “- State Funding of Education — Local Control Funding Formula™ above.

Federal Revenues. The federal government provides funding for several District programs,
including special education programs, programs under the Educational Consolidation and Improvement
Act, and specialized programs such as Every Child Succeeds.

Other State Revenues. The District receives some other State revenues. These other State
revenues are primarily restricted revenues funding items such as the Special Education Master Plan,
Economic Impact Aid, School Improvement Program, instructional materials, and various block grants.

The District receives State aid from the California State Lottery (the "Lottery"), which was
established by a constitutional amendment approved in the November 1984 general election. Lottery
revenues must be used for the education of students and cannot be used for non-instructional purposes
such as real property acquisition, facility construction, or the financing of research. Moreover, State
Proposition 20 approved in March 2000 requires that 50% of the increase in Lottery revenues over 1997-
98 levels must be restricted to use on instructional material.

Other Local Revenues. In addition to property taxes, the District receives additional local
revenues from items such as interest earnings, interagency services and other local sources.

The percentage of total general fund revenue for each source of revenue is shown in the following

table.
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Percentage of Revenue by Source'"
Revenue Source 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19?
LCFF sources 80.1% 82.6% 86.1% 90.3%
Federal revenues 3.5 4.8 33 3.1
Other State revenues 12.8 9.8 9.2 6.1
Other local revenues 3.6 2.8 1.3 0.4

()" Percentages may not total 100% due to rounding.
@ Based on 2™ Interim Report.
Source: The District.

Developer Fees

The District receives developer fees per square foot pursuant to Education Code Section 17620
which must be used to fund construction or reconstruction of school facilities. Current developer fees are
$[___] per square foot for residential housing and $[ ] per square foot for commercial or industrial
development. For fiscal years 2014-15, 2015-16, 2016-17 and 2017-18 the District received $27,602,
$32,549, $104170 an $6,060 in developer fees, respectively. In fiscal year 2018-19, developer fee
collections are projected to be $18,851.

Budget Procedures

State Budgeting Requirements. The District is required by provisions of the State Education
Code to maintain a balanced budget each year, in which the sum of expenditures and the ending fund
balance cannot exceed the sum of revenues and the carry-over fund balance from the previous year. The
State Department of Education imposes a uniform budgeting and accounting format for school districts.

24
57



The budget process for school districts was substantially amended by Assembly Bill 1200 (“AB 1200”),
which became State law on October 14, 1991. Portions of AB 1200 are summarized below.

School districts must adopt a budget on or before July 1 of each year. The budget must be
submitted to the county superintendent within five days of adoption or by July 1, whichever occurs first.
In 2014, Assembly Bill 2585 was enacted, which repealed provisions authorizing schools districts to use a
dual budget adoption cycle. Instead, all school districts must be on a single budget cycle. The single
budget is only readopted if it is disapproved by the county office of education, or as needed. The District
is on a single budget cycle and adopts its budget on or before July 1.

The county superintendent will examine the adopted budget for compliance with the standards and
criteria adopted by the State Board of Education and identify technical corrections necessary to bring the
budget into compliance, will determine if the budget allows the district to meet its current obligations and
will determine if the budget is consistent with a financial plan that will enable the district to meet its multi-
year financial . commitments. On or before August 15, the county superintendent will approve,
conditionally approve or disapprove the adopted budget for each school district. Budgets will be
disapproved if they fail the above standards. The district board must be notified by August 15 of the
county superintendent’s recommendations for revision and reasons for the recommendations. The county
superintendent may assign a fiscal advisor or appoint a committee to examine and comment on the
superintendent’s recommendations. The committee must report its findings no later than August 20. Any
recommendations made by the county superintendent must be made available by the district for public
inspection. No later than August 20, the county superintendent must notify the Superintendent of Public
Instruction of all school districts whose budget has been disapproved.

For districts whose budgets have been disapproved, the district must revise and readopt its budget
by September 8§, reflecting changes in projected income and expense since July 1, including responding to
the county superintendent’s recommendations. The county superintendent must determine if the budget
conforms with the standards and criteria applicable to final district budgets and not later than October 8,
will approve or disapprove the revised budgets. If the budget is disapproved, the county superintendent
will call for the formation of a budget review committee pursuant to Education Code Section 42127.1.
Until a district’s budget is approved, the district will operate on the lesser of its proposed budget for the
current fiscal year or the last budget adopted and reviewed for the prior fiscal year.

Interim Financial Reports. Under the provisions of AB 1200, each school district is required to
file interim certifications with the county office of education as to its ability to meet its financial
obligations for the remainder of the then-current fiscal year and, based on current forecasts, for the
subsequent fiscal year. The county office of education reviews the certification and issues either a
positive, negative or qualified certification. A positive certification is assigned to any school district that
will meet its financial obligations for the current fiscal year and the subsequent two fiscal years. A
negative certification is assigned to any school district that will be unable to meet its financial obligations
for the remainder of the current fiscal year or the subsequent fiscal year. A qualified certification is
assigned to any school district that may not meet its financial obligations for the current fiscal year or the
two subsequent fiscal years.

The District has not received a qualified or negative certification on any interim reports in the last
five fiscal years.

General Fund Budget. The District’s general fund adopted budgets for fiscal years 2014-15
through 2018-19, audited actuals for the fiscal years 2014-15 through 2017-18 and projected financial
results for fiscal year 2018-19, based upon the Second Interim Report, are set forth on the following page.

25

70



9@

"PLISI( Y], 99IN0g
“podoy WLA] PUOIIS 61-8107 Wold ,

“JeoA [RIS1 YONS 10§ JOLISI(] 9Y) JO SIUSWISIE]S [BIOUBULY PYIPOR S UIOL] |

€6T'6ITIS  €68°CHL'IS  €80°LY6'IS  LOVTLYCS  LLT'699°TS  060°0VL'TS  €60°0VLTS  8SLTLITS  8SLTLI'TS  TS9'609°1$ 0¢ sunf “soue[eg puny
€80°LY6'1  €80°LY6°1 LLT'699°T  LLT'699°T  €60°0VL'T  £60°0VL'T  SSLTLI'T  SSLTLI'T  T8KLTET  989bL6‘T [ Anf “souejeq pung
(oecLzL)  (061°€00) 6l'ze)y  (018961)  (918°0L) (©) SEEL9S = WezL'vs)  (pe0's9g) $301n0g Juroueuly 19Y10 pue sampuadxy
(19pun)) 19AQ sa21n0g Suroueul ISYIQ
PUE SINUBAY JO (ADUISIA(]) SS99X]
(820°s0) (8z0°sL) (000°08) (000°c01)  (000°05) (es9's6v)  (000°408)  (000°P¥1)  (00O'bHI)  (OTI1€T) $3s[) pue
$321Nn0§ unmuﬂﬂnm  RYPO [BIoL,
(0007€3) {000°c0) {000°0¢S) {000co1)  (000°0S) (€S9°s6r)  (000F0S)  (0O0OFPPD)  (000PPD) (0TI 1g0) 1NO SIOJSUB) PUNJISNU]
TL6'LT TL6°LT = = == = =~ - - - Ul SI3JSUBL] PUNJISIU]
(sASN)
SADUNOS ONIDNVNIA YTHLO
(zor'zor)  (z9r‘sel) pe12L9)  (018°¢6) (918°02) 059°S6t SEETLOT  000PYI (bzLon (F16°cE1) STINLIANAdXT
(JHANN) YFAO SFNNTATY
40 (AONAID14da) SSFOXH
991°v8C°6  thI‘6EP'S 868°€99°8  10¥°9¢E’8  066'700'8  989°8bL°L  €HOOPEL  TTYLTSL  106TOOL  SLTOVL'D saamyipuadxy [eyo,
{0087L) — - - - - - - == s (51500 JoaIlpu] JO sIgjsuel] — owSO 12410
TEL'ELL 919°69¢ L6V 119 816811 O£ P09 80S VTP 196'62 PS8 TEe L61°€6E $0T°€8S (szoysuei] Surpn[oxa) 08InQ BYIO
0£0°69¢ 0009€C 005°v6¢€ 00€°01€ PSHE91 000°1L1 19%%01 000°0v1 €09°LL 000°0%1 Aepno [ende)
650°TL8 £65°308 TL9°606 LYT'888 TLIVLO'T  6¥+'996 0TP'S00°'T  179°086 [0F°€00°T  000°59 sasuadxg SunesadQ 19410 ‘s901A15
701°€Cs Pr6‘TlE vTL'ES 910°C1Y 1£0°9¢ 08%°TLE €6T'LSE 1ELPYL 818°6€€ 6€S8L1 sorddng pue syoog
61€°€68° T SE0'E68°1 POT8EL'T  EOLI9L'T  LTI'SYST  6S6°8EST  S66°€6€°T  THO'6ZHT  0ITTIET  006°S9L°l syyouag saKordwy
SSSOPI'T  SSOOVI‘L L61°80T°T  €0I'POO°L  Z81°8S6 LT8196 820°L68 ¥1.°688 91L°0LS LSS°SES saure|eg PIYISSE)D
691°P1S°€S  006°9LY'E PLO'LIY'E  PSO°IPS'E  OCL'68T'E  €9¥'€8T°C  STOHISI'E  099°V10°C  9S6°C00°E  8L0°886°C SOUE[ES PaIBIYIIR)
STANLIANAIXT
Y0P 1858 196°01£°S ¥99°166°L  16S°THT'8S  VLI'T86'L  9EEWPC'S  SLETIF'S  TTOILYL  LLI‘T669  +9ETIN SANUSAY [BI0,
00S°SE 005°SE LITHO01 005°6C 996°1CC ¥SE9¢ €Ce 908 oY1 9vC LOTYIY PSEC6C {207 YO
920°LTS YT LY SSLY6Y TEILSL 916819 011°8€9 98016 06Z°91% 81£°0¢€€ 000°S€1 a1BIg 1810
£86°69C 700°09¢ Y1TSLT £16'8S€ TLT06€ 168°56C LLS 10€ 667°9¢ 006'VTh 00T'90¢ [e19paq
S68°QVL'LS  SST'RYSLS  BLV'LII'LS  9YO'LIOLS  0TOISLOS  IS6°ELTLS  TOE168°9$  L8S'EHO'9$  TSLTTRSS OI8°116°SS d4071/8901M0G JWIT ShUSASY
SANNIATH
61-8102 61-8102 81-L10T 81-L10T L1-9102 L1-910C 91-6102 91-6102 SI-¥10T SI-¥10T
noday 199png s|emoy 128png s[enjoy 198png s[enjoy 108png sjen)oy 199png
wiauy 2 paydopy panpay paydopy paypny paydopy pajpny paydopy panpny paidopy

ONLLIODANT ANNA TVIINTD
LOTALSIA TOOHDS AATAINA NOL'TIINVH

7|



Comparative Financial Statements

The District’s general fund finances the legally authorized activities of the District for which
restricted funds are not provided. General fund revenues are derived from such sources as State school
fund apportionments, taxes, use of money and property, and aid from other governmental agencies.
Audited financial statements for the District for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, and prior fiscal years
are on file with the District and available for public inspection at the Office of the Superintendent of the
District, 620 Canal Street, Hamilton City, California 95951. See APPENDIX B hereto for the 2017-18
Audited Financial Statements of the District.

The table on the following page reflects the District’s audited general fund revenues, expenditures
and fund balances from fiscal year 2014-15 to fiscal year 2017-18:

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

27



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
GENERAL FUND
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balances
for Fiscal Years 2014-15 through 2017-18

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
Audit Audit Audit Audit
REVENUES
LCEFF Sources $5,822,752 $6,891,392 $6,751,020 $7,117,478
Federal Revenues 424,900 301,577 390,272 275,214
Other State Revenues 467,790 1,102,625 803,796 760,177
Other Local Revenues 415,217 307,593 225,162 110,634
TOTAL REVENUES 7,130,659 8,603,187 8,170,250 8,263,503
EXPENDITURES
Current Instruction 4,173,884 4,363,894 4,492,757 4,920,948
Instruction related services:

Instructional supervision and

administration 2,359 1,463 618 299

Instructional library, media, and

technology 218,659 165,220 199,509 204,769

School site administration 803,679 839,967 988,816 919,262
Pupil services:

Home-to-school transportation 79,313 72,543 100,414 102,676

Food services 3,747 3,181 2,493 5,613

All other pupil services 139,860 176,914 180,862 194,954
General administration:

All other general administration 668,552 624,792 604,761 696,353
Plant services 656,928 780,216 771,093 812,555
Facilities acquisition and maintenance 195 65,578 242243 430,354
Transfers to other agencies 386,343 429,961 597,451 641,497
Debt service:

Principal 5,682 6,048 6,438 --

Interest and other 1,172 805 415 -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,140,373 7,530,582 8,187,870 8,929,280

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

Over Expenditures 9,714) 1,072,605 (17,620) (665,777)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES):

Transfers In - = i .

Transfers Out (74.000) _ (454.000) - --

NET FINANCING SOURCES
(USES) (74,000) (454,000) - -
NET CHANGE IN FUND (83,714) 618,605 (17,620) (665,777)
BALANCES
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 2,723,343 2,639,629 3,258,234 3,240,614
Fund Balance at End of Year $2,639,629 $3,258,234 $3,240,614 $2,574,837
Source: The District.
28



Accounting Practices

The accounting policies of the District conform to generally accepted accounting principles in
accordance with policies and procedures of the California School Accounting Manual. This manual,
according to Section 41010 of the California Education Code, is to be followed by all California school
districts. Revenues are recognized in the period in which they become both measurable and available to
finance expenditures of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are recognized in the period in which the
liability is incurred.

State Budget Measures

The following information concerning the State’s budgets has been obtained from publicly
available information which the District believes to be reliable; however, the District does not guaranty
the accuracy or completeness of this information and has not independently verified such information.

2018-19 State Budget. Governor Edmund G. Brown signed the fiscal year 2018-19 budget for
the State (the “2018-19 State Budget™) on June 27, 2018, forecasting revenues and transfers for 2018-19
of $141.8 billion and expenditures of $138 billion. For 2017-18, the 2018-19 State Budget included
revenues and transfers of $135.5 billion, an increase of almost $10 billion over the 2017-18 State Budget,
and expenditures of $127 billion. The 2018-19 State Budget reflected continued economic expansion and
increasing revenues, including record all-time capital gains tax revenues. The Rainy Day Fund was fully
funded to $13.9 billion and an additional $200 million was deposited to the newly created Safety Net
Reserve Fund. In recognition that the then-current economic prosperity couldn’t continue indefinitely,
the 2018-19 State Budget made one-time spending commitments rather than on-going programmatic
expenditures; primarily for infrastructure, homelessness and mental health. A new funding formula for
higher education was adopted that provided increased funding for community college districts that serve
low-income students and where students demonstrate certain success.  Additionally, the California
Online College was created in order to facilitate access to higher education for working adults.

With respect to K-12 education, the 2018-19 State Budget included total funding of $97.2 billion
($56.1 billion State general fund and $41.1 billion from other funds) with per pupil funding from all
sources of $16,352. LCFF funding was increased by $3.7 billion to reach full funding. Additionally, the
2018-19 State Budget provided $1.1 billion in one-time discretionary funds to school districts, charter
schools and county offices of education. The 2018-19 State Budget also enacted a new Proposition 98
certification process to ensure annual Proposition 98 certifications.

Significant provisions of the 2018-19 State Budget relating to K-12 education were as follows:
e Career Technical Education—$164 million ongoing Proposition 98 funds to establish a K-12

specific program within the Strong Workforce Program and $150 million ongoing Proposition 98
funds to make permanent the Career Technical Education Inventive Grant Program.

o Low-Performing Student Block Grant—3$300 million Proposition 98 funds for local education
agencies with students performing at the lowest levels on academic assessments and that do not

generate supplemental LCFF funds or special education resources.

e Early Education Expansion Program—$167.2 million Proposition 98 funds for inclusive early
education and care for children up to the age of five in low-income and low access to care areas.

74



e Teacher Residency Grant Program—3$75 million Proposition 98 funds to support one-year
intensive, mentored, clinical teacher preparation programs with $50 million for preparing and
retaining special education teachers and $25 million for bilingual and STEM teachers.

e Local Solutions Grant Program—$50 million Proposition 98 funds to provide one-time grants to
local educational agencies for locally identified solutions for special education teachers.

e Classified School Employee Summer Assistance Program—$50 million Proposition 98 funds to
provide state matching funds to classified school employees who defer paychecks to the summer
recess period.

e Classified School Employee Professional Development Block Grant Program—$50 million
Proposition 98 funds for professional development for classified staff with a priority on the
implementation of school safety plans.

e English Language Proficiency Assessment for California—$27.1 million Proposition 98 funds to
convert the paper-based ELPAC to a computer-based assessment and to develop an ELPAC
assessment specific to students with exceptional needs.

e Charter School Facility Grant Program—$21.1 million one-time and $24.8 million ongoing
Proposition 98 funds to reflect increases in programmatic costs.

e Kids Code After-School Program—$15 million Proposition 98 funds to increase opportunities for
students in after-school programs to access computer coding education.

e Fire-Related Support—$4.4 million Proposition 98 funds in property tax relief to school districts
impacted by the fires in Northern and Southern California in 2017, $25 million Proposition 98
funds through the LCFF and a hold-harmless provision for ADA for three years.

e California-Grown Fresh School Meals Grants—$1 million one-time Proposition 98 funds to
encourage the purchase of California-grown food by schools and expand the number of freshly
prepared school meals offered that use California-grown ingredients.

e Fiscal Crisis and Management Assistance Team—$972,000 Proposition 98 funds to allow
FCMAT to coordinate with county offices of education to offer more proactive and preventive
services to fiscally distressed school districts, specifically those with a qualified interim budget
status.

Proposed 2019-20 State Budget. On January 10, 2019, Governor Gavin Newsom announced his
proposed 2019-20 budget for the State (the “2019-20 Proposed State Budget”) with increased revenues
and expenditures for 2018-19 over the 2018-19 State Budget. Under the 2019-20 Proposed State Budget,
the State will receive revenues and transfers totaling $149.3 billion with expenditures reaching $144
billion in 2018-19. 2019-20 revenues and transfers are predicted to decrease to $147.8 billion with
expenses remaining steady at $144 billion. The 2019-20 Proposed State Budget continues prior years’
efforts to pay down debts and increase savings. $1.8 billion would be transferred to the Rainy Day Fund
in 2019-20 with an additional $4.1 billion transferred in future years to bring the Rainy Day Fund balance
to $19.4 billion by 2022-23. The 2019-20 Proposed State Budget commits $4 billion to pay off loans
from special funds and transportation accounts, eliminate the deferrals of the June payroll and the fourth
quarter PERS payment. A $3 billion supplemental contribution to pay down the State’s share of

30

95



unfunded PERS liabilities and $1.1 billion towards its share of STRS liabilities are also included in the
2019-20 Proposed State Budget.

The 2019-20 Proposed State Budget allocates $80.7 billion in Proposition 98 funds for K-12
schools and community colleges as well as $686 million in settle-up payments from prior years. Total
per-pupil funding would reach $16,857 in 2018-19 and $17,160 in 2019-20. LCFF funding reaches $63
billion under the 2019-20 Proposed Budget.

In addition, the 2019-20 Proposed State Budget makes a $3 billion one-time general fund
payment to STRS to reduce school districts’ pension liabilities and decrease required future contributions.
Current assumptions provide that the school district contribution rate to STRS would decrease from
18.13% to 17.1% in 2019-20 and from 19.1% to 18.1% in 2020-21 as a result of such one-time payment.

Significant provisions of the 2019-20 Proposed State Budget pertaining to K-12 education are as
follows:

e Full Day Kindergarten— $750 million one-time general funds to improve access to full-day
kindergarten.

e Full-day Preschool— $125 million to increase access to subsidized full-day, full-year State
preschool for low income four-year olds.

o ADA—A decrease of $388 million Proposition 98 funds in 2018-19 for school districts
resulting from a decrease in projected ADA from the 2018-19 State Budget, and a decrease
of $187 million Proposition 98 general fund in 2019-20 for school districts resulting from a
further projected decline in ADA for 2019-20.

e Local Property Tax Adjustments—A decrease of $283 million Proposition 98 funds for
school districts and county offices of education in 2018-19 as a result of higher offsetting
property tax revenues, and a decrease of $1.25 billion Prop 98 funds for school districts and
county offices of education in 2019-20 as a result of increased offsetting property taxes.

e COLA—$187 million Proposition 98 funds to support a 3.46% COLA for categorical
programs, including Special Education, Child Nutrition, State Preschool, Youth in Foster
Care, the Mandates Block Grant, American Indian Education Centers, and the American
Indian Early Childhood Education Program.

e CalWORKs Stages 2 and 3 Child Care—A net increase of $119.4 million non-Proposition 98
general fund in 2019-20 to reflect increases in the number of CalWORKSs child care cases.

e Full-Year Implementation of Prior Year State Preschool Slots—$26.8 million Proposition 98
funds to reflect full-year costs of 2,959 full-day State Preschool slots implemented part-way
through the 2018-19 fiscal year.

e County Offices of Education—$9 million Proposition 98 funds to reflect a 3.46-percent
COLA adjustment and average daily attendance changes applicable to the LCFF.

e Instructional Quality Commission—$279,000 General Fund on a one-time basis for the

Instructional Quality Commission to continue its work on the development of model
curriculum and frameworks.

31
10



May Revision to Proposed 2018-19 State Budget. Governor Newsom announced his revisions to
the 2019-20 Proposed State Budget (the “May Revision”) on May 9, 2019 citing increased revenues of
$3.2 billion over the 2019-20 Proposed State Budget for total 2019-20 resources of $150 billion with
expenses totaling $147 billion. The May Revision commits an additional $1.2 billion to funding the
Rainy Day Fund which is predicted to reach its constitutional cap of 10% of general fund revenues in
fiscal year 2020-21 and to reach a balance, in fiscal year 2022-23, of $18.8 billion. Programmatically, the
May Revision is substantially similar to the 2019-20 Proposed Budget but provides revised revenue and
expenditure estimates related to the programmatic goals contained in the 2019-20 Proposed Budget.

The May Revision include total K-12 expenditures of approximately $101.8 billion including
Proposition 98 funding of $88.1 billion (an increase of $389 million over the 2019-20 Proposed Budget
all of which would be required to be deposited to the Public School System Stabilization Account under
Proposition 2). See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND
APPROPRIATIONS - Proposition 2” herein. The May Revision also increases the State’s supplemental
contribution to STRS by $150 million to decrease the employer contribution rate in 2019-20 to 16.7% and
includes certain legislative provisions designed to increase charter school transparency.

Significant provisions of the May Revision pertaining to K-12 education are as follows:

e Full Day Kindergarten—$600 million one-time general funds to improve access to full-day
kindergarten, a decrease of $150 million from the Proposed 2019-20 State Budget.

e LCFF Adjustments—$70 million Proposition 98 funds in 2018-19 and a decrease of $63.9
million Proposition 98 funds in 2019-20 for school districts, charter schools, and county
offices of education to reflect changes in ADA and COLA that affect the LCFF calculation.

e Special Education—$696.2 million ongoing Proposition 98 funds for special education and
$500,000 one-time non-Proposition 98 funds to increase local educational agencies’ ability to
draw down federal funds for medically related special education services and to improve the
transition of three-year-olds with disabilities from regional centers to local educational
agencies.

e Loan Assumptions—$89.8 million non-Proposition 98 funds for estimated 4,500 loan
assumptions (repayments) of up to $20,000 for newly credentialed teachers in high-need
schools in hard-to-hire subject matter areas (special education, science, technology,
engineering and math) and schools with the non-credentialed or waiver teachers.

e Teacher Training—$44.8 million one-time non-Proposition 98 funds to provide training and
resources for teachers and paraprofessionals to build capacity around inclusive practices,
social emotional learning, computer science, and restorative practices as well as subject
matter competency, including science, technology, engineering and math.

e Local Property Tax Adjustments—$146.6 million Proposition 98 funds in 2018-19 and
$142.1 million Proposition 98 funds in 2019-20 for school districts, special education local
plan areas, and county offices of education as a result of lower offsetting property tax
revenues.

e Broadband Infrastructure—$15 million one-time non-Proposition 98 funds for broadband
infrastructure.

32

)



e (lassified School Employees Summer Assistance Program—$36 million one-time
Proposition 98 funds to provide an additional year of funding, which provides a state match
for classified employee savings used to provide income during summer months.

e Categorical Program COLA and Growth—A decrease of $7.4 million Proposition 98 General
funds to selected categorical programs due to the decreased COLA and $7.6 million
Proposition 98 funds for selected categorical programs, based on updated estimates of
average daily attendance.

e Wildfire-Related Cost Adjustments—3$2 million one-time Proposition 98 funds to reflect
adjustments in the estimate for property tax backfill for basic aid school districts impacted by
2017 and 2018 wildfires. Additionally, an increase of $727,000 one-time Proposition 98
funds to reflect adjustments to the state’s student nutrition programs resulting from wildfire-
related losses.

Future Actions. The State has in past years experienced budgetary difficulties and has balanced
its budget by requiring local political subdivisions to fund certain costs theretofore borme by the State. No
prediction can be made as to whether the State will take further measures which would, in turn, adversely
affect the District. Further State actions taken to address its budgetary difficulties could have the effect of
reducing District support indirectly, and the District is unable to predict the nature, extent or effect of
such reductions.

The District cannot predict whether the State will encounter budgetary difficulties in the current
or future fiscal years. The District also cannot predict the impact future State Budgets will have on
District finances and operations or what actions the State Legislature and the Governor may take to
respond to changing State revenues and expenditures. Current and future State Budgets will be affected
by national and State economic conditions and other factors which the District cannot control. The Bonds
are secured by ad valorem taxes levied upon real property within the District.

Recent California Drought Conditions and Wildfires. Water shortfalls resulting from the driest
conditions in recorded State history caused Governor Brown, on January 17, 2014, to declare a State-wide
Drought State of Emergency for California and directed State officials to take all necessary actions to
prepare for water shortages. Following the Governor’s declaration, the California State Water Resources
Control Board (the “Water Board™) issued a statewide notice of water shortages and potential future
curtailment of water right diversions. Subsequent executive orders and Water Board regulations imposed
reductions on water usage in response to the drought conditions. On April 7, 2017, the Governor
announced the end of the State-wide drought in all but Fresno, Kings, Tulare and Tuolumne Counties in
California but extended conservation measures indefinitely in order to prepare California for fluctuations
in water conditions and potential future drought conditions. According to the U.S. Drought Monitor, as
of March, 2019, California is not currently experiencing any drought conditions.

Additionally, in 2017 and 2018, certain portions of the State were affected by large wildfires
which destroyed both natural lands and residential and commercial properties and resulted in large-scale
property value reductions in the impacted areas. The District was not impacted by the wildfires.

The District cannot make any representation regarding the effects that the drought or fire
conditions has had, or may have on the value of taxable property within the District, or to what extent
drought or fire could cause disruptions to agricultural production, destroy property, reduce land values
and adversely impact other economic activity within the boundaries of the District.

33
T8



CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS
AFFECTING DISTRICT REVENUES

Article XITIIA of the California Constitution

Article XIITA of the State Constitution (“Article XIIIA”) limits the amount of ad valorem taxes
on real property to 1% of “full cash value” as determined by the County assessor. Article XIIIA defines
“full cash value” to mean “the county assessor’s valuation of real property as shown on the 1975-76 bill
under ‘full cash value,” or thereafter, the appraised value of real property when purchased, newly
constructed or a change in ownership has occurred after the 1975 assessment,” subject to exemptions in
certain circumstances of property transfer or reconstruction. Determined in this manner, the full cash
value is also referred to as the “base year value.” The “full cash value” is subject to annual adjustment to
reflect increases, not to exceed 2% for any year, or decreases in the consumer price index or comparable
local data, or to reflect reductions in property value caused by damage, destruction or other factors.

Article XIITA has been amended to allow for temporary reductions of assessed value in instances
where the fair market value of real property falls below the base year value. Proposition 8—approved by
the voters in November of 1978—provides for the enrollment of the lesser of the base year value or the
market value of real property, taking into account reductions in value due to damage, destruction,
depreciation, obsolescence, removal of property, or other factors causing a similar decline. In these
instances, the market value is required to be reviewed annually until the market value exceeds the base
year value. Reductions in assessed value could result in a corresponding increase in the annual tax rate
levied by the County to pay debt service on outstanding general obligation bonds of the District, including
the Bonds. See “TAX BASE FOR REPAYMENT OF THE BONDS — Assessed Valuations” herein.

Article XIIIA requires a vote of two-thirds of the qualified electorate of a city, county, special
district or other public agency to impose special taxes, while totally precluding the imposition of any
additional ad valorem, sales or transaction tax on real property. Article XIIIA exempts from the 1% tax
limitation any taxes above that level required to pay debt service (a) on any indebtedness approved by the
voters prior to July 1, 1978, or (b) as the result of an amendment approved by State voters on June 3,
1986, on any bonded indebtedness approved by two-thirds or more of the votes cast by the voters for the
acquisition or improvement of real property on or after July 1, 1978, or (c) on bonded indebtedness
incurred by a school district or community college district for the construction, reconstruction,
rehabilitation or replacement of school facilities or the acquisition or lease of real property for school
facilities, approved by 55% or more of the votes cast on the proposition, but only if certain accountability
measures are included in the proposition. The tax for payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds
falls within the exception described in (c) of the immediately preceding sentence. In addition, Article
XIIIA requires the approval of two-thirds or more of all members of the State Legislature to change any
State taxes for the purpose of increasing tax revenues.

Legislation Implementing Article XIIIA

Legislation has been enacted and amended a number of times since 1978 to implement
Article XIIIA. Under current law, local agencies are no longer permitted to levy directly any property tax
(except to pay voter-approved indebtedness). The 1% property tax is automatically levied by the County
and distributed according to a formula among taxing agencies. The formula apportions the tax roughly in
proportion to the relative shares of taxes levied prior to 1979.

Increases of assessed valuation resulting from reappraisals of property due to new construction,
change in ownership or from the annual adjustment not to exceed 2% are allocated among the various

34

77



jurisdictions in the “taxing area” based upon their respective “situs.” Any such allocation made to a local
agency continues as part of its allocation in future years.

Beginning in fiscal year 1981-82, assessors in California no longer record property values on tax
rolls at the assessed value of 25% of market value which was expressed as $4 per $100 of assessed value.
All taxable property is now shown at 100% of assessed value on the tax rolls. Consequently, the tax rate
is expressed as $1 per $100 of taxable value. All taxable property value included in this Official
Statement is shown at 100% of taxable value (unless noted differently) and all tax rates reflect the $1 per
$100 of taxable value.

Both the United States Supreme Court and the California State Supreme Court have upheld the
general validity of Article XIIIA.

Unitary Property

Some amount of property tax revenue of the District is derived from utility property which is
considered part of a utility system with components located in many taxing jurisdictions (“unitary
property”). Under the State Constitution, such property is assessed by the State Board of Equalization
(“SBE”) as part of a “going concern” rather than as individual pieces of real or personal property. State-
assessed unitary and certain other property is allocated to the County by SBE, taxed at special county-
wide rates, and the tax revenues distributed to taxing jurisdictions (including the District) according to
statutory formulae generally based on the distribution of taxes in the prior year.

The California electric utility industry has been undergoing significant changes in its structure
and in the way in which components of the industry are regulated and owned. Sale of electric generation
assets to largely unregulated, nonutility companies may affect how those assets are assessed, and which
local agencies are to receive the property taxes. The District is unable to predict the impact of these
changes on its utility property tax revenues, or whether legislation may be proposed or adopted in
response to industry restructuring, or whether any future litigation may affect ownership of utility assets
or the State’s methods of assessing utility property and the allocation of assessed value to local taxing
agencies, including the District. Because the District is not a basic aid district, taxes lost through any
reduction in assessed valuation will be compensated by the State as equalization aid under the State’s
school financing formula. See “DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION - State Funding of
Education” herein.

Article XIIIB of the California Constitution

Article XIIIB of the State Constitution (“Article XIIIB”), as subsequently amended by
Propositions 98 and 111, respectively, limits the annual appropriations of the State and of any city,
county, school district, authority or other political subdivision of the State to the level of appropriations of
the particular governmental entity for the prior fiscal year, as adjusted for changes in the cost of living
and in population and for transfers in the financial responsibility for providing services and for certain
declared emergencies. As amended, Article XIIIB defines

(a) “change in the cost of living” with respect to school districts to mean the percentage
change in California per capita income from the preceding year, and

M) “change in population” with respect to a school district to mean the percentage change in
the average daily attendance of the school district from the preceding fiscal year.

35
100



For fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 1990, the appropriations limit of each entity of
government shall be the appropriations limit for the 1986-87 fiscal year adjusted for the changes made
from that fiscal year pursuant to the provisions of Article XIIIB, as amended.

The appropriations of an entity of local government subject to Article XIIIB limitations include
the proceeds of taxes levied by or for that entity and the proceeds of certain state subventions to that
entity. “Proceeds of taxes” include, but are not limited to, all tax revenues and the proceeds to the entity
from (a) regulatory licenses, user charges and user fees (but only to the extent that these proceeds exceed
the reasonable costs in providing the regulation, product or service), and (b) the investment of tax
revenues.

Appropriations subject to limitation do not include (a) refunds of taxes, (b) appropriations for
certain debt service, (c) appropriations required to comply with certain mandates of the courts or the
federal government, (d) appropriations of certain special districts, (e) appropriations for all qualified
capital outlay projects as defined by the Legislature, (f) appropriations derived from certain fuel and
vehicle taxes and (g) appropriations derived from certain taxes on tobacco products.

Article XIIIB includes a requirement that all revenues received by an entity of government other
than the State in a fiscal year and in the fiscal year immediately following it in excess of the amount
permitted to be appropriated during that fiscal year and the fiscal year immediately following it shall be
returned by a revision of tax rates or fee schedules within the next two subsequent fiscal years. However,
if a school district’s revenues exceed its spending limit, such school district may in any fiscal year
increase its appropriations limit to equal its spending by borrowing appropriations limit from the State.

Article XIIIB also includes a requirement that 50% of all revenues received by the State in a
fiscal year and in the fiscal year immediately following it in excess of the amount permitted to be
appropriated during that fiscal year and the fiscal year immediately following it shall be transferred and
allocated to the State School Fund pursuant to Section 8.5 of Article XVI of the State Constitution. See
“~Proposition 98” and “~Proposition 111 below.

Article XITIC and Article XIIID of the California Constitution

On November 5, 1996, the voters of the State of California approved Proposition 218, popularly
known as the “Right to Vote on Taxes Act.” Proposition 218 added to the California Constitution
Articles XIIIC and XIIID (respectively, “Article XIIIC” and “Article XIIID”), which contain a number of
provisions affecting the ability of local agencies, including school districts, to levy and collect both
existing and future taxes, assessments, fees and charges.

According to the “Title and Summary” of Proposition 218 prepared by the California Attorney
General, Proposition 218 limits “the authority of local governments to impose taxes and property-related
assessments, fees and charges.” Among other things, Article XIIIC establishes that every tax is either a
“general tax” (imposed for general governmental purposes) or a “special tax” (imposed for specific
purposes), prohibits special purpose government agencies such as school college districts from levying
general taxes, and prohibits any local agency from imposing, extending or increasing any special tax
beyond its maximum authorized rate without a two-thirds vote; and also provides that the initiative power
will not be limited in matters of reducing or repealing local taxes, assessments, fees and charges. Article
XIIIC further provides that no tax may be assessed on property other than ad valorem property taxes
imposed in accordance with Articles XIII and XIIIA of the California Constitution and special taxes
approved by a two-thirds vote under Article XIIIA, Section 4. Article XIIID deals with assessments and
property-related fees and charges, and explicitly provides that nothing in Article XIIC or XIID will be

36

o



construed to affect existing laws relating to the imposition of fees or charges as a condition of property
development.

The District does not impose any taxes, assessments, or property-related fees or charges which
are subject to the provisions of Proposition 218. It does, however, receive a portion of the basic one 1%
ad valorem property tax levied and collected by the County pursuant to Article XIITA of the California
Constitution. The provisions of Proposition 218 may have an indirect effect on the District, such as by
limiting or reducing the revenues otherwise available to other local governments whose boundaries
encompass property located within the District thereby causing such local governments to reduce service
levels and possibly adversely affecting the value of property within the District.

Proposition 26

On November 2, 2010, voters in the State approved Proposition 26. Proposition 26 amends
Article XIIIC of the State Constitution to expand the definition of “tax” to include “any levy, charge, or
exaction of any kind imposed by a local government” except the following: (1) a charge imposed for a
specific benefit conferred or privilege granted directly to the payor that is not provided to those not
charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of conferring the benefit
or granting the privilege; (2) a charge imposed for a specific government service or product provided
directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable
costs to the local government of providing the service or product; (3) a charge imposed for the reasonable
regulatory costs to a local government for issuing licenses and permits, performing investigations,
inspections, and audits, enforcing agricultural marketing orders, and the administrative enforcement and
adjudication thereof; (4) a charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the
purchase, rental, or lease of local government property; (5) a fine, penalty, or other monetary charge
imposed by the judicial branch of government or a local government, as a result of a violation of law; (6)
a charge imposed as a condition of property development; and (7) assessments and property-related fees
imposed in accordance with the provisions of Article XIIID. Proposition 26 provides that the local
government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other
exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the
governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or
reasonable relationship to the payor’s burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity

Proposition 98

On November 8, 1988, California voters approved Proposition 98, a combined initiative
constitutional amendment and statute called the “Classroom Instructional Improvement and
Accountability Act” (the “Accountability Act™). Certain provisions of the Accountability Act, have,
however, been modified by Proposition 111, discussed below, the provisions of which became effective
on July 1, 1990. The Accountability Act changes State funding of public education below the university
level and the operation of the State’s appropriations limit. The Accountability Act guarantees State
funding for K-12 school districts and community college districts (hereinafter referred to collectively as
“K-14 school districts™) at a level equal to the greater of (a) the same percentage of the State general fund
revenues as the percentage appropriated to such districts in 1986-87, or (b)the amount actually
appropriated to such districts from the State general fund in the previous fiscal year, adjusted for increases
in enrollment and changes in the cost of living. The Accountability Act permits the Legislature to
suspend this formula for a one-year period.

The Accountability Act also changes how tax revenues in excess of the State appropriations limit

are distributed. Any excess State tax revenues up to a specified amount would, instead of being returned
to taxpayers, be transferred to K-14 school districts. Any such transfer to K-14 school districts would be

37

(O 2



excluded from the appropriations limit for K-14 school districts and the K-14 school district
appropriations limit for the next year would automatically be increased by the amount of such transfer.
These additional moneys would enter the base funding calculation for K-14 school districts for
subsequent years, creating further pressure on other portions of the State budget, particularly if revenues
decline in a year following an Article XIIIB surplus. The maximum amount of excess tax revenues which
could be transferred to K-14 school districts is 4% of the minimum State spending for education
mandated by the Accountability Act.

Since the Accountability Act is unclear in some details, there can be no assurances that the
Legislature or a court might not interpret the Accountability Act to require a different percentage of State
general fund revenues to be allocated to K-14 school districts, or to apply the relevant percentage to the
State’s budgets in a different way than is proposed in the Governor’s Budget.

Proposition 111

On June 5, 1990, the voters of California approved the Traffic Congestion Relief and Spending
Limitation Act of 1990 (“Proposition 111”), which modified the State Constitution to alter the Article
XIIIB spending limit and the education funding provisions of Proposition 98. Proposition 111 took effect
on July 1, 1990.

The most significant provisions of Proposition 111 are summarized as follows:

a. Annual Adjustments to Spending Limit. The annual adjustments to the Article XIIIB
spending limit were liberalized to be more closely linked to the rate of economic growth. Instead of being
tied to the Consumer Price Index, the “change in the cost of living” is now measured by the change in
California per capita personal income. The definition of “change in population” specifies that a portion of
the State’s spending limit is to be adjusted to reflect changes in school attendance.

b. Treatment of Excess Tax Revenues. “Excess” tax revenues with respect to Article XIIIB
are now determined based on a two-year cycle, so that the State can avoid having to return to taxpayers
excess tax revenues in one year if its appropriations in the next fiscal year are under its limit. In addition,
the Proposition 98 provision regarding excess tax revenues was modified. After any two-year period, if
there are excess State tax revenues, 50% of the excess is to be transferred to K-14 school districts with the
balance returned to taxpayers; under prior law, 100% of excess State tax revenues went to K-14 school
districts, but only up to a maximum of 4% of the schools’ minimum funding level. Also, reversing prior
law, any excess State tax revenues transferred to K-14 school districts are not built into the school
districts’ base expenditures for calculating their entitlement for State aid in the next year, and the State’s
appropriations limit is not to be increased by this amount.

c. Exclusions from Spending Limit. Two exceptions were added to the calculation of
appropriations which are subject to the Article XIIIB spending limit. First, there are excluded all
appropriations for “qualified capital outlay projects” as defined by the Legislature. Second, there are
excluded any increases in gasoline taxes above 1990 levels (then nine cents per gallon), sales and use
taxes on such increment in gasoline taxes, and increases in receipts from vehicle weight fees above the
levels in effect on January 1, 1990. These latter provisions were necessary to make effective the
transportation funding package approved by the Legislature and the Governor, which expected to raise
over $15 billion in additional taxes from 1990 through 2000 to fund transportation programs.

d. Recalculation of Appropriations Limit. The Article XIIIB appropriations limit for each
unit of government, including the State, is to be recalculated beginning in fiscal year 1990-91. It is based

[03



on the actual limit for fiscal year 1986-87, adjusted forward to 1990-91 as if Proposition 111 had been in
effect.

e. School Funding Guarantee. There is a complex adjustment in the formula enacted in
Proposition 98 which guarantees K-14 school districts a certain amount of State general fund revenues.
Under prior law, K-14 school districts were guaranteed the greater of (1) 40.9% of State general fund
revenues (the “first test”) or (2) the amount appropriated in the prior year adjusted for changes in the cost
of living (measured as in Article XIIIB by reference to per capita personal income) and enrollment (the
“second test”). Under Proposition 111, schools will receive the greater of (1) the first test, (2) the second
test, or (3) a third test, which will replace the second test in any year when growth in per capita State
general fund revenues from the prior year is less than the annual growth in California per capita personal
income. Under the third test, schools will receive the amount appropriated in the prior year adjusted for
change in enrollment and per capita State general fund revenues, plus an additional small adjustment
factor. If the third test is used in any year, the difference between the third test and the second test will
become a “credit” to schools which will be paid in future years when State general fund revenue growth
exceeds personal income growth.

Proposition 39

On November 7, 2000, California voters approved an amendment (commonly known as
Proposition 39) to the California Constitution. This amendment (1) allows school facilities bond
measures to be approved by 55% (rather than two-thirds) of the voters in local elections and permits
property taxes to exceed the current 1% limit in order to repay the bonds and (2) changes existing
statutory law regarding charter school facilities. As adopted, the constitutional amendment may be
changed only with another Statewide vote of the people. The statutory provisions could be changed by a
majority vote of both houses of the Legislature and approval by the Governor, but only to further the
purposes of the proposition. The local school jurisdictions affected by this proposition are K-12 school
districts, including the District, community college districts, and county offices of education. As noted
above, the California Constitution previously limited property taxes to 1% of the value of property, and
property taxes could only exceed this limit to pay for (1) any local government debts approved by the
voters prior to July 1, 1978 or (2) bonds to buy or improve real property that receive two-thirds voter
approval after July 1, 1978.

The 55% vote requirement applies only if the local bond measure presented to the voters
includes: (1)a requirement that the bond funds can be used only for construction, rehabilitation,
equipping of school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property for school facilities; (2) a
specific list of school projects to be funded and certification that the school board has evaluated safety,
class size reduction, and information technology needs in developing the list; and (3) a requirement that
the school board conduct annual, independent financial and performance audits until all bond funds have
been spent to ensure that the bond funds have been used only for the projects listed in the measure.
Legislation approved in June 2000 placed certain limitations on local school bonds to be approved by
55% of the voters. These provisions require that the tax rate per $100,000 of taxable property value
projected to be levied as the result of any single election be no more than $60 (for a unified school
district), $30 (for a high school or elementary school district), or $25 (for a community college district),
when assessed valuation is projected to increase in accordance with Article XIIIA of the Constitution.
These requirements are not part of Proposition 39 and can be changed with a majority vote of both houses
of the Legislature and approval by the Governor.

39

(o



Jarvis v. Connell

On May 29, 2002, the California Court of Appeal for the Second District decided the case of
Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association, et al. v. Kathleen Connell (as Controller of the State of California
(the “Controller”)). The Court of Appeal held that either a final budget bill, an emergency appropriation,
a self-executing authorization pursuant to state statutes (such as continuing appropriations) or the
California Constitution or a federal mandate is necessary for the Controller to disburse funds. The
foregoing requirement could apply to amounts budgeted by the District as being received from the State.
To the extent the holding in such case would apply to State payments reflected in the District’s budget,
the requirement that there be either a final budget bill or an emergency appropriation may result in the
delay of such payments to the District if such required legislative action is delayed, unless the payments
are self-executing authorizations or are subject to a federal mandate. On May 1, 2003, the California
Supreme Court upheld the holding of the Court of Appeal, stating that the Controller is not authorized
under State law to disburse funds prior to the enactment of a budget or other proper appropriation, but
under federal law, the Controller is required, notwithstanding a budget impasse and the limitations
imposed by State law, to timely pay those State employees who are subject to the minimum wage and
overtime compensation provisions of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act.

Proposition 1A and Proposition 22

On November 2, 2004, California voters approved Proposition 1A, which amends the State
constitution to significantly reduce the State’s authority over major local government revenue sources.
Under Proposition 1A, the State cannot (i) reduce local sales tax rates or alter the method of allocating the
revenue generated by such taxes, (ii) shift property taxes from local governments to schools or
community colleges, (iii) change how property tax revenues are shared among local governments without
two-third approval of both houses of the State Legislature or (iv) decrease Vehicle License Fee revenues
without providing local governments with equal replacement funding. Proposition 1A does allow the
State to approve voluntary exchanges of local sales tax and property tax revenues among local
governments within a county. Proposition 1A also amends the State Constitution to require the State to
suspend certain State laws creating mandates in any year that the State does not fully reimburse local
governments for their costs to comply with the mandates. This provision does not apply to mandates
relating to schools or community colleges or to those mandates relating to employee rights.

Proposition 22, The Local Taxpayer, Public Safety, and Transportation Protection Act, approved
by the voters of the State on November 2, 2010, prohibits the State from enacting new laws that require
redevelopment agencies to shift funds to schools or other agencies and eliminates the State’s authority to
shift property taxes temporarily during a severe financial hardship of the State. In addition, Proposition
22 restricts the State’s authority to use State fuel tax revenues to pay debt service on state transportation
bonds, to borrow or change the distribution of state fuel tax revenues, and to use vehicle license fee
revenues to reimburse local governments for state mandated costs. Proposition 22 impacts resources in
the State’s general fund and transportation funds, the State’s main funding source for schools and
community colleges, as well as universities, prisons and health and social services programs. According
to an analysis of Proposition 22 submitted by the Legislative Analyst’s Office (the “LAO”) on July 15,
2010, the expected reduction in resources available for the State to spend on these other programs as a
consequence of the passage of Proposition 22 was expected to be approximately $1 billion in fiscal year
2010-11, with an estimated immediate fiscal effect equal to approximately 1% of the State’s total general
fund spending. The longer-term effect of Proposition 22, according to the LAO analysis, will be an
increase in the State’s general fund costs by approximately $1 billion annually for several decades.

On December 30, 2011, the California Supreme Court issued its decision in the case of California
Redevelopment Association v. Matosantos, finding ABx1 26, a trailer bill to the 2011-12 State budget, to

40

|05



be constitutional. As a result, all redevelopment agencies in California were dissolved as of February 1,
2012, and all net tax increment revenues, after payment of redevelopment bonds debt service and
administrative costs, will be distributed to cities, counties, special districts and school districts. The Court
also found that ABx1 27, a companion bill to ABx1 26, violated the California Constitution, as amended
by Proposition 22. ABx1 27 would have permitted redevelopment agencies to continue operations
provided their establishing cities or counties agreed to make specified payments to school districts and
county offices of education, totaling $1.7 billion statewide. ABx1 26 was modified by Assembly Bill No.
1484 (Chapter 26, Statutes of 2011-12), which, together with ABx1 26, is referred to herein as the
“Dissolution Act.” The Dissolution Act provides that all rights, powers, duties and obligations of a
redevelopment agency that have not been repealed, restricted or revised pursuant to ABx1 26 will be
vested in a successor agency, generally the county or city that authorized the creation of the
redevelopment agency (each, a “Successor Agency”). All property tax revenues that would have been
allocated to such redevelopment agency will be allocated to the Successor Agency, to be used for the
payment of pass-through payments to local taxing entities and to any other “enforceable obligations” (as
defined in the Dissolution Act), as well to pay certain administrative costs. The Dissolution Act defines
“enforceable obligations” to include bonds, loans, legally requirement payments, judgments or
settlements, legal binding and enforceable obligations, and certain other obligations. Tax revenues in
excess of such amounts, if any, will be distributed to local taxing entities in the same proportions as other
tax revenues.

The District can make no representations as to the extent to which its property tax apportionments
may be offset by the future receipt of pass through tax increment revenues, or any other surplus property
tax revenues pursuant to the Dissolution Act.

Proposition 30

On November 6, 2012, voters approved the Temporary Taxes to Fund Education, Guaranteed
Local Public Safety Funding, Initiative Constitutional Amendment (also known as “Proposition 307),
which temporarily increased the State Sales and Use Tax and personal income tax rates on higher
incomes. Proposition 30 temporarily imposed an additional tax on all retailers, at the rate of 0.25% of
gross receipts from the sale of all tangible personal property sold in the State from January 1, 2013 to
December 31, 2017. Proposition 30 also imposed an additional excise tax on the storage, use, or other
consumption in the State of tangible personal property purchased from a retailer on and after January 1,
2013 and before January 1, 2017, for storage, use, or other consumption in the State. This excise tax was
levied at a rate of 0.25% of the sales price of the property so purchased. For personal income taxes
imposed beginning in the taxable year commencing January 1, 2012 and ending January 1, 2019,
Proposition 30 increased the marginal personal income tax rate by: (i) 1% for taxable income over
$250,000 but less than $300,000 for single filers (over $500,000 but less than $600,001 for joint filers and
over $340,000 but less than $408,001 for head-of-household filers), (ii) 2% for taxable income over
$300,000 but less than $500,001 for single filers (over $600,000 but less than $1,000,001 for joint filers
and over $408,000 but less than $680,001 for head-of-household filers), and (iii) 3% for taxable income
over $500,000 for single filers (over $1,000,000 for joint filers and over $680,000 for head-of-household
filers).

The revenues generated from the temporary tax increases were included in the calculation of the
Proposition 98 minimum funding guarantee for school districts and community college districts. See
“CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING DISTRICT REVENUES -
Proposition 98” and “—Proposition 111” herein. From an accounting perspective, the revenues generated
from the temporary tax increases were deposited into the State account created pursuant to Proposition 30
called the Education Protection Account (the “EPA”). Pursuant to Proposition 30, funds in the EPA were
and will be allocated quarterly, with 89% of such funds provided to schools districts and 11% provided to

41

|0



community college districts. The funds are distributed to school districts and community college districts
in the same manner as existing unrestricted per-student funding, except that no school district will receive
less than $200 per unit of ADA and no community college district will receive less than $100 per full
time equivalent student. The governing board of each school district and community college district is
granted sole authority to determine how the moneys received from the EPA are spent, provided that, the
appropriate governing board is required to make these spending determinations in open session at a public
meeting and such local governing boards are prohibited from using any funds from the EPA for salaries
or benefits of administrators or any other administrative costs.

Proposition 55

At the November 8, 2016 general election, the voters in the State approved the Tax Extension of
Education and Healthcare Initiative (“Proposition 55”) which extends the increase in personal income tax
on high-income taxpayers imposed under Proposition 30 until 2030. Proposition 55 did not extend the
sales tax increases imposed under Proposition 30 which expired in 2016.

Proposition 51

The Kindergarten through Community College Public Education Facilities Bond Act of 2016
(also known as Proposition 51) was a voter initiative that was approved by voters in the State on
November 8, 2016. Proposition 51 authorizes the sale and issuance of $9 billion in general obligation
bonds by the State for the new construction and modernization of K-14 facilities.

K-12 School Facilities. Proposition 51 includes $3 billion for the new construction of K-12
facilities and an additional $3 billion for the modernization of existing K-12 facilities. K-12 school
districts will be required to pay for 50% of the new construction costs and 40% of the modernization costs
with local revenues. If a school districts lack sufficient local funding, it may apply for additional state
grant funding, up to 100% of the project costs. In addition, a total of $1 billion will be available for the
modernization and new construction of charter school ($500 million) and technical education ($500
million) facilities. Generally, 50% of modernization and new construction project costs for charter school
and technical education facilities must come from local revenues. However, schools that cannot cover
their local share for these two types of projects may apply for state loans. State loans must be repaid over
a maximum of 30 years for charter school facilities and 15 years for career technical education facilities.
For career technical education facilities, state grants are capped at $3 million for a new facility and $1.5
for a modernized facility. Charter schools must be deemed financially sound before project approval.

Community College Facilities. Proposition 51 includes $2 billion for community college district
facility projects, including buying land, constructing new buildings, modernizing existing buildings, and
purchasing equipment. In order to receive funding, community college districts must submit project
proposals to the Chancellor of the community college system, who then decides which projects to submit
to the State legislature and Governor based on a scoring system that factors in the amount of local funds
contributed to the project. The Governor and State legislature will select among eligible projects as part
of the annual state budget process.

The District makes no representation that it will either pursue or qualify for Proposition 51 State
facilities funding.

Proposition 2

Proposition 2, a legislatively referred Constitutional amendment approved by the voters in
November, 2014 (“Proposition 2”), changed the way in which the State pays off existing debts, funds its

42
| 0



reserves and draws from those reserves in times of economic slowdowns, as well as requires that reserves
be set aside for schools and community colleges under certain circumstances. In addition, as a result of
the passage of Proposition 2, new rules for school district reserves were implemented.

Under Proposition 2, the State is required annually to deposit 1.5% of general fund revenues into
the Budget Stabilization Account (“BSA”). From fiscal year 2015-16 through 2029-30, under Proposition
2, one half of the amount required to be deposited to the BSA must be applied to the payment of debts for
pension and retiree benefits and specified debts to local governments and certain other State accounts. In
years when capital gains tax revenues exceed 8% of general fund revenues, a portion of such excess
capital gains tax revenue is also required to be applied to the pay down of State debt. Deposits to the
BSA are required until the amount on hand in the BSA reaches 10% of general fund revenues. Once the
maximum has been reached, the required deposit amount may be applied to other expenditures.

In the event the Governor were to declare a budget emergency, Proposition 2 would permit a
smaller deposit to the BSA. A budget emergency may be called if there is a natural disaster such as an
earthquake or flood or general fund revenues reach a certain minimum level. Withdrawals from the BSA,
under Proposition 2, are permitted upon a majority vote of the legislature only when the Governor has
declared a budget emergency. If a budget emergency is called for two straight years in a row, in the
second budget emergency year, the entire amount on hand might be withdrawn.

Public School System Stabilization Account. In the event capital gains tax revenues collected by
the State in any given fiscal year exceed 8% of general fund revenues, a portion of such excess is required
to be deposited into the newly established under Proposition 2 Public School System Stabilization
Account which serves as a reserve account for school funding in years when the State budget is smaller.

SB 858 and SB 751. State regulations require school districts to budget a reserve for economic
uncertainties. The recommended minimum amounts vary from 1% to 5% of total expenditures and other
financing uses, depending on the district's ADA. SB 858, adopted in June 2014, imposed limitations
relating to ending fund balances for school districts. Beginning in 2015-16, a school district that
proposes to adopt or revise a budget that includes an ending fund balance that is two to three times higher
than the state’s minimum recommended reserve for economic uncertainties must substantiate the need for
the higher balance. SB 751, which was adopted in October 2017 and amended Section 42127.01 of the
Education Code, placed certain restrictions on the amount of a school district’s ending fund balances if a
certain amount of funds is available in the State’s PSSSA. In a fiscal year in which the amount of moneys
in the PSSSA is equal to or exceeds 3% of the combined total of general fund revenues appropriated for
school districts for that fiscal year, (see “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS
AFFECTING DISTRICT REVENUES—Proposition 98”), a school district’s adopted or revised budget
may not contain an assigned or unassigned ending fund balance higher than 10% of expenditures and
other financing uses. A county superintendent could waive the prohibition, pursuant to specified
conditions, for up to two consecutive years within a three-year period. SB 751 does not apply to school
districts with an ADA of less than 2,501 students and basic aid school districts.

If the cap is triggered, unless exempted, a school district would be required to increase
expenditures in order to bring its ending fund balance down to the maximum level. The PSSA appears to
be intended to provide a substitute for local reserves in the event of a future economic downturn.

The District is required to maintain a reserve for economic uncertainties at least equal to 4% of
general fund expenditures and other financing uses. On June 30, 2018, the District had unassigned
available reserves of $1,532,032, or approximately 17.6% of outgo. The District is unable to predict what
the effect on its budget will be following implementation of these new rules. It is anticipated that if the
cap is triggered, it will materially change the District’s current policies on reserves.

43

| 08



